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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act’). These
forward-looking statements are based largely on current expectations and projections about future events and trends affecting the
business, are not guarantees of future performance, and involve a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to
predict. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words “anticipates,” “believes,” “may,” “will,” “estimates,” “continues,” “anticipates,”
‘intends,” “forecasts,” “expects,” “plans,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “is likely,”™ projected,” “might,” “potential,” “preliminary,”
“provisionally,” and similar expressions, as they relate to the business or to its management, are intended to identify forward looking
statements, but they are not exclusive means of identifying them. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references herein to “IS&S,”
the “Registrant,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” are to Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
ThrustSense® and COCKPIT/IP®, among others, are trademarks of the Company. All other trademarks appearing herein are held by
their respective owners. Subsequent use of the Company’s trademarks in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may occur without the
applicable superscript symbol (® or TM) in order to facilitate the readability of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not a waiver of
rights that may be associated with the relevant trademarks.

e

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are only predictions, and actual events or results may differ
materially. In evaluating such statements, a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors could cause actual results, performance,
financial condition, cash flows, prospects and opportunities to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, the forward-
looking statements. These risks, uncertainties and other factors include those set forth in Item 1A (Risk Factors) of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and the following factors:

e market acceptance of the Company’s ThrustSense® Autothrottle, Vmc , Mitigation, flight panel display systems, NextGen Flight

Deck and COCKPIT/IP® or other planned products or product enhancements;

continued market acceptance of the Company'’s air data systems and products;

the competitive environment and new product offerings from competitors;

difficulties in developing, producing or improving the Company’s planned products or product enhancements;

the deferral or termination of programs or contracts for convenience by customers;

the ability to service the international market;

the availability of government funding;

the impact of general economic trends on the Company’s business;

disruptions in the Company’s supply chain, customer base and workforce;

the ability to gain, drive and sustain regulatory approval, including domestic and international certifications, of products in a timely
manner;

delays in receiving components from third-party suppliers;

the bankruptcy or insolvency of one or more key customers;

protection of intellectual property rights, including via securing patents;

the ability to respond to technological change;

failure to recruit and retain key personnel;

risks related to succession planning;

a cybersecurity incident;

risks related to our self-insurance program;

potential future acquisitions and integration of prior and potential future acquisitions;

the costs of compliance with present and future laws and regulations;

changes in law, including changes to corporate tax laws in the United States and the availability of certain tax credits; and
other factors disclosed from time to time in the Company’s filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Except as expressly required by the federal securities laws, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether because of new information, future events, or otherwise after the date of this
report. Results of operations in any past period should not be considered indicative of the results to be expected for future periods.
Fluctuations in operating results may result in fluctuations in the price of the Company’s common stock.
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The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are intended to be subject to the safe harbor protection provided by
Sections 27A of the Securities Act, and 21E of the Exchange Act.

Investors should also be aware that while the Company, from time to time, communicates with securities analysts, it is against its policy
to disclose any material non-public information or other confidential commercial information. Accordingly, shareholders should not
assume that the Company agrees with any statement or report issued by any analyst irrespective of the content of the statement or
report. Furthermore, the Company has a policy against issuing or confirming financial projections, forecasts or opinions issued by
others. Thus, to the extent that reports issued by securities analysts contain any projections, forecasts or opinions, neither such reports
nor the projections, forecasts or opinion contained therein are the responsibility of the Company.
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PART |
Item 1. Business.

INTRODUCTION

As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless expressly stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, the terms “ISSC” or
“the Company”, “we”, “us” and “our”, refers to Innovative Solutions & Support and its subsidiaries.

Incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1988, ISSC is a vertically integrated provider of flight solutions and equipment to commercial air
transport, general aviation markets, the United States Department of Defense (“DoD”) and allied foreign militaries.

We operate in one business segment that designs, develops, manufactures, sells and services avionics products and systems for
retrofit applications and Original Equipment Manufacturers (“*OEMs”).

In the fiscal year 2024 ended September 30, 2024, we reported net sales of $47.2 million, an increase of 35.6% on a year-over-year
basis from $34.8 million in the fiscal year ended 2023, and net income of $7.0 increased 16.1% from $6.0 million in fiscal 2023.

At September 30, 2024, our backlog was $89.2 million compared with $13.5 million at September 30, 2023. Backlog at September 30,
2024 included $74.3 million of acquired backlog as a result of the September 27, 2024 acquisition. Backlog is converted into sales in
future periods as work is performed or deliveries are made. We expect to recognize approximately 65% of our backlog over the next 12
months and approximately 98% over the next 24 months as revenue, with the remainder recognized thereafter.

During fiscal 2024, we made important progress on our commercial growth strategy highlighted by several key awards and contract
wins across our commercial, military and business aviation markets. In October 2024, we announced our ThrustSense® Autothrottle
system was selected by the US Army to be installed on their C-12 (B200) aircraft equipped with ProLine21 avionics suites. Deliveries of
the IS&S ThrustSense Autothrottle system for this application began in September 2024, with ongoing installations anticipated. In
August 2024, we received a multi-million dollar production contract from a major aerospace company to supply our 19” Multifunction
Display (MFD) with Integrated Mission Computer. This order marks our latest OEM contract and builds on existing programs with
Pilatus Aircraft (“Pilatus”) for the PC-24, Textron Aviation (“Textron”) for the King Air 260/360 and The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) for
the KC-46A, KC-767 and the T-7A.

In June 2023, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase and License Agreement (the “June 2023 Honeywell Agreement”) with
Honeywell International, Inc. (“Honeywell”) pursuant to which Honeywell sold, assigned or licensed certain assets related to its inertial,
communication and navigation product lines, including a sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-related documents, an
assignment of certain contracts and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property
related to its inertial, communication and navigation product lines to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute
certain products to the Company for cash consideration of $35.9 million.

In July 2024, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement and acquired additional key assets for certain communication
and navigation product lines from Honeywell (the “July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition”). This transaction complements the previous
Honeywell license and asset acquisition completed in June 2023. Total consideration was $4.2 million in cash.

On September 27, 2024, the Company entered into a second Asset Purchase and License Agreement (the “September 2024 Honeywell
Agreement”) with Honeywell, pursuant to which Honeywell sold, assigned or licensed certain assets related to its various generations of
military display generators and flight control computers, including a sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-related
documents; an assignment of certain contracts; and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell
intellectual property related to its various generations of military display generators and flight control computers to repair, overhaul,
manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to the Company for consideration of $14.2 million in cash. The exclusive
licensing of these product lines from Honeywell is a unique opportunity for the Company that enhances its current offerings in the air
transport, military and business aviation markets. In addition, there are potential cost synergies from better utilization of the Company’s
skilled engineering team and its existing operational capacity. The Company believes the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement will
help to accelerate the Company’s growth and enhance its global reputation for delivering best price-for-performance product and
service solutions.
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We specialize in providing systems integrations capabilities that include the design, manufacture, sale and servicing of high-
performance avionics products and systems used in both commercial and military aircraft platforms.

As a systems integrator, we leverage our proven expertise in developing end-to-end systems that combine mechanical, electrical,
software, and avionics components into an integrated solution. Our activities as an integrator includes system design and analysis;
integration and testing; regulatory compliance and documentation; and lifecycle support.

Our systems integration activities leverage our owned intellectual property and our products and service capabilities, together with third-
party technologies that, in combination, provide our customers with advanced solutions on an on-demand basis.

We believe that our ability to source and integrate advanced componentry provides our customers with a unique value proposition, one
that helps to reduce cost and optimize fleet utilization.

Currently, we support multiple OEM platforms, including those with the Boeing Company, Eclipse Aerospace, Lockheed Martin, and
Pilatus Aircraft.

Products

The Company manufactures, markets and sells a wide variety of high-value, advanced avionics solutions for commercial air transport,
business aviation and military customers. It sources its products through internal research and development efforts, in addition to
opportunistic licensing and acquisition of mature product lines that complement the Company’s existing business. The Company
believes that the acquisition of additional product lines presents the opportunity for the Company to leverage potential cost synergies
from better utilization of the Company’s skill engineering team and its existing operational capacity while expanding the Company’s
customer base and providing opportunities for the Company to market its internally developed products to acquired Customers. As the
Company'’s product offerings focus on individual avionics components and systems, it is able to market its products to both customers
building new aircraft and customers engaged in the retrofit market. Our product portfolio consists of the following five categories:

Integrated Flight Deck Systems COCKPIT/IP® that include primary flight/navigation displays, crew alerting and engine displays,
integrated standby instruments and mission displays.

Navigation Systems that includes flight management systems, mission computers, navigation radios and transponders.
Communication Systems that includes communication radios, audio panels and radio management units.

Sensors and Control Systems that includes air data computers, attitude and heading reference systems, magnetometers, inertial
reference units, GPS receivers, utility management systems and flight control computers.

Advanced Flight Actuators that includes an array of linear and rotary smart-actuators for movement of aircraft levers and surfaces.
Manufacturing Engineering & Design

We believe that our customers value our history of technological innovation, new product development and technical expertise across
multiple platforms. As of September 30, 2024, we held more than 120 U.S. and international patents relating to our products and
systems. We invest heavily in engineering and development, with approximately 27% of our full-time employees serving in engineering-
related roles as of September 30, 2024.

We currently operate a 45,000 square foot design, manufacturing, and office facility in Exton, Pennsylvania. ISSC is ISO 9001 and
AS9100D certified. These standards represent an international consensus on effective management practices with the goal of ensuring
that a company can deliver its products and related services consistently in a manner that meets or exceeds customer quality
requirements. The Company'’s certification to these standards allows ISSC to represent to customers that it maintains high-quality
industry standards in the education of its employees and in the design and manufacture of its products. In addition, the Company’s
products undergo extensive and documented quality control testing prior to being delivered to customers.
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We are currently expanding our Exton facility to add 40,000 square feet of capacity. The additional capacity will be used to support our
commercial growth strategy, including opportunities to capitalize on our recent transactions with Honeywell. The capacity expansion is
expected to cost approximately $6 million.

Sales & Marketing

Our multi-channel sales strategy targets passenger and cargo carrying aircraft operators, general aviation owner/operators,
maintenance, repair and overhaul (“MRO”) dealer networks, distributors, avionics integrators, aircraft modification centers, the
Department of Defense (“the DoD”), DoD contractors and OEMs.

Periodically, the Company evaluates our sales and marketing efforts with respect to these focus areas and, where appropriate, makes
use of third-party sales representatives who receive compensation through commissions based on performance.

Raw Materials

We require the use of various raw materials in our manufacturing processes. We purchase a variety of manufactured component parts
from various suppliers. We also purchase replacement parts, which are utilized in our various repair and overhaul operations. At times,
we concentrate our orders among a few suppliers in order to strengthen our supplier relationships. Most of our raw materials and
component parts are generally available from multiple suppliers at competitive prices.

Disruptions in the global supply chain has resulted in delays in the availability of certain raw materials and increased raw material
costs, among other costs such as labor, though the disruptions somewhat improved in fiscal 2024, resulting in a higher stabilization of
costs, as fiscal 2024 progressed. Our business has been adversely affected, though not materially, and could continue to be adversely
affected in fiscal 2025 by disruptions in our ability to timely obtain raw materials and components from our suppliers in the quantities we
require or on favorable terms. Although we believe in most cases that we could identify alternative suppliers, or alternative raw
materials or component parts, the lengthy and expensive aviation authority and OEM certification processes associated with aerospace
products could prevent efficient replacement of a supplier, raw material or component part.

Suppliers

The Company’s manufacturing activities consist primarily of assembling and testing components and subassemblies and integrating
them into finished systems. Typically, the Company purchases components for products, including any necessary raw materials, from
third-party suppliers, several of which are sole source, and assembles them in a clean room environment. Many of the components
purchased are standard products, although certain parts are made to the Company'’s specifications. Although there are a limited
number of suppliers of particular components, management believes other suppliers could provide similar components on comparable
terms. During fiscal year 2024, the Company had four suppliers, Honeywell, FilConn, APCT Inc and Brandywine Precision Inc. that
accounted for most of Company’s total inventory related purchases.

When appropriate, the Company enters into long-term supply agreements and uses its relationships with long-term suppliers to improve
product quality and availability and reduce delivery times and product costs. In addition, the Company identifies alternative suppliers for
important component parts. Generally, the introduction of component parts from new suppliers into existing products requires FAA
certification of the entire finished product if the newly sourced component varies significantly from the original drawings and
specifications. The Company has not experienced significant delays in delivery of products which could happen as a result of the
inability to obtain either component parts or FAA approval of products incorporating new component parts.

OUR CUSTOMERS AND PRODUCT DISTRIBUTION

The Company’s customers include the U.S. government (including the DoD, the Department of Interior and the Department of
Homeland Security), Air Transport Services Group Inc. (“ATSG”), Amazon.com, Inc., American Airlines, Inc. (“AAL”), Boeing, Deutsche
Post DHL Group, FedEx Corporation (“FedEx”), Icelandair, L3Harris Technologies, Inc. (“L3 Harris Technologies”), Lockheed Martin
Corporation (“Lockheed Martin”), Pilatus, Sierra Nevada Corporation, Textron, and the Department of National Defense (Canada),
among others.

The Company’s revenue is concentrated with a limited number of customers. In fiscal year 2024, our three largest customers, Pilatus,
Textron and Honeywell accounted for 23%, 7% and 7% of total revenue, respectively. In fiscal year 2023, the three largest customers,
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Pilatus, ATSG and Textron accounted for 23%, 12% and 10% of total revenue, respectively. In fiscal year 2022, the three largest
customers, Pilatus, ATSG and Textron accounted for 22%, 22% and 11% of total revenue, respectively.

Retrofit Market

The aviation retrofit market involves the modification, refurbishment, or upgrade of existing aircraft to improve performance, safety, fuel
efficiency, passenger experience, or regulatory compliance. This market has been growing, especially as airlines and operators seek to
extend the lifetime of existing fleets, reduce operational costs, and meet new environmental standards. Historically, most of the
Company’s sales have come from the retrofit market, which the Company has pursued because of the growing need to support the
world’s aging fleet of aircraft. The design and airframes of many types of older aircraft generally exceed the technology and technical
capabilities of the original cockpit instruments and avionics. The Company has developed products that enable owners and operators to
upgrade their aircraft by retrofitting them with the Company’s products at a competitive cost with equipment that provides instruments
with capabilities and technology equivalent to newer aircraft.

We expect our main customers in the retrofit market will continue to be the DoD and defense contractors, aircraft operators and aircraft
modification centers.

U.S. Department of Defense and Defense Contractors. The Company markets its products directly to the DoD and to domestic and
international defense contractors for end use in military aircraft retrofit programs. DoD programs generally take one of two forms: a
subcontract with a prime government contractor, such as Boeing, Lockheed Martin, or L3Harris Technologies, or a direct contract with
the appropriate government entity, such as the U.S. Air Force. The government’s desire for cost-effective retrofit of its aircraft has led it
to purchase commercial off-the-shelf equipment rather than to develop specially designed products, which are usually more costly and
take longer to implement. These retrofit contracts tend to be on arms-length commercial terms, although some termination and other
provisions of typical government contracts may be incorporated as described below under “Government Regulation.” Each government
agency or general contractor usually retains the right to modify or terminate a contract at any time at its convenience. Upon such
alteration or termination, the Company is typically entitled to compensation for items already delivered and reimbursement for allowable
costs incurred.

Aircraft Operators. The Company markets its products to aircraft operators, including commercial airlines, cargo carriers and business
and general aviation aircraft owners or suppliers, primarily for retrofitting of aircraft owned or operated by these customers. The
Company’s commercial fleet customers include or have included, among others, AAL, ATSG, FedEx and Icelandair. The Company
sells these customers a range of products and services.

Aircraft Modification Centers. Aircraft modification centers, which repair and retrofit private aircraft, represent the primary retrofit market
for private and corporate jets. The Company has established relationships with a several aircraft modification centers throughout the
United States which act as distribution outlets and installation centers for the Company’s products.

Original Equipment Manufacturers

The Company has signed a multi-year agreement with Textron to supply ThrustSense® Autothrottles on their King Air 360 and King Air
260 production aircraft as described above in “Products - ThrustSense® Autothrottle”. The Company has developed and manufactures
the utilities management system for the Pilatus’ PC-24 aircraft under a multi-year production contract as described above under
“Products - Utilities Management System.” The Company also markets its products to other OEMs including, among others, Boeing and
Lockheed Martin.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We have various trade secrets, proprietary information, trademarks, trade names, patents, copyrights and other intellectual property
rights, which we believe, in the aggregate but not individually, are important to our business. The Company's products are
manufactured, marketed and sold using a portfolio of patents, trademarks, licenses, and other forms of intellectual property, some of
which expire in the future. The Company develops and acquires new intellectual property on an ongoing basis. Based on the broad
scope of the Company’s product lines, management believes that the loss or expiration of any single intellectual property right would
not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
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HUMAN CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our ability to attract, develop and retain top talent across all of our business functions, and particularly in highly technical areas, has a
significant impact on organizational success. Accordingly, our human capital management strategy places a significant focus on both
attracting a diverse, highly skilled workforce and engaging and developing talent from within by creating a work environment that
promotes inclusion and equitability. By providing our valued employees the opportunity to enhance their skillsets, develop their careers
and pursue excellence through numerous training and development opportunities, we consistently emphasize the importance of
innovation and continuous improvement throughout our organization.

We attract and compensate our employees by offering a competitive total compensation package which includes benefits, resources,
and programs that support health, physical, mental, and financial wellness. The benefits package we offer, coupled with employee
recognition opportunities and employee engagement activities help create a comprehensive employee experience.

As of September 30, 2024, we had 133 full-time employees as compared to 98 full-time employees as of September 30, 2023. On an
as-needed basis, we employ temporary personnel with specialized disciplines to fill staffing gaps. We do not have any employees
represented by a union, and we believe that our relations with our employees are good. We provide our team members with ongoing
opportunities to share thoughts and perspectives on company and employment-related matters through surveys, all-hands meetings,
and management open door policies. Our management, with oversight from the Compensation and Nominating & Corporate
Governance Committee of our board of directors, monitors the hiring, retention, and management of our employees.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION
Environmental Regulation

We are subject to regulations administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, various state, county, and local agencies acting in cooperation with federal and state authorities. Among other things,
these regulatory bodies impose restrictions to control air, soil, and water pollution, to protect against occupational exposure to
chemicals, including health and safety risks, and to require notification or reporting of the storage, use, and release of certain hazardous
chemicals and substances. The extensive regulatory framework imposes compliance burdens and risks on us. Governmental
authorities have the power to enforce compliance with these regulations and to obtain injunctions or impose civil and criminal fines in
the case of violations.

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA") imposes strict, joint and several
liability on the present and former owners and operators of facilities that release hazardous substances into the environment. The
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 (“RCRA”) regulates the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, and disposal
of hazardous waste. In addition, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, which requires employers to provide a place of employment
that is free from recognized and preventable hazards that are likely to cause serious physical harm to employees, obligates employers
to provide notice to employees regarding the presence of hazardous chemicals and to train employees in the use of such substances.

Our operations require the use of a limited amount of chemicals and other materials, which are classified under applicable laws as
hazardous chemicals and substances. We follow all federal, state and local rules and regulations regarding the disposal of these
chemicals and associated waste.

Federal Aviation Administration Regulation

We are subject to regulation by the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) under the provisions of the Federal Aviation Act of 1958, as
amended. The FAA prescribes standards and licensing requirements for aircraft and aircraft components. We are subject to inspections
by the FAA and may be subjected to fines and other penalties (including orders to cease production) for noncompliance with FAA
regulations. Our failure to comply with applicable regulations could result in the termination of or our disqualification from some of our
contracts, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

GOVERNMENT CONTRACT COMPLIANCE

Our government contracts and sub-contracts are subject to the procurement rules and regulations of the U.S. Government. Many of the
contract terms are dictated by these rules and regulations. Specifically, cost-based pricing is determined under the Federal Acquisition
Regulation (“FAR”), which provide guidance on the types of costs that are allowable in establishing prices for goods and services under
U.S. Government contracts. For example, costs such as those related to charitable contributions, advertising, interest expense,
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and public relations are unallowable, and therefore not recoverable through sales. During and after the fulfillment of a government
contract, we may be audited in respect of the direct and allocated indirect costs attributed thereto. These audits may result in
adjustments to our contract costs. Additionally, we may be subject to U.S. Government inquiries and investigations because of our
participation in government procurement. Any inquiry or investigation can result in fines or limitations on our ability to continue to bid for
government contracts and fulfill existing contracts. We believe that we are in compliance with all federal, state, and local laws and
regulations governing our operations and have obtained all material licenses and permits required for the operation of our business.

The U.S. Government generally has the ability to terminate our contracts, in whole or in part, without prior notice, for convenience or for
default based on performance. If a U.S. Government contract were to be terminated for convenience, we generally would be protected
by provisions covering reimbursement for costs incurred on the contract and profit on those costs, but not the anticipated profit that
would have been earned had the contract been completed. In the unusual circumstance where a U.S. Government contract does not
have such termination protection, we attempt to mitigate the termination risk through other means. Termination resulting from our
default may expose us to liability and could have a material adverse effect on our ability to compete for other contracts. The U.S.
Government also has the ability to stop work under a contract for a limited period of time for its convenience. In the event of a stop work
order, we generally would be protected by provisions covering reimbursement for costs incurred on the contract to date and for costs
associated with the temporary stoppage of work on the contract. However, such temporary stoppages and delays could introduce
inefficiencies for which we may not be able to negotiate full recovery from the U.S. Government, and could ultimately result in
termination for convenience or reduced future orders on certain contracts. Additionally, we may be required to continue to perform for
some period of time on certain of our U.S. Government contracts, even if the U.S. Government is unable to make timely payments.

COMPETITIVE CONDITIONS

We experience competition in our aerospace and defense markets across suppliers of competitive products and services as well as with
vertically integrated primes. We believe that the principal points of competition in our markets are product quality, reliability, price,
design and engineering capabilities, product development, conformity to customer specifications, timeliness of delivery, effectiveness of
the distribution organization and quality of support after the sale. We believe ISSC has demonstrated a track record of performance
excellence across each of these areas that has resulted in long-standing customer relationships, often characterized by recurring
contractual relationships.

With respect to our products, the Company’s principal competitors include Honeywell Aerospace, Collins Aerospace, GE Aerospace,
Thales Defense & Security, Inc., Elbit Systems and Garmin Ltd.

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

» Vertically integrated model. ISSC can reduce its time-to-market through inhouse design, manufacturing and testing
capabilities; full service integration and repair capabilities; and deep technical expertise.

» Systems integration expertise. IS&S’s extensive system integration expertise is a key differentiator within the market and
provides a compelling value to its Company’s customer base. We believe this expertise enhances ease of installation, reduces
aircraft downtime and reduces system complexity.

* Retrofit application expertise. The average age of the global commercial airline fleet has reached a record level of 14.8
years, according to the International Air Transport Association. Extending an aircraft’s lifespan increases maintenance demands.
Since age brings wear and tear that requires more frequent and thorough inspections and replacement of parts that fail or reach
their lifetime limits. IS&S specializes in retrofitting older aircraft with state-of-the-art avionics, such as Flat Panel Display Systems
and Autothrottles that significantly improve functionality and compliance with current aviation standards.

» Strong Product and IP Portfolio. As of September 30, 2024, the Company held 47 U.S. patents. The Company holds 111
international patents and has 17 trademarks. Certain of these patents cover technology relating to air data measurement systems,
and others cover technology relating to flat panel display systems and other aspects of the COCKPIT/IP® product.

» Depth of experience in serving global customer brands. ISSC has experience serving both commercial and military
customers with global reach, including, among others, Amazon, American Airlines, BAE Systems, Boeing, DHL, Eclipse Aviation,
FedEx, Lockheed Martin, Pilatus, and Textron.
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INDUSTRY OUTLOOK

We operate in highly competitive markets. Since our inception more than 35 years ago, our markets have experienced significant
growth, leading to new entrants with considerable financial resources and scale. During this time, ISSC has built a strong position with
a portfolio of established, long-term customers that value our ability to deliver reliable, high-quality products that incorporate advanced
technologies together with expert technical support, and a competitive, value-centric approach to product pricing.

We believe that, in times of adverse economic conditions, customers that may have otherwise elected to purchase newly manufactured
aircraft may be interested instead in retrofitting existing aircraft as a cost-effective alternative, thereby enhancing the retrofit market
opportunity for the Company.

A wide range of information is critical for the proper and safe operation of aircraft. With advances in technology, new types of
information to assist pilots are becoming available for display in cockpits, such as satellite-based weather, ground terrain maps and
Automatic Dependent Surveillance-Broadcast (“ADS-B”) navigation. The Company believes that aircraft cockpits will become more
complete information centers that are capable of delivering additional information that is either mandated by regulation or demanded by
pilots to assist in the safe and efficient operation of aircraft. We believe that the market will continue to migrate toward autonomous
flight and that the flight deck will incorporate additional technologies that are stepping-stones on the path to complete autonomy.

Historically, equipment data, such as engine and fuel-related information, were displayed on analog mechanical instruments. Engine
and fuel instruments provide information on engine activity, including oil and hydraulic pressures and temperature. These instruments
are clustered throughout an aircraft's cockpit. Individual instruments tend to be replaced more frequently than the aircraft itself due to
obsolescence and normal wear-and-tear. Increasingly, operators are replacing their clusters of analog mechanical instruments with
integrated display systems such as the IS&S panel displays.

As the skies and airports become more crowded, the aviation industry and its regulators are concentrating on new technologies,
procedures, and regulations that allow more aircraft to operate in the skies and on the ground safely, efficiently and with less impact on
the environment. These new technologies and procedures, such as traffic avoidance, ground awareness, increased precision of
navigation and vertical position, runway incursion prevention and increased digital communication, will require innovation and intuitive
methods to display situational awareness information for the pilots. We believe that IS&S flat panel displays provide an attractive
solution to the growing need for innovation and new methods in this area.

STRATEGY

The foundation of our value creation framework is our focused business strategy which seeks to deliver stable commercial growth,
including both organic and inorganic growth, operational excellence and disciplined capital allocation. Key elements of the strategy
include the following:

#1 - Targeted Commercial Growth
e Expand product line portfolio

The Company develops innovative products by combining its avionics, engineering, and design expertise with commercially available
technologies, components and products from non-aviation applications, including the personal computer and telecommunications
industries. The Company’s COCKPIT/IP® system components are examples of its ability to engineer products using the selective
application of non-avionic technology.

In 2016, ISSC recognized that the lack of an available autothrottle system on turboprop aircraft was an unmet need in the marketplace,
leading it to invest in the development of a sophisticated turboprop autothrottle. We believe that ThrustSense® Autothrottle, the
Company'’s turboprop autothrottle incorporating patented technology, is highly effective, less complex and less costly than other
available products and offers sophisticated sensing and multiple safety features that even exceed those of some much more expensive
jet autothrottle systems. The Company intends to continue to capitalize on being the first to market an autothrottle to owners and
operators of turboprop aircraft.
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¢ Focus on retrofit opportunity

Given an aging global aircraft fleet, cockpit avionics upgrades for existing aircraft continue to be a significant opportunity for the
Company. We believe that retrofit of an aircraft with the COCKPIT/IP® FPDS, FMS and integrated standby unit system components is
cost effective compared to the acquisition of a new aircraft and can provide similar functionality to that of new aircraft.

¢ Expand presence in flat panel display market

Due to recent demand from cargo operators, we believe that many aircraft will be retrofitted with flat panel displays over the next
several years. Given the versatility, visual appeal, and lower cost of displaying a series of instruments and other flight relevant
information on a single flat panel, the Company believes that flat panel displays will increasingly replace individual analog and digital
instrument LCDs and cathode ray tubes. The Company believes that its COCKPIT/IP® has significant benefits over competitive flat
panel displays, including lower cost, larger size, reduced weight, enhanced viewing angles, and a broader array of functions.

The Company’s patented and proprietary Integrity Checking Processor and Zooming features provide increased situational awareness,
reliability, performance and utility to the owner/operator. Accordingly, we believe that these advantages will allow the Company to
generate increased revenues from the COCKPIT/IP® product and increase our market share. In addition, the Company believes that
demand for new aircraft, FAA mandates and obsolescence issues on older aircraft will contribute to this growth.

¢ Evaluate potential acquisitions and strategic partnerships

As a part of the Company’s growth strategy, we continuously evaluate acquisition opportunities and opportunities to make investments
in complementary businesses, technologies, services or products. In addition, we may enter into strategic partnerships with parties who
can provide access to assets, additional product or services offerings, additional distribution or marketing synergies or additional
industry expertise in order to enhance and expand the Company’s product offerings, technology and capabilities in its current and future
products. Any newly acquired products and technology may enable the Company to sell to a new group of buyers and introduce them to
our broader range of products.

#2 - Improve Operational Efficiency

e The Company works to build on its legacy of strong operational execution to generate attractive margins through both increased
operating leverage from higher revenues, and internal margin initiatives. The Company believes it can realize efficiencies in the
manufacturing and repair of the acquired Honeywell products by insourcing the production of product sub-assemblies. We also expect
to benefit from higher fixed cost leverage as we more effectively utilize the manufacturing capacity at our Exton facility. We will also
work to realize additional efficiencies through sourcing and procurement initiatives in an effort to drive cost savings.

#3 - Return-Focused Capital Allocation Strategy

* We employ a disciplined, return-focused capital allocation strategy. Our primary focus will be on capital deployment in support of
our growth initiatives. The Company remains committed to maintaining strong financial flexibility.

Backlog
September 30
2024 2023

Backlog, beginning of period $ 13,450,881 $ 11,778,988
Plus: bookings during period, net 48,672,715 36,480,406
Plus: acquired through acquisition 74,307,000 —
Less: sales recognized during period (47,198,020) (34,808,513)
Backlog, end of period $ 89,232,576  $ 13,450,881
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Backlog represents the value of contracts and purchase orders, less the revenue recognized to date on those contracts and purchase
orders. The backlog excludes potential future sole-source production orders from products developed under the Company’s
engineering development contracts (“‘EDC”) programs, including the Pilatus PC-24, the KC-46A and the Textron King Air 360 and King
Air 260 ThrustSense® Autothrottle programs. Although the Company believes that the orders included in backlog are firm, most of the
backlog involves orders that can be modified or terminated by the customer. As of September 30, 2024, 35% of the Company’s backlog
was expected to be filled beyond fiscal year 2025.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
ISSC Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If the Company fails to enhance existing products, or to develop and achieve market acceptance for flat panel displays, flight
control computers, display generators, flight management systems, autothrottle technology and other new products that
meet customer requirements, its business, financial condition and results of operation may be affected adversely.

The Company spends a large portion of its research and development efforts in developing and marketing the FPDS, FMS,
ThrustSense® Autothrottle and complementary products. The Company’s ability to grow and diversify its operations through the
introduction and sale of new products is dependent upon its continued success in product development and engineering activities, its
sales and marketing efforts, its ability to acquire new products from strategic partnerships and acquisitions, and its ability to obtain
necessary regulatory approvals to sell such products. Sales growth will depend in part on market acceptance of and demand for the
FPDS, FMS, ThrustSense® Autothrottle and any products we develop in the future. The Company cannot be certain that it will be able
to develop, acquire, introduce or market its FPDS, FMS, ThrustSense® Autothrottle or other new products or product enhancements in
a timely or cost-effective manner, or that any new products or product enhancements will receive market acceptance or necessary
regulatory approval. In addition, the Company’s business is dependent upon maintaining its reputation and relationships with existing
customers and potential partners. If the Company’s performance or the performance of the Company’s products does not meet its
customers’ expectations, the Company’s reputation and its relationships could be damaged, which may have a material adverse impact
on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Growth of the Company’s customer base could be limited by delays or difficulties in completing development and
introduction of planned products or product enhancements.

Our growth strategy is dependent in part upon our successful entry into new markets. In seeking new customers, the Company may
have difficulty in displacing the products of incumbent competitors who are more familiar with such markets and the needs of target
customers. The Company cannot be assured that potential customers will accept its products or that existing customers will not
abandon them. Similarly, due to the nature of the Company’s products, potential customers may not be willing to expend the resources
and effort required to replace existing competitive technology and parts with the Company’s products.

If the Company fails to modify or improve its products in response to evolving industry standards and government
regulations, its products rapidly could become obsolete.

Our products must continue to evolve as the industry evolves, and simultaneously continue to comply with government standards.
Future generations of flat panel displays, air data systems, engine and fuel displays, flight management systems and computers and
autothrottle technology which embody new technologies or new industry standards could render the Company’s products obsolete. The
market for aviation products is subject to rapid technological change, new product introductions, changes in customer preferences, and
evolving industry standards and government regulations. The Company’s future success will depend on its ability to:

* embrace rapidly changing technologies;

» develop and introduce timely, high-quality, cost-effective new products and product enhancements to address the increasingly
sophisticated needs of its customers; and

» adapt the Company'’s products to evolving industry standards and government regulations; and

These factors may be costly to the Company, and there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in its strategy.
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The Company’s products are currently subject to direct regulation by the FAA and other equivalent organizations. The Company’s
products, as they relate to aircraft applications, must be approved by the FAA, EASA, or other equivalent organizations before they can
be installed in an aircraft. To be certified, the Company must demonstrate that its products are accurate and able to maintain certain
levels of repeatability over time. Although the certification requirements of the FAA and EASA are substantially similar, no formal
reciprocity exists between the two regulators. Accordingly, even though the Company’s products are approved by the FAA, the
Company may need to obtain approval from EASA or other appropriate organizations to have them certified for installation outside the
U.S. Significant delay in receiving certification for newly developed products or enhancements to the Company’s products, or the loss
of certification for its existing products, could result in lost sales or delays in sales. The Company cannot ensure that it will receive
regulatory approval on a timely basis or at all.

Furthermore, new regulations or product standards, and changes to existing product standards could require the Company to change
its products and underlying technology and expend significant costs to come into compliance. Many of our customer contracts
additionally require us to comply with strict industry standards. The policies and regulations applicable to the Company may be
modified, interpreted, and applied inconsistently, which may result in the Company’s noncompliance with applicable rules. If the
Company is found to be noncompliant with applicable regulations or rules imposed by certain contracts, the Company may face
significant fines, reputational harm, and other regulatory consequences (such as, loss of certain certifications or operational
restrictions). Any of the foregoing consequences may adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We design, manufacture and service products that incorporate advanced technologies; the introduction of new products and
technologies involves risks, and we may not realize the degree or timing of benefits initially anticipated.

The design, development, production, sale and support of innovative commercial aerospace and defense systems and products
involves advanced technologies. We invest substantial amounts in research and development efforts to pursue advancements in a wide
range of technologies, products and services aimed at meeting the ever-evolving product, program and service needs of our customers.
Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our investments depends on a variety of factors, including meeting development,
production, certification and regulatory approval schedules; receiving regulatory approvals; execution of internal and external
performance plans; achieving cost and production efficiencies; availability and quality of supplier- and internally-produced parts and
materials; availability of supplier and internal facility capacity to perform maintenance, repair and overhaul services; availability of test
equipment; development of complex software; hiring and training of qualified personnel; identification of emerging technological trends
for our target end-customers; the level of customer interest in new technologies and products and customer acceptance of our products
and technologies. For example, our customers manufacture or acquire end products and systems that incorporate certain of our
products. These end products and systems may also incorporate additional technologies manufactured by third parties and involve
additional risks and uncertainties. As a result, the performance and industry acceptance of these larger systems and end products
could affect the level of customer interest in and acceptance of our products in the marketplace. In addition, many of our products must
adhere to strict regulatory and market-driven safety and performance standards in a variety of jurisdictions. The evolving nature of these
standards, along with the long duration of development, production and aftermarket support programs, creates uncertainty regarding
program profitability, particularly with our aircraft engine products. Development efforts divert resources from other potential
investments in our businesses, and these efforts may not lead to the development of new technologies or products on a timely basis or
meet the needs of our customers as fully as competitive offerings. In addition, the industries for our products or products that
incorporate our technologies may not develop or grow as we anticipate. We or our customers, suppliers or subcontractors may
encounter difficulties in developing and producing new products and services, and may not realize the degree or timing of benefits
initially anticipated or may otherwise suffer significant adverse financial consequences. Due to the design complexity of our products or
those of our customers or third party manufacturers that incorporate our products into theirs or our customers’ products, we may
experience delays in completing the development and introduction of new products or we may experience the suspension of production
after these products enter into service due to safety concerns. Delays and/or suspension of production could result in increased
development costs or deflect resources from other projects. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our
competitive position, business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may pursue strategic acquisitions, investments, strategic partnerships, product line acquisitions or other ventures, and
our business could be materially harmed if we fail to successfully identify, evaluate, complete, and integrate such
transactions. Acquisitions involve inherent risks that may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. The
Company may be unable to successfully integrate and realize the anticipated benefits of recent acquisitions.

Our growth strategy includes evaluating acquisition opportunities and opportunities to make investments in complementary businesses,
technologies, services or products, or to enter into strategic partnerships with parties who can provide access to those assets,
additional product or services offerings, additional distribution or marketing synergies or additional industry expertise.

We may not be able to identify suitable acquisition, investment or strategic partnership candidates, or if we do identify suitable
candidates in the future, we may not be able to complete transactions with such partners on commercially favorable terms, or at all. Our
ability to find partners to further our growth strategy is likely to be affected by factors outside of our control in the aerospace industry
such as pilot unions, pilot shortages and labor strikes, including other economic and geopolitical factors. Any one of these factors may
impede our ability to find strategic partners.

Acquisitions involve various inherent risks, such as: our ability to assess accurately the value, strengths, weaknesses, internal controls,
contingent and other liabilities and potential profitability of acquisition candidates; difficulties in integrating acquired businesses, our
potential inability to achieve identified financial, operating and other synergies anticipated to result from an acquisition, and integration
issues associated with internal controls of acquired businesses; the diversion of management’s attention from our existing businesses;
the potential impairment of assets; potential unknown liabilities associated with a business that we acquire or in which we invest,
including environmental liabilities; and production delays associated with consolidating acquired facilities and manufacturing operations.
Any past or future acquisition could also result in such risks. Due diligence performed prior to closing acquisitions may not uncover
certain risks or liabilities that could materially impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not successfully integrate business, operational, and financial activities such as internal controls, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) compliance, cyber security measures, the GDPR and similar privacy laws and other
corporate governance and regulatory matters, operations, personnel or products related to acquisitions we may make in the future.
Over the past two years, we have acquired several product lines from Honeywell to enhance the Company’s current offerings in various
markets, including communication and navigation product lines and display generators and flight control computers. As the assets
acquired from Honeywell are intended to further the Company’s revenue in the retrofit market and are intended to be incorporated into
U.S. government contract work, the Company must comply with further regulatory requirements, including heightened security
measures, that it may not achieve. If the Company fails to obtain all regulatory approvals required to use the Honeywell assets as
intended, the Company may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these transactions in a timely manner or at all, as it may not be
able to generate any revenue in the intended markets.

The success of the Honeywell acquisitions, including anticipated benefits and potential additional revenue opportunities, will depend in
part on the Company’s ability to successfully integrate the Honeywell product lines in a manner that results in various benefits,
including, among other things, enhancing the Company’s current offerings in the air transport, military and business aviation markets,
creating potential cost synergies, accelerating the Company’s growth and enhancing its global reputation.

The ongoing process of integrating the Honeywell assets could result in a loss of key personnel, cause an interruption of, or loss of
momentum in, the activities of one or more of the Company’s businesses or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and
policies and impair the ability of the Company to maintain relationships with customers and employees. The diversion of management’s
attention from other business concerns and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the integration of the Honeywell
assets could have an adverse effect on the Company'’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally we may incur significant costs and risks in integrating Honeywell product lines, including the risk of additional demands on
our resources, systems, procedures and controls. We may also incur significant transaction costs in connection with future acquisitions,
including acquisitions that we do not complete for any reason. We are required to expense such transaction costs as incurred, which
may have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

The Company’s revenue and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter, which may cause its stock price
to decline.

Historically, the Company’s revenue and operating results have varied from quarter to quarter, and may continue to vary, which may
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, and cause our stock price to decline. As such, our historical

14




Table of Contents

results of operations should not be relied upon as accurate indications of future performance. Variance in the Company’s revenue may
be caused by multiple factors, including:

* demand for products and/or delivery schedule changes by its customers;

» capital expenditure budgets of aircraft owners and operators, and appropriation cycles of the U.S. government and foreign
governments;

» changes in the use of the Company’s products, including air data systems, flat panel displays, flight management systems,
autothrottle technology display generals and flight control computers;

» delays in obtaining government approval for new products;
e new product introductions by competitors;
» changes in the Company’s pricing policies or pricing policies of competitors; and

e costs related to possible acquisition of technologies or businesses, including the cost to pursue and negotiate acquisitions and
integrate such products and business thereafter.

Many of these factors are outside of the Company’s control, and difficult to predict. The unpredictable nature of the Company’s
business and results of operations could result in revenue that is lower than anticipated. If we fail to perform as investors or other
analysts may have anticipated, our stock price may delice as a result.

Our sales in the commercial aircraft market are subject to downturns affecting the aerospace industry generally.

Sales of our products may be impacted by downturns in the global economy within the industry in which we operate and can adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, in recent years, sales across the commercial OEM
sector saw a decline due in large part to the decrease in production by Boeing and Airbus related to reduced demand for commercial air
travel because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Similarly, the operation of an aircraft is inherently subject to various risks, and the technological advances, including those contained in
our products and services, may be impacted by safety hazards or accidents. Any mechanical error or adverse external condition may
result in death or injury to personnel and passengers, which could impact customer and consumer confidence in the aerospace
industry. Reduced confidence in the safety and reliability of the air transportation services industry could lead to a reduction in demand
for the Company’s products and services, particularly if such accidents or disasters were due to a safety fault.

Due to the inherent nature of our products and the industry in which we operate, a product safety failure or quality issue
could seriously harm our business.

There can be no assurance that the complex system designs and components contained in the Company’s products were not designed
with, or manufactured containing, errors, omissions, or defects, particularly when the Company incorporates new technologies into its
products or when it releases new versions or enhancements of its existing products. Any failure or error in the Company’s products
during a flight presents a substantial risk to the operation of the aircraft, as products provide information necessary for a safe and
efficient flight, and as a result, a risk to the safety of persons aboard such flights. In the event a defect or error is detected in any of the
Company'’s products, the Company may be required to issue a recall, face liability in litigation or pay damages, which may result in a
delay or loss of revenues, cancellation of customer contracts, damage to the Company’s reputation, and litigation costs.

Additionally, such occurrences could materially impair the production of our products, result in damage to equipment, personal injury or
death, and potential legal liability. Although we currently maintain insurance in amounts which we consider adequate, the nature of
these risks is such that liabilities might exceed policy limits, the liabilities and hazards might not be insurable, or we may elect in the
future not to insure against such liabilities due to high premium costs or other reasons, in which event we could incur significant costs
that could have a materially adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We serve a limited number of customers and face customer concentration risk.

The Company’s revenue is concentrated in a limited number of customers. During fiscal year 2024 the Company derived 36% of its
revenue from a limited number of customers. The Company continues to expect a relatively small number of customers to account for a
majority of its revenue for the foreseeable future. Any disruption in the Company’s business with those customers, whether as a result
of changes in demand for the customer’s services, adverse changes in the customer’s industry generally or other challenges in
securing or renewing contracts, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, much of the Company’s revenue is concentrated in contracts in the retrofit market with the U.S. government (including the
DoD, the Department of Interior and the Department of Homeland Security) and foreign governments. Retrofit contracts with the DoD
typically are not required to be renewed by the DoD, and are terminable by the DoD at their convenience. Contracts with foreign
governments may contain similar provisions. There can be no assurance that we will continue to be awarded contracts by the U.S.
government or any foreign government, as the market for the Company’s products is highly competitive.

Our customers may terminate their contracts with us at any time.

In general, the Company’s customer contracts typically contain provisions which permit the customer to terminate the agreement for
their convenience, at any time. There can be no assurance that any of the Company’s customers will continue their contractual
relationship and obligations with the Company, and therefore, we cannot guarantee any future sales. Given the Company’s limited
customer concentration, if customers terminate their contracts with the Company without cause, prior to its expiration date, the
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations would likely be harmed.

Changes in U.S. government priorities, spending levels and response to world events could adversely affect the Company’s
ability to maintain or grow the revenue the Company receives through government contracting.

A significant portion of the Company’s sales derives from defense contractors or U.S. government agencies in connection with
government aircraft retrofit or OEM contracts. Defense spending may be impacted by various factors, including the changing political
environment and shifts in domestic and international markets and priorities, and ongoing and emerging conflicts. The impact of any
such reductions in defense appropriations and/or reductions in U.S. defense spending could result in delays in procurement of products
and services due to lack of funding, and negatively impact the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Defense spending may also be reduced as a result of the change in presidential administration, and other political factors affecting the
U.S. government such as budget deficits, spending priorities (such as, pandemics or emerging conflicts), pressures related to the cost
of sustaining the U.S. military presence internationally and reducing U.S. military presence generally, and the ability of the government
to efficiently enact appropriations bills and other relevant legislation. While we are unable to precisely predict what actions the new
administration will take, President-elect Donald Trump has indicated that his administration will treat national security much differently
that the current and previous presidential administrations. While difficult to predict, the new administration’s policies to reduce U.S.
military presence and foreign military aid could result in a decrease in defense spending, and negatively impact the Company’s
revenue in the retrofit market.

Additionally, U.S. government contracts are funded by agency budgets that operate on a fiscal year basis. As a result, government
contracts are often not fully funded at inception. The remaining funds are only made available as appropriated by Congress over time,
and thus subject to delay. Further, congressional appropriation and presidential approval are required for funding the governmental
agencies with which we contract. In the past few years, the government has not been able to complete its budget process before the
end of its fiscal year, resulting in government shutdowns, as well as insufficient funding for government agencies. As a result, our sales
revenue in the retrofit market are vulnerable to both delays in funding and reductions in spending. If our government contracts are not
fully funded, or significant programs or contracts with the U.S. government are terminated, our business, financial condition and results
of operations would be substantially adversely affected.

Geopolitical factors and changes in policies and regulations could adversely affect our internal business.

Our international sales and operations are sensitive to changes in foreign national priorities, foreign government budgets, and regional
and local political and economic factors, including volatility in energy prices or supply, political or civil unrest, changes in threat
environments and political relations, military conflicts, geopolitical uncertainties, and changes in U.S. foreign policy. Our international
sales and operations are also sensitive to changes in foreign government laws, regulations and policies, including those related to
tariffs, sanctions, embargoes, export and import controls and other trade restrictions. Events such as increased trade
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restrictions or retaliatory trade policies, renegotiation of existing trade agreements, or regime change can affect demand for our
products and services, the competitive position of our products, our supply chain, and our ability to manufacture or sell products in
certain countries. Further, operations in emerging market countries are subject to additional risks, including volatility in gross domestic
product and rates of economic growth, government instability, cultural differences (such as employment and business practices), the
imposition of exchange and capital controls, and risks associated with exporting components manufactured in those countries for
incorporation into finished products completed in other countries. While these factors and their impact are difficult to predict, any one or
more of them could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.

In addition, given the role of our defense businesses in the support of the national security interests of the U. S. and its allies, we are
subject to risks and uncertainties relating to policies of the U.S. and its allies, as well as other countries, including those that are or
become regarded as potential adversaries or threats. We engage in both direct commercial sales, which generally require U.S.
government licenses and approvals, as well as foreign military sales, which are government-to-government transactions initiated by,
and carried out at the direction of, the U.S. government. Changes in budgets and spending levels, policies, or priorities, which are
subject to geopolitical risks and threats, may impact our defense businesses, including the timing of and delays in U.S. government
licenses and approvals for sales, the risk of sanctions or other restrictions, as well as potential human rights issues associated with the
use of our defense products. These risks and uncertainties may directly or indirectly impact our commercial businesses as well.

Government contracts are subject to special risks as a result of the U.S. government’s audit practices.

Our contracts with the U.S. government require us to comply with extensive laws and regulations in the performance of such contracts.
The U.S. government regularly investigates and audits its suppliers’ compliance with applicable regulations and performance under the
relevant government contracts.

If a government inquiry or investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities by us, our employees, or others working on our behalf, we
could be subject to civil or criminal penalties or administrative sanctions, including contract termination, revocation of required security
clearances, fines, forfeiture of fees, suspension of payment and suspension or debarment from doing business with U.S. government
agencies, any of which could materially adversely impact our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, ensuring we are fully compliant with new and existing government regulations could increase our costs, reduce our
margins and adversely affect our competitiveness. Furthermore, our contractual obligations with the U.S. government include certain
classified information, which imposes security requirements that limit our ability to discuss our performance on these contracts,
including any specific risks, disputes and claims.

The Company could be subjected to losses in the event that the Company suffers cost overruns or contractual penalties in
connection with fixed-price contracts or service arrangements to perform specified design and EDC services.

During fiscal year 2024 approximately 5% percent of the Company’s total sales were derived from fixed-price EDC arrangements with
customers to perform specified design and EDC services related to its products. These arrangements allow the Company to benefit by
recovering some of its product development costs, but it carries the risk of potential cost overruns. If the Company’s initial cost
estimates are incorrect, it can incur one-time charges that may be quite high and losses on these contracts. These EDC arrangements
can expose the Company to potential losses because the customer may compel the Company to complete a project or, in the event of
a termination for default, pay the incremental cost of its replacement by another provider. Because some of these projects involve new
technologies and applications, and can last for more than a year, unforeseen events such as technological difficulties, fluctuations in
the price of raw materials, problems with subcontractors, and cost overruns can result in the contractual price becoming less favorable
or even unprofitable to the Company over time. Furthermore, if the Company does not meet project deadlines or if its products do not
meet customer specifications, it may need to renegotiate contracts on less favorable terms, be forced to pay penalties or liquidated
damages, or suffer losses if the customer exercises its right to terminate its agreement early. The Company'’s results of operations are
dependent on its ability to maximize earnings from the EDC service arrangements. Similarly, if the Company is unable to meet
deadlines and customer specifications, its reputation in the industry may suffer harm, which may have a negative impact on the
Company'’s ability to retain its current customers and attract new customers. Lower earnings caused by cost overruns could furthermore
have a negative impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently operate without a substantial backlog.
During periods of economic uncertainty, the rate of customer orders can quickly decrease, and a substantial backlog may help promote

greater efficiency in production, facilitate business planning and improve revenue visibility. As of September 30, 2024, 35% of the
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Company’s backlog was expected to be filled beyond the end of the 2025 fiscal year, which is below the Company’s historical
expectations and may result in lower revenues in future periods. As a result, future revenue will be dependent on orders booked and
shipped in any given quarter, and may not be predictable with any degree of certainty.

Substantially all of the contracts in our backlog may be canceled or modified at the election of the customer, and certain of our contracts
may individually represent a significant portion of our revenue. Reductions in backlog due to cancellation by a customer could
significantly reduce the revenue that we actually receive from contracts in backlog. Similarly, contracts included in our backlog may not
be profitable for other reasons, such as reduction in orders or issues with a customer’s operations. Consequently, our backlog in not an
entirely accurate predictor of future revenue. If our backlog fails to materialize, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected.

The Company relies on third-party suppliers for components of its products, including several sole source suppliers, and any
interruption in the supply of these components could hinder its ability to deliver products on a timely basis.

The Company’s manufacturing process consists primarily of assembling components purchased from its supply chain. Further, there
are a limited amount of suppliers that are able to produce certain components. Several of our suppliers are sole source suppliers. If we
lose a significant or sole source supplier, or our key suppliers’ businesses fail, our ability to purchase components at all (in the case of
sole source suppliers) or in sufficient quantities and on commercially reasonable terms would be seriously harmed as it may take a long
time, and involve significant costs, to identify and qualify a sufficient alternative supplier.

If the Company is unable to maintain relationships with key third-party suppliers, the development and distribution of its products could
be delayed until equivalent components can be obtained and integrated into the products. In addition, substitution of certain
components from other manufacturers may require product redesign or FAA, EASA or other approvals, which could delay the
Company'’s ability to ship products, and any increase in component costs, including the costs of any necessary raw materials, in the
Company’s supply chain could adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The impacts of global supply chain and labor market disruptions on our supply chain have negatively affected and will
continue to negatively affect our business.

Our performance requires a variety of raw materials, supplier-provided parts, components, sub-systems and contract manufacturing
services, and we rely on U.S. and non-U.S. suppliers (including third-party manufacturing suppliers, subcontractors and service
providers) and commodity markets for these materials and services. In some instances, we depend upon a single source of supply,
manufacturing, services support or assembly, or participate in commodity markets that may be subject to allocations of limited supplies
by suppliers. In addition, our defense businesses are subject to specific procurement requirements that limit the types of materials they
use. Our defense businesses also must require suppliers to comply with various DoD requirements, including cybersecurity
requirements, any of which requirements may further limit the suppliers and subcontractors they may utilize. Identifying and qualifying
second- or third- source suppliers can be difficult, time-consuming and may result in increased costs. Additionally, an open conflict or
war across any region, including, but not limited to, the conflicts in Ukraine and Israel, could affect our ability to obtain raw materials.

In addition, global supply chain and labor markets are continuing to experience high levels of disruption, causing significant materials
and parts shortages, as well as delivery delays, labor shortages, distribution issues, energy cost increases and price increases. Current
geopolitical conditions, including sanctions and other trade restrictive activities and strained intercountry relations, are contributing to
these issues. Certain of our suppliers and subcontractors have been unable to hire and retain sufficient qualified personnel for their
performance. We and our suppliers and subcontractors have also experienced difficulties in procuring necessary raw materials and
components, including microelectronics. All of the above have contributed to price increases. These issues have led to significant
supplier and subcontractor performance failures and delays. As a result of these various problems, we have had difficulties receiving
necessary materials, components, other supplies and third-party services timely or at all, which have negatively impacted production
flow in our factories, hindered our ability to perform on our commitments to customers and negatively affected our results of operations,
financial condition and liquidity. Our supply costs have increased due to the above factors. Continuing high inflation has exacerbated
these increases and increased our operating costs.

Additionally, an open conflict or war across any region, including, but not limited to, the conflicts in Ukraine and Israel, could affect our
ability to obtain raw materials.
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The timing of the impacts of these supply chain risks and issues and our ability to mitigate them are uncertain and difficult to predict.
However, we expect the current supply chain, labor availability and price issues, and their negative impacts on our business, to
continue. In particular, we expect to experience prolonged delays for certain critical component parts and sub-systems. Furthermore,
the existing supply chain and labor market issues could be compounded by other events, such as an economic downturn; supplier
capacity constraints for other reasons; supplier quality issues (for example, defects or fraudulent parts); supplier closing, bankruptcy or
financial difficulties; price increases for various reasons; worsening shortages of raw materials or commodities; and energy supply
constraints, including as a result of war or other geopolitical actions, natural disaster (including the effects of climate change), health
pandemic or other business continuity events, or transport and distribution issues, any of which could further negatively impact our
ability to meet our commitments to customers or increase our operating costs and therefore incrementally affect our results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity.

Our subcontractors and third-party suppliers may fail to produce high quality work, which may result in a failure of our
products or services and a violation of applicable law.

The suppliers the Company depends on may not be able to timely deliver a sufficient number of components on that are of a reliable
quality on commercially reasonable terms. We also depend on our key third-party suppliers to provide materials that comply with our
specifications. If any products or materials that are provided by our suppliers do not comply with our specifications, and we do not
discover such noncompliance until after those parts are installed and as a result the products fails, the Company would be harmed,
potentially resulting in a loss of its ISO 9001 and AS9100D certifications, loss of customers, harm to reputation, product recalls, and
liability for any other harm caused. Such failures could delay or stop our production, result in possible lost sales and seriously threaten
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Similarly, as we continue to acquire new product lines and expand the scope of our business, we require an increasing level of support
from subcontractors. We are liable for the work of our subcontractors under each applicable agreement pursuant to which
subcontractors assist. If our subcontractors violate the provisions of any applicable contract, or violate applicable laws or regulations,
our relationship with such customer will be negatively impacted, and could result in a customer terminating our contract for default. A
termination for default could expose us to liability, including liability for the costs of re-procurement, damage our reputation and impair
our ability to compete for future contracts.

Our competitors have greater resources and experience than us, and if we are not able to compete, our business, financial
condition and results of operations will be substantially adversely affected.

The markets for the Company’s products are intensely competitive and subject to rapid technological change. Our primary competitors
include Honeywell, Collins Aerospace, Thales Defense & Security, Inc., Garmin Ltd. and GE Aviation Systems . All of these competitors
have substantially greater financial, technical, and human capital resources than the Company. In addition, these competitors have
much greater experience in, and resources for, marketing their products. As a result, the Company’s competitors may be able to
respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and customer preferences, or to devote greater resources to development,
promotion and sale of their products than the Company. The Company’s competitors may have greater name recognition and more
extensive customer bases. Such competition could result in price reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins, and loss
of market share.

The Company depends on key personnel to manage its business effectively, and an inability to retain its key employees and
plan for management succession could adversely impact the Company’s ability to compete.

The Company'’s success depends on the efforts, abilities, and expertise of its senior management and other key personnel. There can
be no assurance that the Company will be able to retain such employees, and the loss of important personnel could damage its ability
to execute its business strategy. Competition for skilled personnel is intense, and the Company may not be able to attract or retain
additional qualified employees.

In addition, our ability to execute our growth strategy is dependent upon our ability to retain our Chief Executive Officer, Shahram
Askarpour. Mr. Askarpour’s skills and expertise are important to the Company'’s ability to expand its operations into different markets
and further its acquisition strategy. However, there is much competition in the aerospace market for qualified executives such as Mr.
Askarpour. If we are unable to retain integral members of our executive team, our competitive position in the market, relationships with
potential partners, and our ability to execute our strategic business plan may be adversely affected.
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The Company'’s future success will depend in part on its ability to implement and improve its operational, administrative and financial
systems and controls and to manage, train and expand its employee base. The Company cannot provide assurance that current and
planned personnel levels, systems, procedures and controls will be adequate to support its current and future customer base. In such a
circumstance, the Company may not be able to fully capitalize on existing and potential market opportunities. Similarly, the Company
plans to further enhance in sales and distribution capabilities in the retrofit markets. It will be expensive and time consuming for the
Company to hire a larger sales force for government and defense sales, and it may not be successful in finding appropriately qualified
candidates that are able to implement the Company’s strategy.

Any delays or difficulties encountered in maintaining a sufficient workforce could impair the Company'’s ability to attract new customers
or maintain its relationships with existing customers. In addition, effective succession planning is important to our long-term success.
Failure to ensure effective transfers of knowledge and smooth transitions involving senior management and other key personnel could
hinder the execution of our strategic planning.

We self-insure a significant portion of our employee medical insurance program, which may expose us to unpredictable costs
and negatively affect our financial performance.

We self-insure a significant portion of our employee medical insurance program and related benefit claims. The estimated liability for the
self-funded portion of our insurance program is determined actuarially, based on claims filed historically, demographic factors and an
estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported. Unanticipated changes in any applicable actuarial assumptions or management
estimates underlying our recorded liabilities for these losses could result in materially different amounts of expense than expected
under these programs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, the premiums for this coverage could increase in the future, or we could be forced to raise our self-insured retention amounts.
If these expenses increase, or if we experience a claim in excess of our reserve and/or coverage limits, it could also have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company has limited experience in marketing and distributing its products internationally.

The Company plans to derive increasing revenues from sales outside the U.S., particularly in Europe and Asia. Risks inherent in doing
business internationally include:

« differing regulatory requirements;

* legal uncertainty regarding liability and the enforceability of agreements and accounts receivable collection and longer collection
periods;

« tariffs, trade and investment barriers, and other regulatory barriers;

e uncertainty of protection of our intellectual property rights;

* heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain locations;

» political and economic instability, including changes in government budgets and wars, such as the wars in the Ukraine and Israel;
» changes in diplomatic and trade relationships;

» failure by our employees or agents to comply with U.S. laws affecting the activities of U.S. companies abroad, including the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended,;

« difficulty with staffing and managing widespread operations and in recruiting local experienced personnel, and the costs and
expenses associated with such activities;

» the impact of recessions in economies outside the U.S.; and

* variances and unexpected changes in local laws and regulations.

20




Table of Contents

Currently, all of the Company’s international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. An increase in the dollar’s value compared to other
currencies could render the Company'’s products less competitive in international markets. In the future, the Company may be required
to conduct sales in foreign country’s local currency, thus exposing it to fluctuations and volatility in exchange rates that could adversely
affect its operating results. Further, as we pursue customers in Asia and other less developed markets throughout the world, our
potential inability to ensure the creditworthiness of counterparties could impose additional risks and affect our overall profitability.
Emerging market operations in particular can present many risks, including volatility in gross domestic product, economic and
government instability, and the imposition of exchange controls and capital controls. We must also hire and train qualified personnel to
manage our foreign operations. We may experience difficulties in recruiting, training, managing, and retaining an international staff, and
specifically staff related to sales management and sales personnel, which may impact in sales productivity in foreign markets.

These factors and their impact are difficult to predict, and any one or more of them could have a material adverse effect on our
competitive position, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Privacy, Cybersecurity, and Technical Infrastructure

Our intellectual property rights are important to our operations, and we could suffer loss if they infringe upon others’ rights
or are infringed upon by others.

We rely on a combination of patents, and trade secrets, confidentiality provisions and licensing arrangements to establish and protect
our proprietary rights. To this end, as of September 30, 2024, the Company holds 47 U.S. patents and has 17 trademarks. In addition,
the Company holds 111 international patents. The Company’s success and ability to compete will depend in part on its ability to obtain
and maintain patent or other protection for its technology and products, both in the U.S. and internationally. The value of our products
relies substantially on our technical innovation in fields in which there are many patent filings. However, there is no guarantee that our
patent applications will become issued patents. Moreover, even if approved, our patents may thereafter be successfully challenged by
others or otherwise become invalidated for a variety of reasons. Thus, any patents we currently have or may later acquire may not
provide us a significant competitive advantage. If our products are not protected by patents, our technology may be rendered obsolete
by competitors that may develop similar technology using our ideas and our technology, which will seriously harm our ability to generate
sales revenue.

Additionally, patent protection related litigation is time consuming and expensive. The Company has incurred, and may continue to
incur, significant legal and other costs in defense of its intellectual property. Further, if a successful claim of patent infringement were
made against the Company, and if the Company were unable to develop non-infringing technology, or to license the infringed or similar
technology on a timely and cost-effective basis, the Company may lose entire product lines, and as a result, incur substantial losses in
revenue, and incur substantial costs in development new, non-infringing technology. Additionally, if the Company is found to have
infringed upon the intellectual property rights of a third-party, reputational harm to the Company would likely occur, and harm the
Company'’s ability to license its technology, or license technology from others.

Certain of our products incorporate and rely upon licensed third-party technology.

As part of our growth strategy, we have obtained licenses to third-party technology to improve our products. We may be required to
renegotiate our currently licensed technology in the future, and may seek to license additional technology from other third parties to
enhance our products and position in the market. However, there is no guarantee that third-party licenses will be available to us, or
continue to be made available to us, on terms acceptable and beneficial to the Company. If we are unable to maintain our current
licenses or obtain additional licenses to further improve our products, we may be required to develop lower quality and less innovative
products and as a result, our business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.

A cyber security incident or other technology disruption could have a negative impact on our business.

We face certain security threats and technology disruptions, including threats to our information technology (“IT”) infrastructure, attempts
to gain access to our or our customers’ proprietary or classified information, threats of terrorism, and failures of our technology tools and
systems. Our IT networks and related systems are critical to the operation of our business and essential to our ability to successfully
perform day-to-day operations. We are also involved with IT systems for certain customers and other third parties, for which we face
similar security threats as for our own, in particular, the DoD. Cybersecurity threats—which include, but are not limited to, computer
viruses, ransomware, break-ins, sabotage, spyware, other malware, attempts to access information, denial of service attacks and other
electronic security breaches—are persistent and evolve quickly. In general, such threats have increased in
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frequency, scope and potential impact in recent years. Further, a variety of technological tools and systems, including both company-
owned IT and technological services provided by outside parties, support our critical functions. These technologies, as well as our
products, are subject to failure and the user’s inability to have such technologies properly supported, updated, expanded or integrated
into other technologies and, in certain cases, may contain open source and third-party software which may unbeknownst to us contain
defects or viruses that pose unintended risks. These risks could materially harm our business or reputation.

Threat actors (such as ransomware groups) are becoming increasingly sophisticated and using tools and techniques that are designed
to circumvent security controls, to evade detection and to remove or obfuscate forensic evidence. Our and our customers, suppliers and
other third-parties’ technology systems and networks may be damaged, disrupted, or compromised by malicious events, such as
cyberattacks (including computer viruses, ransomware, and other malicious and destructive code, phishing attacks, and denial of
service attacks), physical or electronic security breaches, natural disasters, fire, power loss, terrorism, war, telecommunications and
electrical failures, hacking, cyberattacks, phishing attacks and other social engineering schemes, employee theft or misuse, human
error, fraud, denial or degradation of service attacks, sophisticated nation-state and nation-state-supported actors or unauthorized
access or use by persons inside our organization, or persons with access to systems inside our organization. Such attacks or security
breaches may be perpetrated by internal bad actors, such as employees or contractors, or by third parties. Furthermore, because the
techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not identified until after they
are launched against a target, we and our customers, suppliers and other third parties may be unable to anticipate these techniques or
implement adequate preventative measures.

While we have implemented what we believe is an appropriate information security program with cybersecurity procedures, practices,
and controls, the control systems, cybersecurity program, infrastructure, physical facilities of, and personnel associated with the third
parties that we rely on are beyond our control and we cannot guarantee that our or our customers’, suppliers’ and other third parties’
systems and networks have not been breached or that they do not contain exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or
disruption to our systems and networks or the systems and networks of third parties that support us and our products and services. In
addition, there can be no assurance that actions we have taken to implement appropriate measures and controls will be sufficient to
prevent disruptions to critical systems, unauthorized release of confidential information or corruption of data. We may also experience
security breaches that may remain undetected for an extended period. Even if identified, we may be unable to adequately investigate or
remediate incidents or breaches due to attackers increasingly using tools and techniques that are designed to circumvent controls, to
avoid detection, and to remove or obfuscate forensic evidence. The security measures we have implemented may become subject to
third-party security breaches, employee error, malfeasance, faulty password management or other irregularities. For example, third
parties may attempt to fraudulently induce employees or customers into disclosing user names, passwords or other sensitive
information, which may in turn be used to access our IT systems. In the past, we have experienced immaterial breaches of our IT
systems, which we have sought to address through upgrades to our IT security systems. However, these security systems cannot
provide absolute security. To the extent we were to experience a breach of our systems and were unable to protect sensitive data, such
a breach could materially damage business partner and customer relationships, and curtail or otherwise impact the use of our IT
systems. Moreover, if a security breach of our IT systems affects our computer systems or results in the release of personally
identifiable or other sensitive information of customers, business partners, employees and other third parties, our reputation and brand
could be materially damaged, use of our products and services could decrease, and we could be exposed to a risk of loss, litigation and
potential liability. Further, as cyber threats continue to evolve, the Company may be required to expend significant resources to continue
to modify or enhance its protective measures or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. Additionally, the continuing
and evolving threat of cybersecurity attacks has resulted in evolving legal and compliance matters, including increased regulatory focus
on prevention, which could require the Company to expend significant additional resources to meet such requirements, which as a
result may also harm the Company’s reputation.

Any such cybersecurity event could require significant management attention and resources, negatively impact our reputation among
our customers and the public and challenge our eligibility for future work on sensitive or classified systems, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

The Company is subject to various laws and regulations. Changes to, or failure by the Company to comply with, these laws
and regulations could have a significant impact on the Company’s business and operations.

The aerospace industry is highly regulated by the U.S. government as well as other international agencies. The Company is subject to,

and must comply with, various laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the product-related and other regulations of the FAA
and the EASA, U.S. government procurement regulations, the rules and regulations of the SEC, and local, state, federal, and
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international tax codes, import and export controls and customs laws, employment and employment-related laws, environmental laws,
intellectual property laws, and consumer protection statutes. Although the Company has obtained approvals to install its products from
most foreign civil aviation authorities, including the European Union, United Kingdom and China, which require the Company to comply
with applicable aviation laws in such foreign jurisdictions, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain such
approvals in the future.

Failure to comply with all applicable laws could result in investigation and remediation costs to the Company and could adversely
impact the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Company. Failure to comply with applicable regulations could
also result in significant fines. In addition, new or more stringent governmental regulations may be adopted in the future, which may
require us to incur significant expenses to become compliant with new regulations in a timely manner.

In the performance of our contracts with the U.S. government, we operate in a highly regulated environment, and we are subject to
routine audits and reviews by the U.S. government and its agencies, such as the Defense Contract Audit Agency (‘DCCA”). These
agencies routinely review contract performance and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. Systems that are
subject to review include, but are not limited to, cybersecurity systems, accounting systems, and purchasing systems. Our supply chain
is also subject to some of the same government contractual obligations. The U.S. government may, if it deems appropriate conduct an
investigation into possible illegal or unethical activity in connection with these contracts. Investigations of this nature are common in the
defense industry, and lawsuits may result.

Exports and imports of certain of our products are subject to various export control, sanctions and import regulations and
may require authorization from regulatory agencies of the U.S. or other countries.

We must comply with various laws and regulations relating to the export and import of products, services and technology from and into
the U.S. and other countries having jurisdiction over our operations. In the U.S., these laws and regulations include, among others, the
Export Administration Regulations (EAR) administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce, the International Traffic in Arms
Regulations (ITAR) administered by the U.S. Department of State, embargoes and sanctions regulations administered by the U.S.
Department of the Treasury, and import regulations administered by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and the U.S.
Department of Justice. Certain of our products, services and technologies have military or strategic applications and are on the U.S.
Munitions List of the ITAR, the Commerce Control List of the EAR or are otherwise subject to the EAR, and/or the U.S. Munitions Import
List and we are required to obtain licenses and authorizations from the appropriate U.S. government agencies before selling these
products outside of the U.S. or importing these products into the U.S. U.S. foreign policy or foreign policy of other licensing jurisdictions
may affect the licensing process or otherwise prevent us from engaging in business dealings with certain individuals, entities or
countries. Any failure by us, our customers or our suppliers to comply with these laws and regulations could result in civil or criminal
penalties, fines, seizure of our products, adverse publicity, restrictions on our ability to export or import our products, or the suspension
or debarment from doing business with the U.S. government. Moreover, any changes in export control, sanctions or import regulations
may further restrict the export or import of our products or services, and the possibility of such changes requires constant monitoring to
ensure we remain compliant. Our ability to obtain required licenses and authorizations on a timely basis or at all is subject to risks and
uncertainties, including changing U.S. government laws, regulations or foreign policies, delays in Congressional action, or geopolitical
and other factors. If we are not successful in obtaining or maintaining the necessary licenses or authorizations in a timely manner, our
sales relating to those approvals may be prevented or delayed, and revenue and profit previously recognized may be reversed. Any
restrictions on the export or import of our products or product lines could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Litigation with customers, employees and others could harm our reputation and impact operating results.

In the ordinary course of business, we may be involved in lawsuits and regulatory actions with customers, employees and others.
These actions may involve claims for, among other things, compensation for alleged personal injury and product liability claims.
Additionally, we may be subject to employment-related claims alleging discrimination, harassment, wrongful termination and wage
issues, including those relating to overtime compensation. We are susceptible to claims filed by customers alleging responsibility for
breaches of contract or from product defects, and we are also subject to lawsuits filed by patent holders alleging patent infringement.
These types of claims, as well as other types of lawsuits to which we are subject from time to time, can distract management’s attention
from core business operations and impact operating results, particularly if a lawsuit results in an unfavorable outcome, or could harm
the Company'’s reputation with customers, employees, investors and others.

23




Table of Contents

Tax changes could affect the Company’s effective tax rate and future profitability.

The Company’s future results could be negatively affected by changes in the effective tax rate due to changes in the Company’s
overall profitability, changes to statutory tax rates in the U.S. and in other jurisdictions, changes in tax legislation, and the results of
audits and examinations of previously filed tax returns. In addition, adverse changes in the underlying profitability and financial outlook
of our operations or future changes in tax law could lead to changes in the value of tax assets or liabilities that we currently or in the
future may hold, which could materially affect our results of operations. Further, the nature and impact of any future changes to tax law,
and the resulting impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations, are uncertain.

Tariffs and other trade policies could have a substantial impact on our business.

The Company’s business is dependent upon the availability of raw materials and components for assembly. U.S. relations with the rest
of the world remains uncertain with respect to taxes, trade policies and tariffs, especially as the political landscape changes due to the
recent U.S. presidential and congressional elections. Changes in U.S. administrative policy may lead to significant increases in tariffs
for imported goods among other possible changes. President-elect Donald Trump has indicated that his administration is likely to
impose significant tariffs on imported goods. The imposition of such tariffs may strain international trade relations and increase the risk
that foreign governments implement retaliatory tariffs on goods imported from the United States. Similarly, interest rates may continue
to rise and create further uncertainty and volatility in the market which would negatively impact our business, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, the potential exists that other countries may impose retaliatory tariffs, which could adversely affect the
Company'’s sales to those countries.

These political and economic changes could have a material effect on global economic conditions and the stability of financial markets
and could significantly reduce global trade. In addition to potential increases on tariffs, wars or conflicts could affect our ability to obtain
raw materials. Ongoing and future conflicts and other geopolitical events may result in sanctions or other export controls imposed by
the U.S. or United Nations.

As the Company plans to increase its sales in international markets, any such international instability and reduction in global trade
could negatively impact the Company’s expansion plans and international sales. Such risks may also affect our customers’ budgets and
their policies which may adversely affect our sales revenue.

If the Company fails to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, it may not be able to
accurately report its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, which may adversely affect investor confidence
in the Company and, as a result, the value of the Company’s common stock.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that the Company maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Company is required to furnish a report by
management on, among other things, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. This assessment
must include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by management in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting
that results in more than a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Although the Company is not currently required to provide an attestation from its auditors on
the effectiveness of the Company'’s internal control over financial reporting, it may become subject to such requirement in the future.

The Company’s compliance with Section 404 requires that it compile the system and process documentation necessary to perform an
appropriate evaluation. During the evaluation and testing process, if the Company identifies one or more material weaknesses in its
internal control over financial reporting, it will be unable to assert that its internal control over financial reporting is effective. The
Company cannot assure you that there will not be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in its internal control over financial
reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit the Company’s ability to
accurately report its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If the Company is unable to conclude that its internal control
over financial reporting is effective, or if its independent registered public accounting firm determines the Company has a material
weakness or significant deficiency in its internal control over financial reporting once that firm begin its reviews, the Company could lose
investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of its financial reports, the market price of its common stock could decline, and it
could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdag, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material
weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems
required of public companies, could also restrict the Company’s future access to the capital markets.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock, Capital Markets and Indebtedness
Our common stock may be affected by limited trading volume and may fluctuate significantly.

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaqg Global Select Market. Although an active trading market has developed for our common
stock, there can be no assurance that an active trading market for our common stock will be sustained. Failure to maintain an active
trading market for our common stock may adversely affect our shareholders’ ability to sell our common stock in short time periods, or at
all. Our common stock has experienced, and may experience in the future, significant price and volume fluctuations, which could
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Our common stock has experienced and may continue to experience price fluctuations, which could cause you to lose a
significant portion of your investment and interfere with our efforts to grow our business.

Stock markets are subject to significant price fluctuations that may be unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies,
and accordingly the market price of our common stock may change frequently and by large margins. In addition, the market price of our
common stock has fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate substantially due to a variety of other factors. Possible exogenous incidents
and trends may also impact the capital markets generally and our common stock prices specifically. For example, the war in the Middle
East and the war between Russia and Ukraine and resulting economic sanctions imposed by many countries on Russia have led to
disruption, instability and volatility in the U.S. and global markets and industries and are expected to have a negative impact on the U.S.
and broader global economies. The timing of your purchase and sale of our common stock relative to fluctuations in its trading price
may result in you losing a significant portion of your investment.

Because we do not intend to declare cash dividends on our shares of common stock in the foreseeable future, shareholders
must rely on appreciation of the value of our common stock for any return on their investment.

We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not
anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of any future debt agreements may
preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, we expect that only appreciation of the price of our common stock, if any, will provide a
return to investors in this offering for the foreseeable future.

Volatility and weakness in capital markets may adversely affect credit availability and related financing costs, which could
adversely affect the Company.

Bank and capital markets can experience periods of volatility and disruption which may adversely affect our ability to access the capital
markets as needed. The general economic conditions in the U.S. and abroad is uncertain and historically has been negative. There can
be no assurance that market conditions will improve.

Further, companies in the transportation industry and sales in the commercial airline markets historically have been negatively impacted
by poor economic conditions. In the past, these sales have been affected by airline profitability, which is impacted by, among other
things, fuel and labor costs, price competition, interest rates, downturns in the global economy and national and international events.
Furthermore, because of the lengthy research and development cycle involved in bringing new products to market, we cannot predict
the economic conditions that will exist when a new product is introduced. A reduction in capital spending in the aviation or defense
industries could have a significant effect on the demand for our products, which could have an adverse effect on our financial
performance or results of operations.

During these periods of volatility and disruption, additional risks to the Company include:

» declines in revenues and profitability from reduced orders, payment delays or other factors caused by the economic problems of
customers;

* reprioritization of government spending away from defense programs in which the Company participates;
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» reduced access to credit sources and ability to raise capital; and
 disruptions in supplies or increased supply prices associated with any financial constraints faced by vendors.

Such volatility in the market may also negatively impact our customers and suppliers’ ability to raise capital or obtain credit to continue
operating. Such conditions may negatively impact the demand and production of our products, which can adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

There are risks associated with our outstanding and future indebtedness.

The Company has indebtedness pursuant to loan agreements and lines of credit with PNC Bank, National Association, and may pursue
additional sources of credit or borrowed money in the future under these existing credit facilities and/or enter into new financing
arrangements. We may fail to pay these or additional future obligations, as and when required. Specifically, if we are unable to generate
sufficient cash flows from operations or borrow sufficient funds in the future to service or refinance our debt, our business, financial
condition and results of operations will be harmed. Any downgrades from credit rating agencies such as Moody'’s Investors Service or
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services may adversely impact our ability to obtain additional financing or the terms of such financing and
reduce the market capacity for our commercial paper. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors result in higher interest
rates upon any potential future financing, then interest expense related to the refinance indebtedness would increase.

In addition, all the agreements governing our indebtedness subject us to continued compliance with certain financial and negative
covenants. The Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants throughout and at September 30, 2024. A breach of any of
our covenants under our operative agreements could result in a default under such an agreement. If any such default occurs, we may
be required to refinance all or part of our debt, sell strategic assets at unfavorable prices, incur additional indebtedness or issue
common stock or other equity securities. Additionally, if we default under our secured loan agreements, the lenders thereunder will
have a right to proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure the debt, which includes available cash. In such a
circumstance, we may not have sufficient assets to repay our debt in full. We may also not be able to, at any given time, refinance our
debt, sell assets, incur additional indebtedness or issue equity securities on terms acceptable to us, in amounts sufficient to meet our
needs. If we are able to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity securities, such issuance would also result in dilution to
our shareholders. Our inability to service our obligations or refinance our debt could have a material and adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None
Item 1C. Cybersecurity.

Safeguarding the Company'’s information technology (“IT”) systems, intellectual property, and the confidential information and personal
data that customers, suppliers, business partners, employees and others share is a critical concern. As such, the Company has
processes in place to assess, identify, and manage material cybersecurity threats and incidents. The Company’s cybersecurity strategy
includes policies, procedures, and technology that proactively safeguard its operations against cybersecurity threats. The Company
utilizes IT that enables its team to access both operational and financial performance data in real time, while, at the same time,
identifying and preventing cybersecurity threats and risks. The Company aims to incorporate industry best practices throughout its
cybersecurity processes and its cybersecurity framework leverages internationally recognized standards. These processes incorporate
preventative, detective and corrective controls to identify relevant cyber risks and include network and endpoint protection technologies
that are designed to block and detect security events at the perimeter and within its network as well as evaluation and monitoring of
detected security events. The Company continuously monitors activity, frequently scans applications and systems for vulnerabilities to
risk from cybersecurity threats. Continuous monitoring of the Company’s networks and systems for threats and vulnerabilities is a key
component of the Company’s strategy, supported by the analysis of threat intelligence from external sources. This multi-layered
approach enables early detection and facilitates prompt response to potential cybersecurity threats.

Management reviews the Company’s IT, data security and other systems, processes, policies, procedures and controls at least
annually to (a) identify, assess, monitor and mitigate cybersecurity risks; and (b) identify measures to protect and safeguard against
cybersecurity threats and breaches of confidential information and data and IT infrastructure and its other assets or assets of its
customers or other third parties in the Company’s possession or custody.
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The Company has not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that
have materially affected it or are reasonably likely to materially affect it, including its operations, business strategy, results of operations,
or financial condition.

The Company’s management supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents through
various means, which may include briefings from internal security personnel; threat intelligence and other information obtained from
governmental, public or private sources, including external consultants engaged by it; and alerts and reports produced by security tools
deployed in the IT environment.

Item 2. Properties.

In fiscal year 2001, the Company purchased 7.5 acres of land in the Eagleview Corporate Park in Exton, Pennsylvania. Shortly
thereafter, the Company constructed a 45,000 square foot design, manufacturing and office facility on this site. Land development
approval allows for expansion of up to 20,400 square feet. Such expansion would provide for a 65,400 square foot facility which the
Company believes is adequate to meet the needs of the Company for the foreseeable future. We are currently making additional
investments in our Exton facility to expand capacity.

The Company leased two separate hangars to house the Company’s airplanes in New Castle County, Delaware under month-to-month
leases. One hangar lease expired with the sale of the Pilatus PC-12 airplane during the quarter ended September 30, 2022. The
annual lease expense for both hangars was approximately $52,000. On November 30, 2023, the Company sold its King Air aircraft and
cancelled the remaining month-to-month hangar lease.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is at times subject to various legal proceedings and claims. The Company does not
believe any such matters that are currently pending will, individually or in the aggregate, have a material effect on the results of
operations or financial position.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.

PART I
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information

The Company’s common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market® tier of the Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC under the
symbol “ISSC” since its initial public offering on August 4, 2000.

Holders of Common Stock

As of December 13, 2024, there were approximately nine registered holders of the Company’s common stock. A substantially greater
number of holders of the Company’s common stock are beneficial holders, whose shares of record are held by banks, brokers and other
financial institutions in “street name.”

Dividends

The Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) previously declared special cash dividends in the amount of $0.65 per share in fiscal
year 2020 and $0.50 per share in fiscal year 2021. The Company did not pay cash dividends in fiscal years 2022, 2023 and 2024. The
Company intends to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the development and growth of its business and does not anticipate paying
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any dividend in the future will be at the discretion of the
Board and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our operating results, financial condition, business prospects and other
factors the Board may deem relevant.

27




Table of Contents

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

The following tables present portions of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. The following selected consolidated financial
data set forth below should be read together with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes to the consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere
herein. The selected statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and the balance
sheet data as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 are derived from the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended September 30,
2021 and 2020 and the balance sheet data as of September 30, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are extracted from the Company’s audited
consolidated financial statements that are not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Statements of Operations Data:

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Research and development

Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses

Operating income

Interest expense

Interest income

Other income

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Net Income

Net income per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Cash dividends declared per common share

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Working capital

Total assets

Total shareholders’ equity

Fiscal year ended September 30,
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2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
$47,198,020 $34,808,513 $27,740,695 $23,044,796 $21,595,199
21,284,429 13,497,442 11,066,314 10,263,166 9,793,224
25,913,591 21,311,071 16,674,381 12,781,630 11,801,975
4,137,985 3,129,518 2,705,140 2,622,919 2,955,976
12,114,069 10,822,505 6,753,915 6,257,732 6,100,545
16,252,054 13,952,023 9,459,055 8,880,651 9,056,521
9,661,537 7,359,048 7,215,326 3,900,979 2,745,454
(937,309) (393,281) — — —
127,332 518,188 61,051 1,234 154,950
— 151,317 65,232 74,906 60,497
8,851,560 7,635,272 7,341,609 3,977,119 2,960,901
1,853,180 1,607,517 1,817,831 (1,087,783) (308,882)
$ 6,998,380 $ 6,027,755 $ 5,523,778 $ 5,064,902 $ 3,269,783
$ 040 $ 035 $ 032 $ 029 $ 0.19
$ 040 $ 035 $ 032 $ 029 $ 0.19
$ — 3 — — % 050 $ 0.65
17,459,823 17,411,684 17,256,750 17,225,423 16,939,302
17,480,247 17,419,185 17,257,871 17,226,620 17,114,191

As of September 30,

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
$ 538977 $ 3,097,193 $17,250,546 $ 8,265,606 $ 12,603,967
— — — — 11,180,900
27,420,444 28,274,744 24,262,016 15,218,172 19,473,305
82,382,261 62,957,451 34,705,323 27,086,000 41,545,837
46,638,655 38,636,984 30,749,955 24,585,081 27,769,031
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Objective

The following discussion provides an analysis of the Company’s financial condition, cash flows and results of operations from
management’s perspective and should be read in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and the consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our objective is to also provide discussion of
events and uncertainties known to management that are reasonably likely to cause reported financial information not to be indicative of
future operating results or of future financial condition and to offer information that provides understanding of our financial condition,
cash flows and results of operations.

Overview

The Company was incorporated in Pennsylvania on February 12, 1988. The Company operates in one business segment as a systems
integrator that designs, develops, manufactures, sells and services, air data equipment, engine display systems, standby equipment,
primary flight guidance, autothrottles and cockpit display systems for retrofit applications and OEMs. The Company supplies integrated
FMS, FPDS, FPDS with autothrottle, air data equipment, integrated standby units, integrated standby units with autothrottle and
advanced GPS receivers that enable reduced carbon footprint navigation, communication and navigation products and inertial
reference units.

The Company has continued to position itself as a system integrator, which provides the Company with the capability and potential to
generate more substantive orders over a broader product base. This strategy, as both a manufacturer and integrator, is designed to
leverage the latest technologies developed for the computer and telecommunications industries into advanced and cost-effective
solutions for the general aviation, commercial air transport, the DoD/governmental and foreign military markets. This approach,
combined with the Company’s industry experience, is designed to enable the Company to develop high-quality products and systems,
to reduce product time to market and to achieve cost advantages over products offered by its competitors.

The Company sells to both the OEM and the retrofit markets. Customers include various OEMs, commercial air transport carriers and
corporate/general aviation companies, the DoD and its commercial contractors, aircraft operators, aircraft modification centers,
government agencies and foreign militaries. Occasionally, the Company sells its products directly to the DoD; however, the Company
sells its products primarily to commercial customers for end use in DoD programs. Sales to defense contractors are generally made on
commercial terms, although some of the termination and other provisions of government contracts are applicable to these contracts.
The Company'’s retrofit projects are generally pursuant to either a direct contract with a customer or a subcontract with a general
contractor to a customer (including government agencies).

In June 2023, the Company entered into the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement with Honeywell pursuant to which Honeywell sold,
assigned or licensed certain assets related to its inertial, communication and navigation product lines, including a sale of certain
inventory, equipment and customer-related documents, an assignment of certain contracts and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive
licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its inertial, communication and navigation product lines to repair,
overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to the Company for cash consideration of $35.9 million.

In July 2024, the Company entered into the July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition, an exclusive license agreement and acquired
additional key assets for certain communication and navigation product lines from Honeywell. This transaction complements the
previous Honeywell license and asset acquisition completed in June 2023. Total consideration was $4.2 million in cash.

On September 27, 2024, the Company entered into the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement with Honeywell, pursuant to which
Honeywell sold, assigned or licensed certain assets related to its various generations of military display generators and flight control
computers, including a sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-related documents; an assignment of certain contracts; and a
grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its various generations of military
display generators and flight control computers to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to
the Company for consideration of $14.2 million in cash.

The exclusive licensing of these product lines from Honeywell is a unique opportunity for the Company to enhance its current offerings
in the air transport, military and business aviation markets. In addition, there are potential cost synergies from better utilization of the
Company'’s skilled engineering team and its existing operational capacity. The Company believes that each of the June 2023 Honeywell
Agreement, the July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition and the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement will
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help to accelerate the Company’s growth and enhance its global reputation for delivering some of the industry’s best price-for-
performance product and service solutions.

Cost of sales related to product and service sales comprises materials, components and third-party avionics purchased from suppliers,
direct labor and overhead costs. Many of the components are standard, although certain parts are manufactured to meet the
Company'’s specifications. The overhead portion of Cost of sales primarily comprises salaries and benefits, building occupancy costs,
supplies and outside service costs related to production, purchasing, material control and quality control. Cost of sales also includes
warranty costs.

Cost of sales related to EDC sales comprises engineering labor, consulting services and other costs associated with specific design
and development projects. These costs are incurred pursuant to contractual arrangements and are accounted for typically as contract
costs within Cost of sales, with reimbursement accounted for as a sale in accordance with the percentage-of-completion method or
completed contract method of accounting. Company funded R&D expenditures relate to internally-funded efforts for the development of
new products and the improvement of existing products. These costs are expensed as incurred and reported as R&D expenses. The
Company intends to continue investing in the development of new products that complement current product offerings and to expense
associated R&D costs as they are incurred.

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A") expenses consist of sales, marketing, business development, professional services,
salaries and benefits for executive and administrative personnel, facility costs, recruiting, legal, accounting and other general corporate
expenses.

The Company sells its products to agencies of the United States and foreign governments, aircraft operators, aircraft modification
centers and OEMs. Customers have been and may continue to be affected by changes in economic conditions both in the United
States and abroad. Such changes may cause customers to curtail or delay their spending on both new and existing aircraft. Factors
that can impact general economic conditions and the level of spending by customers include, but are not limited to, general levels of
consumer spending, increases in fuel and energy costs, conditions in the real estate and mortgage markets, labor and healthcare costs,
access to credit, consumer confidence, inflation, public health crises and pandemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic, and other
macroeconomic factors that affect spending behavior. Furthermore, spending by government agencies may be reduced in the future. If
customers curtail or delay their spending or are forced to declare bankruptcy or liquidate their operations because of adverse economic
conditions, the Company’s revenues and results of operations would be affected adversely. For example, in the 2020 fiscal year,
certain of the Company’s customers temporarily suspended product deliveries as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, and while these
deliveries subsequently resumed, there is a possibility that the COVID-19 or similar pandemics will result in other suspensions, delays
or order cancellations by the Company’s customers or suppliers.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of total Net sales for the fiscal years indicated:

Net sales:
Product
Services

Total net sales

Cost of sales:
Product

Services
Total cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Interest expense

Interest income

Other income

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Twelve Months Ending September 30,

2024 2023 2022

51.4 % 64.9 % 80.7 %
48.6 % 35.1 % 19.3 %
100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
22.4 % 27.9% 33.9%
22.6 % 10.9 % 6.0 %
45.0 % 38.7 % 39.9 %
55.0 % 61.3 % 60.1 %
8.8 % 9.0 % 9.8 %
25.6 % 31.1% 24.3%
34.4 % 40.1 % 34.1%
20.6 % 212 % 26.0 %
(2.0)% (1.1)% 0.0 %
0.3 % 15 % 0.2 %
— % 0.4 % 0.2 %
18.9 % 22.0 % 26.4 %
3.9% 4.6 % 6.5 %
14.9 % 17.4 % 19.9 %
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023

Historically, the Company presented Customer service and Engineering and development contracts Net Sales and Cost of sales
separately on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Company has
aggregated these items into one category, “Services” and reclassified Customer service and Engineering and development contracts
revenues as well as Cost of sales to conform the presentation of the Consolidated Statements of Operations for fiscal years ended
September 30, 2023, and 2022. See Footnote 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, (“Reclassifications ™) for additional
information.

Net sales. Net sales in fiscal year 2024 increased $12.4 million, or 36.0%, to $47.2 million from $34.8 million in fiscal year 2023. The
increase in Net sales was driven by a 7% increase or $1.7 million in product sales. The increase in product sales was related to
increases in business aviation sales of $1.5 million and an increase of $0.5 million in defense sales, offset by a decline in commercial
air transport sales of $0.3 million. The increase in business aviation sales was driven by increase in demand to support aircraft
production. The increase in defense sales was primarily driven by increased market demand for our products. The decrease in
commercial air transport was primarily due to the decline that occurred during the first half of fiscal year 2024. We began to experience
a recovery in commercial air transport demand during the second half of 2024. Services sales in fiscal year 2024 increased $10.7
million, or 87.6%, compared to fiscal year 2023. The increase in service sales primarily reflects customer service sales of $9.7 million
due to sales from the product lines acquired from Honeywell, which included a $1.7 million true-up payment from Honeywell for services
performed by third parties, primarily offset by a $0.3 million decrease in legacy customer service.

Cost of sales. Cost of sales was $21.3 million, or 45.0% of Net sales, in fiscal year 2024 compared to $13.5 million, or 38.7% of Net
sales, in fiscal year 2023. The increase in Cost of sales was primarily the result of an increase in Services sales volume. The
Company'’s overall gross margin in fiscal year 2024 was 55.0% compared to 61.3% in fiscal year 2023. The decrease in overall gross
margin percentage for fiscal year 2024 is primarily the result of changes in product mix, increased depreciation and cost inefficiencies
due to hiring and training of additional personnel and other integration costs.

Research and development. R&D expenses were $4.1 million in fiscal year 2024 and $3.1 million in fiscal year 2023. The increase in
R&D expense was due to higher salaries and benefits due to higher headcount. As a percentage of Net sales, R&D expense decreased
slightly to 8.8% of Net sales for fiscal year 2024 compared to 9.0% for fiscal year 2023.

Selling, general, and administrative. SG&A expenses increased $1.3 million or 11.9%, to $12.1 million from $10.8 million in fiscal year
2023. The increase in SG&A expense in fiscal year 2024 was primarily the result of increases in consulting and legal fees of $0.9
million primarily due to acquisition related expenses and increased costs of $0.6 million as a result of the recruitment of a new CFO and
other corporate initiatives. In addition, the Company incurred amortization expense of $1,191,361 related to the customer relationships
intangible asset resulting from the combined acquisitions. These increases were partially offset by a $162,000 gain from the sale of the
Company’s King Air aircraft. As a percentage of Net sales, selling, general and administrative expenses were 25.6% in fiscal year 2024
compared to 31.1% for fiscal year 2023.

Interest income. Interest income of $0.1 million in fiscal year 2024 decreased by $0.4 million as compared to interest income in fiscal
year 2023 of $0.5 million. The decrease in interest income was primarily the result of the decrease in the average cash balance in fiscal
year 2024 and a general decrease in interest rates as compared to fiscal year 2023.

Other income. Other income was $0.2 million in fiscal year 2023. The Company did not have any other income for fiscal year 2024.
Income taxes. Income tax expense was $1.9. million in fiscal year 2024 as compared to income tax expense of $1.6 million in fiscal year
2023. The effective tax rate in fiscal year 2024 was 20.9% as compared to 21.1% in fiscal year 2023. The increase in income tax
expense was primarily due to an increase in earnings in fiscal year 2024.

Net income. As a result of the factors described above, the Company’s net income in fiscal year 2024 was $7.0 million compared to net

income of $6.0 million in fiscal year 2023. On a fully diluted basis, net income per share was $0.40 in fiscal year 2024, compared to a
net income of $0.35 per share in fiscal year 2023.
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2023 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2022

Net sales. Net sales in fiscal year 2023 increased $7.1 million, or 25.5%, to $34.8 million from $27.7 million in fiscal year 2022. Product
sales in fiscal year 2023 increased $0.2 million compared to fiscal year 2022. Services sales in fiscal year 2023 increased $6.9 million,
or 128.8%, compared to fiscal year 2022.

EDC sales increased $0.7 million, or 146.8% compared to fiscal year 2022, reflecting increased EDC business. Customer service sales
increased $6.2 million, or 127.2% from fiscal year 2022. The increase in customer service sales primarily reflects customer service
sales of $5.8 million due to the Honeywell Agreement. The increase in product sales primarily reflects increased shipments of displays
to general aviation customers and commercial transport customers of $0.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively. Military product sales
decreased $1.1 million due to reduced business volume.

Cost of sales. Cost of sales was $13.5 million, or 38.7% of Net sales, in fiscal year 2023 compared to $11.1 million, or 39.9% of Net
sales, in fiscal year 2022. The increase in Cost of sales was primarily the result of an increase in customer service sales volume. The
Company’s overall gross margin in fiscal year 2023 was 61.3% compared to 60.1% in fiscal year 2022. The fiscal year 2023 gross
margin percentage increase was primarily attributable to increased customer service sales that typically generate higher gross margins
than manufactured products.

Research and development. R&D expenses were $3.1 million in fiscal year 2023 and $2.7 million in fiscal year 2022. R&D expense
decreased to 9.0% of Net sales in fiscal year 2023 compared to 9.8% of net sales in fiscal year 2022. The increase in R&D expense
resulted primarily from increased personnel and related benefits, offset by the increase of EDC contract activity whose costs are
reflected in cost of sales rather than R&D expense.

Selling, general, and administrative. SG&A expenses increased $4.0 million or 60.2%, to $10.8 million from $6.8 million in fiscal year
2022. SG&A expenses in fiscal year 2022 were reduced by inclusion of a gain of $1.2 million from the sale of the PC-12 aircraft. The
increase in SG&A expense in fiscal year 2023 was primarily the result of increased stock-based compensation expense and legal fees,
professional fees, audit fees and amortization expense primarily related to the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement and increased board of
director fees.

Interest income. Interest income of $0.5 million in fiscal year 2023 increased by $0.4 million as compared to interest income in fiscal
year 2022 of $0.1 million. The increase in interest income was primarily the result of the increase in the average cash balance in fiscal
year 2023 and a general increase in interest rates as compared to fiscal year 2022.

Other income. Other income was $0.2 million in fiscal year 2023, an increase of $0.1 million from fiscal year 2022.

Income taxes. Income tax expense was $1.6 million in fiscal year 2023 as compared to income tax expense of $1.8 million in fiscal year
2022. The effective tax rate in fiscal year 2023 was 21.1% as compared to 24.8% in fiscal year 2022. The higher tax and effective tax
rate in fiscal year 2022 as compared to fiscal year 2023 primarily reflects higher state tax due to tax on the gain from the sale of the PC-
12 aircraft.

Net income. As a result of the factors described above, the Company’s net income for fiscal year 2023 was $6.0 million compared to

net income of $5.5 million for fiscal year 2022. On a fully diluted basis, net income per share was $0.35 for fiscal year 2023, compared
to a net income of $0.32 per share for fiscal year 2022.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

The following table highlights key financial measurements of the Company:

As of As of
September 30, September 30,
2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalents $ 538,977 $ 3,097,193
Accounts receivable $ 12,612,482 $ 9,743,714
Current assets $ 34,685,698 $ 34,673,703
Current liabilities $ 7,265,254 $ 6,398,959
Contract liability $ 340,481 $ 143,359
Other non-current liabilities $ 28,478,352 $ 17,921,508
Quick ratio (1) 1.81 2.01
Current ratio () 4.77 5.42

Twelve Months Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022
Cash flow activities:
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5,796,222  $ 2,096,174 $ 6,094,440
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (16,881,440) (36,158,373) 2,589,346
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,527,002 19,908,846 301,154

(1) Calculated as: the sum of cash and cash equivalents plus accounts receivable, net, divided by current liabilities
(2) Calculated as: current assets divided by current liabilities

The Company'’s principal source of liquidity has been cash flows from current year operations and cash accumulated from prior years’
operations, supplemented with our revolving credit facility. Cash is used principally to finance inventory, accounts receivable, contract
assets, payroll, debt service and acquisitions, as well as the Company’s known contractual and other commitments (including those
described in Note 19, “Leases”). The Company’s existing cash balances and anticipated cash flows from operations, together with
borrowings under our revolving credit facility, are expected to be adequate to satisfy the Company’s liquidity needs for at least the next
12 months. Apart from what has been disclosed in this Management's Discussion and Analysis, management is not aware of any
trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are likely to have a material impact on our liquidity, financial condition and capital
resources.

The declaration and payment of any dividend in the future will be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors.
Debt Facility

In connection with the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement, the Company entered into a term loan with PNC Bank, National Association
for $20.0 million to fund a portion of the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement. Refer to Note 20, “Loan Agreement” for further details. In
addition to providing for the Term Loan, The Loan Agreement, together with a corresponding Line of Credit Note in favor of PNC,
executed on May 11, 2023, provides for the senior secured Revolving Line of Credit in an aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000,
with an expiration date of May 11, 2028.

On December 19, 2023, the Company and PNC entered into an Amendment to the Loan (the “Restated Loan Amendment”) and a
corresponding Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit Note (“Restated Line of Credit Note”) and Amended and Restated Line
of Credit and Investment Sweep Rider (the “Restated Rider”), to increase the aggregate principal amount available under the
Company'’s senior secured revolving line of credit from $10,000,000 to $30,000,000 and extend the maturity date until December 19,
2028. The proceeds of the Restated Line of Credit Note will be used for working capital and other general corporate purposes, for
acquisitions as permitted under the Restated Loan Amendments and to pay off and close the loan evidenced by that certain Term Note
executed in favor of PNC, dated June 28, 2023, which provided for a senior secured term loan in aggregate principal amount of
$20,000,000, with a maturity date of June 28, 2028.
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On September 30, 2024, in connection with the July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition and the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement,
the Company and one of its subsidiaries, Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, entered into an Amendment to Loan Documents (the
“2024 Loan Amendment”) with PNC, which amends certain terms of the Loan Agreement to increase the line of credit with PNC.
Concurrently with the 2024 Loan Amendment, the Company entered into (i) an Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit Note in
favor of PNC (the “A&R Revolving Line of Credit Note”), and (ii) an Amended and Restated Line of Credit and Investment Sweep Rider
with PNC (the “A&R Rider”). The A&R Revolving Line of Credit Note provides for a senior secured revolving line of credit in an
aggregate principal amount of $35,000,000, with an expiration date of December 19, 2028 (the “Revolving Line of Credit”). The interest
rate applicable to loans outstanding under the Revolving Line of Credit is a rate per annum equal to the sum of (A) Daily SOFR (as
defined in the A&R Revolving Line of Credit Note) plus (B) an unadjusted spread of the Applicable SOFR Margin plus (C) a SOFR
adjustment of ten basis points. The Applicable SOFR Margin ranges from 1.5% to 2.5% depending on the Company'’s funded debt to
EBITDA ratio, as defined in the A&R Revolving Line of Credit Note. The A&R Rider provides for how PNC will make advances to the
Company under the Revolving Line of Credit.

Stifel Sales Agreement

On September 22, 2023, the Company entered into an at-the-market equity offering Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”)
with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (the “Sales Agent”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell from time to time
through the Sales Agent up to $40 million of shares of its common stock. The shares will be offered and sold pursuant to the
Company'’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-267595), which was declared effective by the SEC on October 14,
2022. The Company filed a prospectus supplement, dated September 22, 2023, with the SEC in connection with the offer and sale of
the shares. Subject to the terms and conditions of the ATM Sales Agreement, the Sales Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts
to sell shares of the Company’s common stock from time to time, based upon the Company’s instructions. The Company is not
obligated to sell any shares under the ATM Sales Agreement, and the Company or the Sales Agent may at any time suspend
solicitation and offers under the ATM Sales Agreement or terminate the ATM Sales Agreement. The Company has provided the Sales
Agent with customary indemnification rights, and the Sales Agent will be entitled to compensation for its services of up to 3.0% of the
gross sales price per share of the shares of the Company’s common stock sold through the Sales Agent. Sales of the shares of the
Company’s common stock, if any, under the ATM Sales Agreement may be made in transactions that are deemed to be “at the market
offerings” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act, including sales made directly on or through Nasdaq or any other existing
trading market for the Company’s common stock, in hegotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices
related to such prevailing market prices and/or any other method permitted by law.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, we did not sell any shares of common stock under the ATM Sales Agreement.
Future Funding Requirements

The Company'’s existing cash balances, anticipated cash flows from operations and current banking facility are expected to be
adequate to satisfy the Company’s liquidity needs for at least the next 12 months.

Apart from what has been disclosed above, management is not aware of any trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are likely
to have a material impact on our liquidity, financial condition and capital resources.

The Company did not pay cash dividends in fiscal years 2023 or 2024. The Company intends to retain future earnings, if any, to finance
the development and growth of its business and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
declaration and payment of any dividend in the future will be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend on
then-existing conditions, including our operating results, financial condition, business prospects and other factors the Board may deem
relevant.
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Operating Activities

The Company generated $5.8 million of cash from operating activities during fiscal year 2024, as compared to cash generated of $2.1
million during fiscal year 2023. The cash generated by operating activities for the year ended September 30, 2024 was primarily
generated by net income of $7.0 million, an increase in non-cash compensation expenses for stock options and stock awards of $0.3
million and $0.7 million, respectively, and depreciation and amortization expense of $2.1 million. Changes is certain other working
capital accounts drove the remainder of the increase for fiscal year 2024.

The Company generated $2.1 million of cash in operating activities during fiscal year 2023, as compared to cash generated of $6.1
million during fiscal year 2022. The cash generated by operating activities for the year ended September 30, 2023 was primarily
generated by net income of $6.0 million, increase in non-cash compensation expenses for stock options and stock awards of $0.8
million and $0.7 million, respectively, and depreciation and amortization expense of $0.7 million, partially offset by increases to accounts
receivable of $5.4 million and inventories of $0.8 million.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $16.8 million for fiscal year 2024 and was primarily due to the $14.2 million acquisition of various
generations of military display generators and flight control computers in September 2024 and the $4.2 million acquisitions of certain
additional assets related to the Company’s communication and navigation product lines in July of 2024. In addition, the Company spent
$0.7 million for the purchases of property and equipment, partially offset by proceeds of $2.2 million from the sale of the Company’s
King Air aircraft. The Company plans to continue investing in capital equipment to support engineering development efforts and
operations.

Cash used in investing activities was $36.2 million for fiscal year 2023. On June 30, 2023, the Company entered into the Honeywell
Agreement with Honeywell for cash consideration of $35.9 million whereby Honeywell sold the Company certain assets and granted
perpetual license rights to manufacture and sell licensed products related to its inertial, communication and navigation product lines to
the Company. The 2023 Transaction involved a sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-related documents; an assignment
of certain customer contracts; and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related
to its inertial, communication and navigation product lines to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain
products to the Company. The 2023 Transaction enhances the Company’s current offerings in the air transport, military and business
aviation markets. In addition, there are potential cost synergies from better utilization of the Company’s skilled engineering team and its
existing operational capacity. The Company believes this agreement can help to accelerate the Company’s growth and enhance its
global reputation for delivering some of the industry’s best price-for-performance value propositions. In addition, the Company spent
$0.3 million for the purchase of test equipment and computer hardware.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $8.5 million for the fiscal year 2024 and consisted of $43.8 million in payments against the
Company’s line of credit offset by $52.3 million in additional borrowings used to fund the Company’s fiscal year 2024 acquisitions.

Cash provided by financing activities was $19.9 million for fiscal year 2023 and primarily consisted of proceeds from the Term Loan with
PNC for $20.0 million to fund a portion of the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement, proceeds from the exercise of stock options for $0.4
million and the paydown of the Term Loan for $0.5 million.

Summary

Future capital requirements depend upon numerous factors, including market acceptance of the Company’s products, the timing and
rate of expansion of business, acquisitions, joint ventures and other factors. IS&S has experienced increases in expenditures since its
inception and anticipates that increases in expenditures will continue in the foreseeable future. The Company believes that its cash and
cash equivalents will provide sufficient capital to fund operations for at least the next twelve months. However, the Company may need
to develop and introduce new or enhanced products, respond to competitive pressures, invest in or acquire businesses or technologies,
or respond to unanticipated requirements or developments. If sufficient funds are not available, the Company may not be able to
introduce new products or compete effectively.

36




Table of Contents

Inflation

The Company does not believe inflation had a material effect on its financial position or results of operations during the past
three years; however, it cannot predict the future effects of inflation, if any.

Environmental, Social and Governance Considerations

In recent years, environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues have become an increasing area of focus for some of our
shareholders, customers and suppliers. Management and the Board are committed to identifying, assessing and understanding the
potential impact of ESG issues and related risks on the Company’s business model, as well as potential areas for ESG related
improvements.

We are committed to recruiting, motivating and developing a diversity of talent. We are an equal opportunity employer and a Vietnam
Era Veterans’ Readjustment Assistance Act federal contractor. All qualified applicants receive consideration for employment without
regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, disability status, protected veteran status or any
other characteristic protected by law.

The nature of our business also supports long-term sustainability. Historically, a majority of the Company’s sales have come from the
retrofit market, in which the Company, by making upgrades to improve the functionality and safety of existing machinery, facilitates the
re-use and recycling of aircraft and equipment that might otherwise be scrapped as obsolete. The Company’s GPS receivers also
facilitate reduced carbon footprint navigation. The Company also plans to enhance its focus on the environmental impact of its
operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). See Part Il,
Iltem 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” Note 1, “Significant Accounting
and Reporting Policies,” for additional information about our significant accounting and reporting policies that require us to make certain
judgments and estimates in reporting our operating results and our assets and liabilities. The following paragraphs describe the
accounting policies that require significant judgment and estimates due to inherent uncertainty or complexity.

Revenue recognition

The Company enters into sales arrangements with customers that, in general, provide for the Company to design, develop,
manufacture and deliver large flat-panel display systems, flight information computers, autothrottles and advanced monitoring systems
that measure and display critical flight information, including data relative to aircraft separation, airspeed, altitude and engine and fuel
data measurements.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (“ASC 606"). The core principle of ASC 606 is that an entity recognizes revenue when a customer obtains control of

promised goods or services. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled
to receive in exchange for these goods or services.
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To achieve this core principle, the Company applies the following five steps:
1) Identify the contract with a customer

The Company’s contract with its customers typically is in the form of a purchase order issued to the Company by its customers and, to
a lesser degree, in the form of a purchase order issued in connection with a formal contract executed with a customer. In addition, the
Company enters fixed-price contracts, in which the Company agrees to perform the specified work for a pre-determined price. The
contractual terms of the fixed-price contracts are usually long-term, however they often contain a termination for convenience clause
that results in the Company treating these contracts as short-term under ASC 606. To the extent our actual costs vary from the
estimates upon which the price was negotiated, the Company will generate more or less profit or could incur a loss. For the purpose of
accounting for revenue under ASC 606, a contract with a customer exists when (i) the Company enters into an enforceable contract
with a customer that defines each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred and identifies the payment terms
related to these goods or services, (ii) the contract has commercial substance and (iii) the Company determines that collection of
substantially all consideration for goods or services that are transferred is probable based on the customer’s intent and ability to pay the
promised consideration. Payment terms are defined by when payment is typically due. The Company applies judgment in determining
the customer’s ability and intention to pay, which is based on a variety of factors including the customer’s historical payment experience
or, in the case of a new customer, published credit and financial information pertaining to the customer.

2) Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer
that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with
other resources that are readily available from third parties or from the Company, and are distinct in the context of the contract,
whereby the transfer of the goods or services is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Most of our revenue is
derived from purchases under which we provide a specific product or service and, as a result, there is only one performance obligation.
In the event that a contract includes multiple promised goods or services, such as an EDC contract, which includes both engineering
services and a resulting product shipment, the Company must apply judgment to determine whether promised goods or services are
capable of being distinct in the context of the contract. In these cases, the Company considers whether the customer could, on its own,
or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties, produce the physical product using only the output
resulting from the Company’s completion of engineering services. If the customer cannot produce the physical product, then the
promised goods or services are accounted for as a combined performance obligation.

3) Determine the transaction price

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which the Company will be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to the customer. To the extent the transaction price includes variable consideration, the Company estimates the
amount of variable consideration that should be included in the transaction price utilizing either the expected value method or the most
likely amount method depending on the nature of the variable consideration. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price
if, in the Company’s judgment, it is probable that a significant future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not occur.

4) Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract

If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation.
The Company determines standalone selling price based on the price at which the performance obligation is sold separately. If the
standalone selling price is not observable through past transactions, the Company estimates the standalone selling price by taking into
account available information such as market conditions as well as the cost of the goods or services and the Company’s normal
margins for similar performance obligations.

5) Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation

The Company satisfies performance obligations either over time or at a point in time as discussed in further detail below. Revenue is
recognized at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good or service to a customer.
Historically, the Company has also recognized revenue from EDC contracts and is recognized over time using an input measure (e.g.,
costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion) to measure progress. Contract costs include material, components
and third-party avionics purchased from suppliers, direct labor and overhead costs.
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Acquisitions and Investments, and Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We allocate the purchase price of acquired entities to the underlying tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values, with any excess recorded as goodwill. The valuations of the acquired assets and
liabilities will impact the determination of future operating results. Determining the fair value of assets we acquire and liabilities we
assume requires management’s judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions
with respect to future cash inflows and outflows, discount rates, asset lives and market multiples, among other items. We determine the
fair values of intangible assets acquired generally in consultation with third-party valuation advisors. Fair value adjustments to the
assets and liabilities are recognized and the results of operations of the acquired business are included in our consolidated financial
statements from the effective date of the acquisition.

Intangible assets other than goodwill are recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual or other legal
rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed or exchanged, regardless of the Company’s intent to do so. Goodwill
and identifiable intangible assets are recorded at their estimated fair value on the date of acquisition and are reviewed at least annually
for impairment based on cash flow projections and fair value estimates.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Write-downs for slow-moving and obsolete inventories are provided
based on current assessments about future product demand, production requirements for expected usage and usage for the last 12
months. Where we estimate that the net realizable value is below cost or have determined that future demand is lower than current
inventory levels based on historical experience, current and projected market demand, current and projected volume trends and other
relevant current and projected factors associated with the current economic conditions, a reduction in inventory cost to estimated net
realizable value is recorded as a charge included in Cost of sales. Management believes that our estimates of excess and obsolete
inventory are reasonable and material changes in future estimates or assumptions used to calculate our estimates are unlikely.
However, actual results may differ materially from the estimates and additional provisions may be required in the future.

Business Segments

The Company operates in one business segment as a systems integrator that designs, develops, manufactures, sells and services flight
guidance and cockpit display systems for OEMs and retrofit applications. Customers include various OEMs, commercial air transport
carriers and corporate/general aviation companies, the DoD and its commercial contractors, aircraft operators, aircraft modification
centers, government agencies and foreign militaries. The Company currently derives the majority of its revenues from the sale and
service of this equipment and related EDC services. Most of the Company’s sales, operating results and identifiable assets are
generated in the United States. In fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022 Net sales outside the United States amounted to $22.8 million,
$15.5 million and $11.1 million, respectively.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company’s operations are exposed to market risks primarily as a result of changes in interest rates. The Company does not use
derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. We have exposure to interest rate risk, mainly related to our
revolving credit facility, which has variable interest rates. Interest rate risk associated with our variable rate debt is the potential
increase in interest expense from an increase in interest rates. Based on our aggregate outstanding variable rate debt balance of $28.0
million as of September 30, 2024, a hypothetical 1% in variable interest rates would have affected interest expense by approximately
$0.3 million.

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates to its cash equivalents. The Company’s cash equivalents
consist of funds invested in money market funds, which bear interest at a variable rate. A change in interest rates earned on the
Company’s cash equivalents would impact interest income and cash flows but would not impact the fair market value of the underlying
instruments. Assuming that the balances during fiscal year 2024 were to remain constant and that the Company did not act to alter the
existing interest rate sensitivity, a hypothetical 1% increase in variable interest rates would not have a material impact on our results of
operations, financial position or cash flows.

39




Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements of the Company listed in the index appearing under Item 8 herein are filed as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Innovative Solutions & Support, Inc.

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Innovative Solutions & Support, Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation)
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred
to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended September 30, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company'’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“‘PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of
our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical audit matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to
the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical
audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating
the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it
relates.

Fair Value of Acquired Intangible Assets

As described further in Note 4 to the financial statements, on September 27, 2024, the Company entered into and closed the
transaction contemplated by the Asset Purchase and License Agreement (the “September 2024 Honeywell Agreement”) with Honeywell
International Inc. (“Honeywell”). Pursuant to the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement, Honeywell sold, assigned or licensed certain
assets related to its various generations of military display generators and flight control computers, including a sale of certain inventory,
equipment and customer-related documents; an assignment of certain contracts; and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to
use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its various generations of military display generators and flight control computers
to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to the Company.

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination. The Company accounts for acquisitions of entities or asset groups that

qualify as businesses using the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the purchase consideration was allocated to the
tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, which are
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measured in accordance with fair value measurement principles. The Company'’s allocation of the total purchase consideration to the
estimated fair values of acquired assets included a fair value of $2,300,000 ascribed to the acquired license agreements.

Management estimated the fair value of the acquired license agreements using the relief from royalty method. The significant
assumptions include: (i) future expected revenues from customer contracts and license agreements, (ii) royalty rates, and (iii) discount

rates.

We identified the fair value of the acquired license agreement intangible assets acquired as a critical audit matter because of the
significant estimates and assumptions management made to determine the fair value of the asset. This required a high degree of
auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort, including the need to involve our valuation specialists, when performing audit
procedures to evaluate the reasonableness of management’s estimates and assumptions.

Our audit procedures related to the fair value of the acquired license agreements included the following, among others.

Evaluated the design and implementation of key controls relating to the fair valuations performed on the acquired license
agreement intangible assets. These procedures included, among others, understanding management’s processes over the
development of the fair value estimate and related key inputs and assumptions, and over the evaluation of the competency and
objectivity of management's third-party valuation specialist.

Tested the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models utilized by the Company and the completeness, accuracy and
relevance of underlying data used in the model.

Assessed the reasonableness of management’s estimated revenue cash flows by obtaining an understanding of
management’s processes for developing projected financial information and comparing the projections to historical results
achieved by Honeywell.

Evaluated the reasonableness of management'’s revenue assumptions and tested the source information, including the
number of existing customers, through inspection of customer contracts.

Utilized valuation specialists to evaluate the reasonableness of the royalty rates and discount rates used in the valuation.

Conducted sensitivity analysis around the royalty rates and discount rate assumptions utilized by management.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
December 30, 2024
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INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30, September 30,
2024 2023
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 538,977 $ 3,097,193
Accounts receivable 12,612,482 9,743,714
Contract assets 1,680,060 487,139
Inventories 12,732,381 6,139,713
Prepaid inventory 5,960,404 12,069,114
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,161,394 1,073,012
Assets held for sale — 2,063,818
Total current assets 34,685,698 34,673,703
Goodwill 5,213,104 3,557,886
Intangible assets, net 27,012,292 16,185,321
Property and equipment, net 13,372,298 7,892,427
Deferred income taxes 1,625,144 456,392
Other assets 473,725 191,722
Total assets $ 82,382,261 $ 62,957,451
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt $ — $ 2,000,000
Accounts payable 2,315,479 1,337,275
Accrued expenses 4,609,294 2,918,325
Contract liability 340,481 143,359
Total current liabilities 7,265,254 6,398,959
Long-term debt 28,027,002 17,500,000
Other liabilities 451,350 421,508
Total liabilities 35,743,606 24,320,467
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 16)
Shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock, 10,000,000 shares authorized, $.001 par value, of which 200,000 shares are authorized as Class
A Convertible stock. No shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023 — —
Common stock, $.001 par value: 75,000,000 shares authorized, 19,599,052 and 19,543,441 issued at September
30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively 19,599 19,543
Additional paid-in capital 55,320,500 54,317,265
Retained earnings 12,667,093 5,668,713
Treasury stock, at cost, 2,096,451 shares at September 30, 2024 and at September 30, 2023 (21,368,537) (21,368,537)
Total shareholders’ equity 46,638,655 38,636,984
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 82,382,261 $ 62,957,451

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Net Sales:
Product
Services
Total net sales

Cost of sales:
Product
Services
Total cost of sales
Gross profit

Operating expenses:

INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total operating expenses

Operating income

Interest expense
Interest income
Other income

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Net income per common share:

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic
Diluted

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022
$ 24279918 $ 22589657 $ 22,400,159
22,918,102 12,218,856 5,340,536
47,198,020 34,808,513 27,740,695
10,570,521 9,715,517 9,402,900
10,713,908 3,781,925 1,663,414
21,284,429 13,497,442 11,066,314
25,913,591 21,311,071 16,674,381
4,137,985 3,129,518 2,705,140
12,114,069 10,822,505 6,753,915
16,252,054 13,952,023 9,459,055
9,661,537 7,359,048 7,215,326
(937,309) (393,281) =
127,332 518,188 61,051
= 151,317 65,232
8,851,560 7,635,272 7,341,609
1,853,180 1,607,517 1,817,831
$ 6998380 $ 6027755 $ 5523778
$ 0.40 $ 035 $ 0.32
$ 0.40 $ 035 $ 0.32
17,459,823 17,411,684 17,256,750
17,480,247 17,419,185 17,257,871

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Accumulated

Additional Deficit)
Common Paid-In Retained Treasury
Stock Capital Earnings Stock Total
Balance, September 30, 2021 $ 19,343 $51,817,095 $ (5,882,820) $ (21,368,537) $ 24,585,081
Share-based compensation — 166,617 — — 166,617
Exercise of stock options 43 301,111 — — 301,154
Issuance of restricted stock awards 27 173,298 — — 173,325
Net income — — 5,523,778 — 5,523,778
Balance, September 30, 2022 $ 19,413 $52,458,121 $ (359,042) $ (21,368,537) $ 30,749,955
Share-based compensation 39 1,123,902 — — 1,123,941
Exercise of stock options 58 408,789 — — 408,847
Issuance of restricted stock awards 33 326,453 — — 326,486
Net income — — 6,027,755 — 6,027,755
Balance, September 30, 2023 $ 19,543 $54,317,265 $ 5,668,713 $ (21,368,537) $ 38,636,984
Share-based compensation 56 1,003,235 — — 1,003,291
Net income — — 6,998,380 — 6,998,380
Balance, September 30, 2024 $ 19,599 $55,320,500 $ 12,667,093 $ (21,368,537) $ 46,638,655

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense
Stock options
Restricted stock awards

Impairment of long-lived assets

Gain on disposal of property and equipment

Excess and obsolete inventory cost
Deferred income taxes
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable

Contract assets

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other non-current assets
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Contract liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment
Acquisition of assets
Acquisition of a business

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Debt payments
Debt proceeds

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INFORMATION
Transfer from prepaid inventory to purchases of property and equipment

Transfer from prepaid inventory to inventory

Transfer from prepaid inventory to goodwill

Transfer from prepaid inventory to intangible assets, net

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022
$ 6998380 $ 6027755 $ 5523778
2,097,942 697,943 368,499
301,101 756,198 166,617
702,191 694,230 173,325
— 44,400 —
(160,577) — (1,191,743)
— 44,308 —
(1,136,809) 9,503 1,017,335
(2,868,768) (5,446,257) (251,120)
(1,192,921) (324,397) (162,742)
(2,338,176) (834,917) (708,859)
811,669 69,458 (309,394)
(294,969) (101,356) =
978,203 628,430 85,224
624,346 203,754 1,272,826
1,077,488 (257,055) 269,015
197,122 (115,823) (158,321)
5,796,222 2,096,174 6,094,440
(657,790) (298,373) (161,230)
(4,249,460) — —
(14,200,000) (35,860,000) —
2,225,810 — 2,750,576
(16,881,440) (36,158,373) 2,589,346
— 408,846 301,154
(43,825,825) (500,000) —
52,352,827 20,000,000 =
8,527,002 19,908,846 301,154
(2,558,216) (14,153,353) 8,984,940
3,097,193 17,250,546 8,265,606
$ 538977 $ 3,097,193 $ 17,250,546
$ 1913456 $ 1855069 $ 531,481
847,085 260,889 =
$ 3,327,000 — —
4,254,492 _ _
516,580 — —
800,000 — =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Background

Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. (the “Company,” “IS&S,” “we” or “us”) was incorporated in Pennsylvania on February 12, 1988.
The Company operates in one business segment as a systems integrator that designs, develops, manufactures, sells and services
avionics products and systems for retrofit applications and original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”).

The Company has continued to position itself as a system integrator, which provides the Company with the capability and potential to
generate more substantive orders over a broader product base. This strategy, as both a manufacturer and integrator, is designed to
leverage the latest technologies developed for the computer and telecommunications industries into advanced and cost-effective
solutions for the general aviation, commercial air transport, Department of Defense (“DoD”)/governmental and foreign military markets.
This approach, combined with the Company’s industry experience, is designed to enable IS&S to develop high-quality products and
systems, to reduce product time to market and to achieve cost advantages over products offered by its competitors. Customers include
various OEMs, commercial air transport carriers and corporate/general aviation companies, DoD and its commercial contractors,
aircraft operators, aircraft modification centers, government agencies and foreign militaries.

On September 27, 2024, the Company entered into and closed the transactions contemplated by that certain Asset Purchase and
License Agreement (the “September 2024 Honeywell Agreement”) with Honeywell International Inc. (“Honeywell”). Pursuant to the
Agreement, Honeywell sold, assigned or licensed certain assets related to its various generations of military display generators and
flight control computers, including a sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-related documents; an assignment of certain
contracts; and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its various
generations of military display generators and flight control computers to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute
certain products to the Company. The September 2024 Honeywell Agreement allows the Company to diversify its product offerings in
the aerospace industry. The Company determined that the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement met the definition of a business
under ASC 805; therefore, the Company accounted for the transaction as a business combination and applied the acquisition method
of accounting. See Footnote 4. Acquisition, for additional information.

On July 22, 2024, the Company completed the acquisition of certain additional assets related to its communication and navigation
product lines, including a sale of certain inventory and customer-related documents; an assignment of certain contracts; and a grant of
exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property (the “July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition™)
related to its communication and navigation product lines to manufacture, upgrade and repair certain additional products for
consideration of $4.2 million in cash. The Company accounted for the transaction as an asset acquisition. See Footnote 4. Acquisition,
for additional information.

On June 30, 2023, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase and License Agreement with Honeywell International, Inc. ( the “June
2023 Honeywell Agreement”) whereby Honeywell sold certain assets and granted perpetual license rights to manufacture and sell
licensed products related to its inertial, communication and navigation product lines to the Company. The transaction involved a sale of
certain inventory, equipment and customer-related documents; an assignment of certain customer contracts; and a grant of exclusive
and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its inertial, communication and navigation product
lines to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to the Company. See Note 4, “Acquisition” for
more details. See Footnote 4. Acquisition, for additional information. The Company determined that the transaction met the definition of
a business under ASC 805, therefore the Company accounted for the transaction as a business combination and applied the
acquisitition method of accounting.

On September 22, 2023, the Company entered into an at-the-market equity offering Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”)
with Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (the “Sales Agent”), pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell from time to time
through the Sales Agent up to $40 million of shares of its common stock. The shares will be offered and sold pursuant to the
Company'’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-267595), which was declared effective by the SEC on October 14,
2022. The Company filed a prospectus supplement, dated September 22, 2023, with the SEC in connection with the offer and sale of
the shares. Subject to the terms and conditions of the ATM Sales Agreement, the Sales Agent will use commercially reasonable efforts
to sell shares of the Company’s common stock from time to time, based upon the Company’s instructions. The Company is not
obligated to sell any shares under the ATM Sales Agreement, and the Company or the Sales Agent may at any time suspend
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solicitation and offers under the ATM Sales Agreement or terminate the ATM Sales Agreement. The Company has provided the Sales
Agent with customary indemnification rights, and the Sales Agent will be entitled to compensation for its services of up to 3.0% of the
gross sales price per share of the shares of the Company’s common stock sold through the Sales Agent. Sales of the shares of the
Company’s common stock, if any, under the ATM Sales Agreement may be made in transactions that are deemed to be “at the market
offerings” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act, including sales made directly on or through Nasdaq or any other existing
trading market for the Company’s common stock, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices
related to such prevailing market prices and/or any other method permitted by law.

During fiscal years 2024 and 2023, we did not sell any shares of common stock under the ATM Sales Agreement.
2. Concentrations
Major Customers

In fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company derived 42%, 54% and 58%, respectively, of total sales from five customers,
although not all the same customers in each year. Accounts receivable and contract assets related to those top five customers were
$7.6 million, $3.5 million and $3.3 million as of fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Major Suppliers

The Company buys several of its components from sole source suppliers. Although there are a limited number of suppliers of particular
components, management believes other suppliers could provide similar components on comparable terms.

During fiscal year 2024, the Company had four suppliers that accounted for 63.1% of the Company’s total inventory related purchases.
During fiscal year 2023, the Company had four suppliers that accounted for 49.0% of the Company'’s total inventory related purchases.
During fiscal year 2022, the Company had three suppliers that accounted for 33.7% of the Company’s total inventory related
purchases.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash balances and
accounts receivable. The Company invests its excess cash where preservation of principal is the major consideration. Cash balances
are maintained with two major banks. Balances on deposit with certain money market accounts and operating accounts may exceed

the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits. The Company’s customer base consists principally of companies within the aviation
industry. The Company requests advance payments and/or letters of credit from customers that it considers to be significant credit risks.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassification

Historically, the Company presented Customer service and Engineering and development contracts Net Sales and Cost of sales
separately on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Company has
aggregated these items into one category, “Services” and reclassified all Customer service and Engineering and development contracts
revenues as well as Cost of sales in order to conform the presentation of the consolidated Statements of Operations for Fiscal years
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.

Customer service sales of $11.1 million and Engineering and development contracts Net Sales of $ 1.1 million were aggregated into

Services sales, for the Fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. Customer service sales of $4.9 million and Engineering and
development contracts Net Sales of $0.4 million were aggregated into Services sales, for the Fiscal year ended September 30, 2022.
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Customer service Cost of sales of $3.4 million and Engineering and development contracts Cost of sales of $ 0.4 million were
aggregated into Services Cost of sales, for the Fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. Customer service Cost of sales of $1.5 million
and Engineering and development contracts Cost of sales of $0.2 million were aggregated into Services Cost of sales for the Fiscal
year ended September 30, 2022.

Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”), which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in
the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used in accounting for, among other items,
valuation of tangible and intangible assets acquired, long term contracts, evaluation of allowances for credit losses accounts, inventory
obsolescence, product warranty cost liabilities, income taxes, engineering and material costs on engineering development contracts
(“EDC") programs, percentage of completion on EDC programs, the useful lives of long-lived assets for depreciation and amortization,
the recoverability of long-lived assets, evaluation of goodwill impairment and contingencies. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed
periodically, and the effects of changes, if any, are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations in the period they are
determined.

Business Combinations

The Company evaluates each of its acquisitions in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805"), to determine whether the transaction is a business
combination or an asset acquisition. In determining whether an acquisition should be accounted for as a business combination or an
asset acquisition, the Company first performs a screening test to determine whether substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or a group of similar identifiable assets. If this is the case, the acquired set
is not deemed to be a business and is instead accounted for as an asset acquisition. If this is not the case, the Company then further
evaluates whether the acquired set includes, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. If so, the Company concludes that the acquired set is a business.

The Company accounts for business acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting. Under this method of accounting, assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their respective fair values at the date of the acquisition. When determining the fair
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, management makes significant estimates and assumptions. The Company’s
estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but these assumptions are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net
assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.

During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company adjusts the provisional amounts
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized
as of that date. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities
assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded within the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations.

We allocate the purchase price of acquired entities to the underlying tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values, with any excess recorded as goodwill. The valuations of the acquired assets and
liabilities will impact the determination of future operating results. Determining the fair value of assets we acquire and liabilities we
assume requires management’s judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including assumptions
with respect to future cash inflows and outflows, discount rates, asset lives and market multiples, among other items. We determine the
fair values of intangible assets acquired generally in consultation with third-party valuation advisors. Fair value adjustments to the
assets and liabilities are recognized and the results of operations of the acquired business are included in our consolidated financial
statements from the effective date of the acquisition.

Asset Acquisitions
Acquisitions that do not meet the definition of a business are accounted for as asset acquisitions. The Company allocates the cost of

the acquisition, including direct and incremental transaction costs, to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed on a relative
fair value basis. Goodwill is not recognized in an asset acquisition.
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Intangible Assets

The Company'’s identifiable intangible assets primarily consist of license agreements, customer relationships and backlog. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value using generally accepted valuation methods deemed
appropriate for the type of intangible asset acquired and are reported separately from any goodwill recognized.

Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over their estimated useful life and are reported net of accumulated amortization. They
are assessed for impairment in accordance with the Company’s policy on assessing long-lived assets for impairment described below.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but are subject to an annual impairment test, or when events or circumstances
dictate, more frequently. The impairment review for indefinite-lived intangible assets can be performed using a qualitative or
quantitative impairment assessment. The quantitative assessment consists of a comparison of the fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible asset with its carrying amount. . The Company initially does a qualitative assessment for impairment of intangible assets and
will utilize quantitative testing based on results from the qualitative assessment, if deemed necessary. If the carrying amount exceeds
its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. If the fair value exceeds its carrying amount, the
indefinite-lived intangible asset is not considered impaired.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefit arising from other assets acquired that could not be individually identified and
separately recognized. The recorded amounts of goodwill from business combinations are based on management’s best estimates of
the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is assigned to the reporting units that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination that generated the goodwill. The Company’s goodwill impairment
test is performed at the reporting unit level. Reporting units are determined based on an evaluation of the Company’s operating
segments and the components making up those operating segments.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or in an interim period, if certain changes in circumstances indicate a possibility that an
impairment may exist. Factors to consider that may indicate an impairment may exist are: the macroeconomic conditions, industry and
market considerations such as a significant adverse change in the business climate, cost factors, overall financial performance such as
current-period operating results or cash flow declines combined with a history of operating results or cash flow declines or a
projection/forecast that demonstrates continuing declines in the cash flow or the inability to improve the operations to forecasted levels,
and any entity-specific events.

If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is below the carrying amount as part of
its qualitative assessment, a quantitative assessment of goodwill is required. In the quantitative evaluation, the fair value of the
reporting unit is determined and compared to the carrying value. If the fair value is greater than the carrying value, then the goodwill is
deemed not to be impaired and no further action is required. If the fair value is less than the carrying value, goodwill is considered
impaired and a charge is reported as impairment of goodwill in the consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Highly liquid investments, purchased with an original maturity of three months or less, are classified as cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents at September 30, 2024 and 2023 consist of cash on deposit and cash invested in money market funds with financial
institutions. Due to the short maturity of these instruments, the carrying values on our consolidated balance sheets approximate fair
value.

Accounts Receivable

We record receivables derived from contracts with customers at net realizable value and they generally do not bear interest. An
allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts is established if uncollectability is considered probable. This value may include an
allowance for estimated uncollectible accounts to reflect any losses anticipated on the accounts receivable balances which is charged
to the provision for doubtful accounts. When determining uncollectibility, we consider historical write-offs by customer, level of past due
accounts and economic status of the customers. Write-offs are recorded at the time a customer receivable is deemed uncollectible. The
Company had no Allowance for doubtful accounts as of the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizable value, net of write-downs for excess and obsolete
inventory, and consists of the following:

September 30, September 30,

2024 2023
Raw materials $ 9,862,591 $ 5,162,177
Work-in-process 1,357,504 966,388
Finished goods 1,512,286 10,648

$ 12,732,381  $ 6,139,713

Assets Held for Sale

Asset to be disposed of by sale (“disposal groups”) are reclassified into “assets held for sale” if their carrying amounts are principally
expected to be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. The reclassification occurs when the disposal
group is available for immediate sale and the sale is probable. These criteria are generally met when an agreement to sell exists, or
management has committed to a plan to sell the assets within one year. Disposal groups are measured at the lower of carrying amount
or fair value less costs to sell and are not depreciated or amortized. When the net realizable value of a disposal group increases during
a period, a gain can be recognized to the extent that it does not increase the value of the disposal group beyond its original carrying
value when the disposal group was reclassified as held for sale. The fair value of a disposal group, less any costs to sell, is assessed
each reporting period it remains classified as held for sale and any remeasurement to the lower of carrying value or fair value less
costs to sell is reported as an adjustment to the carrying value of the disposal group.

Property and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization is generally provided on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the various assets. Major additions and improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs that
do not improve or extend the life of assets are charged to expense as incurred.

The Company'’s property, plant and equipment is generally depreciated over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and improvements are depreciated over estimated lives of ten to thirty-nine years.
Furniture and office equipment is depreciated over estimated lives of five to seven years.
Computer equipment is depreciated over an estimated life of five years.

Equipment other is depreciated over estimated lives of one to nineteen years.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 360-10, “ Property, Plant and
Equipment.” This statement requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In addition, long-lived assets to be disposed of should be reported at
the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. The Company considers historical performance and future estimated
results in its evaluation of potential impairment and then compares the carrying amount of the asset to estimated future cash flows
expected to result from use of the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated expected undiscounted future cash
flows, the Company measures the amount of the impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value. The
estimation of fair value is generally measured by discounting expected future cash flows.

Revenue Recognition
The Company enters into sales arrangements with customers that, in general, provide for the Company to design, develop,
manufacture and deliver large flat-panel display systems, flight information computers, autothrottles and advanced monitoring systems

that measure and display critical flight information, including data relative to aircraft separation, airspeed, altitude and engine and fuel
data measurements.
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Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606"). The core
principle of ASC 606 is that an entity recognizes revenue when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services. The amount
of revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for these goods or
services. To achieve this core principle, the Company applies the following five steps:

1) Identify the contract with a customer

The Company’s contract with its customers typically is in the form of a purchase order issued to the Company by its customers and, to
a lesser degree, in the form of a purchase order issued in connection with a formal contract executed with a customer. In addition, the
Company enters fixed-price contracts, in which the Company agrees to perform the specified work for a pre-determined price. The
contractual terms of the fixed price contracts are usually long-term, however they often contain a termination for convenience clause
that results in us treating these contracts as short-term under ASC 606. To the extent our actual costs vary from the estimates upon
which the price was negotiated, the Company will generate more or less profit or could incur a loss. For the purpose of accounting for
revenue under ASC 606, a contract with a customer exists when (i) the Company enters into an enforceable contract with a customer
that defines each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred and identifies the payment terms related to these
goods or services, (ii) the contract has commercial substance and, (iii) the Company determines that collection of substantially all
consideration for goods or services that are transferred is probable based on the customer’s intent and ability to pay the promised
consideration. The Company applies judgment in determining the customer’s ability and intention to pay, which is based on a variety of
factors including the customer’s historical payment experience or, in the case of a new customer, published credit and financial
information pertaining to the customer.

2) Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer
that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with
other resources that are readily available from third parties or from the Company, and are distinct in the context of the contract,
whereby the transfer of the goods or services is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Most of our revenue is
derived from purchases under which we provide a specific product or service and, as a result, there is only one performance obligation.
In the event that a contract includes multiple promised goods or services, such as an EDC contract which includes both engineering
services and a resulting product shipment, the Company must apply judgment to determine whether promised goods or services are
capable of being distinct in the context of the contract. In these cases, the Company considers whether the customer could, on its own,
or together with other resources that are readily available from third parties, produce the physical product using only the output
resulting from the Company’s completion of engineering services. If the customer cannot produce the physical product, then the
promised goods or services are accounted for as a combined performance obligation.

3) Determine the transaction price

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which the Company will be entitled in exchange for transferring
goods or services to the customer. To the extent the transaction price includes variable consideration, the Company estimates the
amount of variable consideration that should be included in the transaction price utilizing either the expected value method or the most
likely amount method depending on the nature of the variable consideration. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price
if, in the Company’s judgment, it is probable that a significant future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not occur.

4) Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract
If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation.
The Company determines standalone selling price based on the price at which the performance obligation is sold separately. If the
standalone selling price is not observable through past transactions, the Company estimates the standalone selling price by taking into
account available information such as market conditions as well as the cost of the goods or services and the Company’s normal
margins for similar performance obligations.

5) Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation
The Company satisfies performance obligations either over time or at a point in time as discussed in further detail below. Revenue is
recognized at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good or service to a customer.
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Historically, the Company has also recognized revenue from EDC contracts and is recognized over time using an input measure (e.g.,
costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion) to measure progress. Contract costs include material, components
and third-party avionics purchased from suppliers, direct labor and overhead costs.

Contract Estimates

Accounting for performance obligations in long-term contracts that are satisfied over time involves the use of various techniques to
estimate progress towards satisfaction of the performance obligation. The Company typically measures progress based on costs
incurred compared to estimated total contract costs. Contract cost estimates are based on various assumptions to project the outcome
of future events that often span more than a single year. These assumptions include the amount of labor and labor costs, the quantity
and cost of raw materials used in the completion of the performance obligation and the complexity of the work to be performed.

As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of our contracts, we review and update our
contract-related estimates regularly. We recognize adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the cumulative catch-up method.
Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the period the adjustment is identified.
Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the adjusted estimate. If at any time the estimate of
contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, we recognize the total loss in the quarter it is identified.

The impact of adjustments in contract estimates on our operating earnings can be reflected in either operating costs and expenses or
revenue. Therefore, no adjustment on any contract was material to our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023.

Contract Balances
Contract assets consist of the right to consideration in exchange for product offerings that we have transferred to a customer under the

contract. Contract liabilities primarily relate to consideration received in advance of performance under the contract. The following table
reflects the Company’s contract assets and liabilities:

Contract Contract
Assets Liabilities
September 30, 2022 $ 162,742 $ 259,183
Amount transferred to receivables from contract assets - —
Contract asset additions 324,397 —
Performance obligations satisfied during the period that were included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the period — (240,944)
Increases due to invoicing prior to satisfaction of performance obligations — 125,120
September 30, 2023 $ 487,139 $ 143,359
Amount transferred to receivables from contract assets (373,139) —
Contract asset additions 1,566,060 —
Performance obligations satisfied during the period that were included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the period — (122,541)
Increases due to invoicing prior to satisfaction of performance obligations — 319,663
September 30, 2024 $ 1,680,060 $ 340,481

Lease Recognition

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). At the inception of an arrangement, the
Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present in the
arrangement. Leases with a term greater than one year are recognized on the balance sheet as right-of-use assets and short-term and
long-term lease liabilities, as applicable. The Company does not have any financing leases that are material.

Income Taxes
Income taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 740, “ Income Taxes” (“ASC Topic 740"), which utilizes a balance sheet

approach to provide for income taxes. Under this method, the Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary
differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of the Company’s assets, liabilities and expected benefits of
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utilizing net operating losses (“NOL”) and tax credit carry-forwards. The impact on deferred taxes of changes in tax rates and laws, if
any, are applied to the years during which temporary differences are expected to be settled and are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements in the period of enactment. At the end of each interim reporting period, the Company prepares an estimate of the
annual effective income tax rate and applies that annual effective income tax rate to ordinary year-to-date pre-tax income for the interim
period. Specific tax items discrete to a particular quarter are recorded in income tax expense for that quarter. The estimated annual
effective tax rate used in providing for income taxes on a year-to-date basis may change in subsequent periods.

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the consideration of all available evidence, it is more likely than
not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Significant weight is given to evidence that can be verified
objectively, and significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax
assets. The Company evaluates deferred income taxes on a quarterly basis to determine if a valuation allowance is required by
considering available evidence. Deferred tax assets are recognized when expected future taxable income is sufficient to allow the
related tax benefits to reduce taxes that would otherwise be payable. The sources of taxable income that may be available to realize the
benefit of deferred tax assets are future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, future taxable income exclusive of reversing
temporary differences and credit carryforwards, taxable income in carry-back years and tax planning strategies which are both prudent
and feasible. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the valuation allowance was released against all federal and state

deferred tax assets with the exception of certain state net operating losses due to positive evidence that the assets are more likely than
not to be realized in future years. The Company will continue to assess all available evidence during future periods to evaluate any
changes to the realization of its deferred tax assets. If the Company were to determine that it would be able to realize additional state
deferred tax assets in the future, it would make an adjustment to the valuation allowance which would reduce the provision for income
taxes.

The accounting for uncertainty in income taxes requires a more likely than not threshold for financial statement recognition and
measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company records a liability for the difference between
the (i) benefit recognized and measured for financial statement purposes and (ii) the tax position taken or expected to be taken on the
Company'’s tax return. To the extent that the Company’s assessment of such tax positions changes, the change in estimate is recorded
in the period in which the determination is made. The Company has elected to record any interest or penalties associated with
uncertain tax positions as income tax expense.

The Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. The Company prepares and files tax returns based on the
interpretation of tax laws and regulations and records estimates based on these judgments and interpretations. In the normal course of
business, the tax returns are subject to examination by various taxing authorities. Such examinations may result in future tax and
interest assessments by these taxing authorities, and the Company records a liability when it is probable that there will be an
assessment. The Company adjusts the estimates periodically as a result of ongoing examinations by and settlements with the various
taxing authorities, and changes in tax laws, regulations and precedent. The consolidated tax provision of any given year includes
adjustments to prior years’ income tax accruals that are considered appropriate and any related estimated interest. Management
believes that it has made adequate accruals for income taxes. Differences between estimated and actual amounts determined upon
ultimate resolution, individually or in the aggregate, are not expected to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position but could possibly be material to its consolidated results of operations or cash flow of any one period.

Engineering Development

Total engineering development expense comprises both internally funded research and development (“R&D”), which is expensed in
research and development in the consolidated statements of operations, and product development and design charges related to
specific customer contracts. Engineering development expense consists primarily of payroll-related expenses of employees engaged in
EDC projects, engineering related product materials and equipment, and subcontracting costs. R&D charges incurred for product
design, product enhancements and future product development are expensed as incurred. Product development and design charges
related to specific customer contracts are charged to Cost of sales - Services based on the method of contract accounting (either
percentage-of-completion or completed contract) applicable to such contracts.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The net carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair value
because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying value of our debt approximates fair value as the interest rate is

variable and approximates current market levels. For financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, fair
value is the
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price the Company would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction with a market participant at the
measurement date. A three-level fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value as follows:

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for the identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2 — Other observable inputs available at the measurement date, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, either
directly or indirectly, including:

e Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
e Quoted prices for identical or similar assets in non-active markets;
e Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and
e Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data.
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data and reflect the use of significant

management judgment. These values are generally determined using pricing models for which the assumptions
utilize management’s estimates of market participant assumptions.

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were accounted
for at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, according to the valuation techniques the Company used to
determine their fair values.

Fair Value Measurement on September 30, 2024

Quoted Price in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 504,104 $ — 8 =
Fair Value Measurement on September 30, 2023
Quoted Price in Significant Other Significant
Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 3,665,128 $ — 3 =

The fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 money market funds balance differs from the cash and cash equivalents balance
on the consolidated balance sheet due to the timing of sweep transactions within the PNC cash investment accounts.

Share-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for share-based compensation under ASC Topic 718, which requires the Company to measure the cost of
employee or non-employee director services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair

value of the award using an option pricing model. The Company recognizes such cost over the period during which an employee or
non-employee director is required to provide service in exchange for the award.
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Accordingly, adoption of ASC Topic 718'’s fair value method results in recording compensation costs under the Company'’s stock based
compensation plans. The Company determined the fair value of its stock option awards at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. Option pricing models and generally accepted valuation techniques require management to make assumptions
and to apply judgment to determine the fair value of its awards. These assumptions and judgments include estimating future volatility of
the Company’s stock price, expected dividend yield, future employee turnover rates, and future employee stock option exercise
behaviors. Changes in these assumptions can materially affect fair value estimates. The Company does not believe that a reasonable
likelihood exists that there will be a material change in future estimates or assumptions used to determine share-based compensation
expense. However, if actual results are not consistent with the Company’s estimates or assumptions, the Company would adjust its
estimates. Such adjustments could have a material impact on the Company’s financial position.

Warranty Reserves

The Company offers warranties on some products of various lengths, however the standard warranty period is twenty-four months. At
the time of shipment, the Company establishes a reserve for estimated costs of warranties based on its best estimate of the amounts
necessary to settle future and existing claims using historical data on products sold as of the balance sheet date. The length of the
warranty period, the product’s failure rates and the customer’s usage affect warranty cost. If actual warranty costs differ from the
Company’s estimated amounts, future results of operations could be affected adversely. Warranty cost is recorded as Cost of sales,
and the reserve balance recorded as an accrued expense. While the Company maintains product quality programs and processes, its
warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates and the related corrective costs. If actual product failure rates and/or corrective
costs differ from the estimates, the Company revises the estimated warranty liability accordingly.

Self-Insurance Reserves

Since January 1, 2014, the Company has self-insured a significant portion of its employee medical insurance. The Company maintains
a stop-loss insurance policy that limits its losses both on a per employee basis and an aggregate basis. Liabilities associated with the
risks that are retained by the Company are estimated based upon actuarial assumptions such as historical claims experience and
demographic factors. The Company estimated the total medical claims incurred but not reported, and the Company believes that it has
adequate reserves for these claims at September 30, 2023 and 2022. However, the actual value of such claims could be significantly
affected if future occurrences and claims differ from these assumptions. At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the estimated liability for
medical claims incurred but not reported was $98,300 and $62,300, respectively. The Company has recorded the excess of funded
premiums over estimated claims incurred but not reported of $36,400 as a current asset in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheet. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Company has used the excess of funded premiums to reduce amounts
payable for claims incurred.

Treasury Stock

We account for treasury stock purchased under the cost method and include treasury stock as a component of shareholders’ equity.
Treasury stock purchased with intent to retire (whether or not the retirement is actually accomplished) is charged to common stock.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The Company considers the applicability and impact of all Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) issued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB). ASUs not listed below were assessed and determined to be either not applicable or are expected to have
minimal impact on the Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Taxes Disclosures, which
requires greater disaggregation of income tax disclosures. The new standard requires additional information to be disclosed with
respect to the income tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. This ASU should be applied
prospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with retrospective application permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the impacts of this guidance on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment
Disclosures, which requires companies to enhance the disclosures about segment expenses. The new standard requires the disclosure
of the Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), expanded incremental line-item disclosures of significant segment
expenses used by the CODM for decision-making, and the inclusion of previous annual only segment disclosure requirements on a
quarterly basis. This ASU should be applied retrospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods
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within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impacts of
this guidance on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “ Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instrument” (“ASU 2016-13"). ASU 2016-13 replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology in current GAAP with a
methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable
information to inform credit loss estimates. ASU 2016-13 is effective for SEC small business filers for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2022. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements
or related disclosures.

4. Acquisition

On September 27, 2024, the Company entered into and closed the transaction contemplated by the September 2024 Honeywell
Agreement.

Pursuant to the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement, Honeywell sold, assigned or licensed certain assets related to its various
generations of military display generators and flight control computers, including a sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-
related documents; an assignment of certain contracts; and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell
intellectual property related to its various generations of military display generators and flight control computers to repair, overhaul,
manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to the Company. The September 2024 Honeywell Agreement allows the
Company to diversify its product offerings in the aerospace industry. The Company determined that the transaction met the definition of
a business under ASC 805; therefore, the Company accounted for the transaction as a business combination and applied the
acquisition method of accounting. The Company financed the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement with borrowings against the
Company'’s revolving line of credit. (See Note 20, “Loan Agreement” for more details). The purchase consideration transferred at the
acquisition date was $14.2 million, which was entirely cash.

The allocation of the purchase price is based upon certain preliminary valuations and other analyses. The allocation of the purchase
price has not been finalized as of the date of this filing due to the timing of the transaction and due to the fact that, while legal control
has been transferred, the Company has not received physical possession of certain of the acquired assets and thus these assets will
be subject to settlement adjustments upon transfer as outlined in the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement. As a result, the purchase
price amount for the transaction and the allocation of the preliminary purchase consideration are preliminary estimates, and may be
subject to change within the measurement period.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase consideration as of the acquisition date is as follows:
Amounts Recognized as of

Acquisition Date
(as previously reported)

Total consideration $ 14,060,000
Prepaid inventory (a) $ 3,191,000
Prepaid equipment and other current assets 160,000
Intangible assets (b) 9,570,000
Goodwill (c) 1,139,000
Net assets acquired $ 14,060,000

(a) Prepaid inventory consists primarily of raw materials acquired by the Company but not in the Company’s physical

possession as of the acquisition date. The fair value of raw materials was estimated to equal the replacement cost.

(b) Intangible assets consists of backlog, customer relationships, and license agreements related to the license rights to
use certain Honeywell intellectual property and are recorded at estimated fair values. The estimated fair value of these
license agreements are based on a variation of the income valuation approach and are determined using the relief
from royalty method. The estimated fair value of the backlog and customer relationships are based on a
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variation of the income valuation approach known as the multi-period excess earnings method. Refer to Note 5,
“Intangible assets” for further details.

(c) Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the preliminary fair value of the net assets
acquired. The goodwill recognized is primarily attributable to the expected synergies from the September 2024
Honeywell Agreement. Goodwill resulting from the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement has been assigned to the
Company'’s one reporting unit.

Transition services agreement

Concurrent with the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement, the Company entered into a transition services agreement (the “2024
TSA”) with Honeywell, at no additional cost, to receive certain transitional services and technical support during the transition service
period. The Company accounted for the 2024 TSA separate from business combination and has recognized $140,000 in prepaid
expenses and other current assets within the consolidated balance sheets for the services to be received in the future from Honeywell.
The prepaid expense related to the 2024 TSA was determined using the with and without method.

Acquisition and related costs

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Company incurred acquisition costs of $ 244,543 which were expensed as incurred
and included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Unaudited actual and pro forma information

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents consolidated information of the Company, including the product lines, as if the
transaction had occurred on October 1, 2022:

Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023
Net sales $ 55,545,035 $ 52,287,873
Net income $ 5,416,305 $ 7,734,498

These pro forma results are for illustrative purposes and are not indicative of the actual results of operations that would have been
achieved, nor are they indicative of future results of operations. The unaudited pro forma information for all periods presented was
adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that are directly attributable to the transaction and are factually supportable. The adjustments
are based on information available to the Company at this time. Accordingly, the adjustments are subject to change, and the impact of
such changes may be material. The unaudited pro forma results do not include any incremental cost savings that may result from the
integration.

On June 30, 2023, the Company entered into the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement. The June 2023 Honeywell Agreement involves a
sale of certain inventory, equipment and customer-related documents; an assignment of certain customer contracts; and a grant of
exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its inertial, communication and navigation
product lines to repair, overhaul, manufacture sell, import, export and distribute certain products to the Company. The June 2023
Honeywell Agreement allows the Company to diversify its product offerings in the aerospace industry. The Company
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determined that the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement met the definition of a business under ASC 805; therefore, the Company
accounted for the transaction as a business combination and applied the acquisition method of accounting.

In connection with the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement, the Company entered into a term loan with PNC Bank, National Association
for $20.0 million to fund a portion of the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement. Refer to Note 20, “Loan Agreement” for further details. The
purchase consideration transferred at the acquisition date was $35.9 million, which was entirely cash.

In the third quarter of fiscal year 2024, the Company finalized its accounting of the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement. The following
purchase price allocation table presents the Company's estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the

acquisition date,

and subsequent measurement period adjustments recorded during the one-year period ended June 30, 2024:

Amounts Recognized as of

Acquisition Date Measurement Purchase Price
(as previously reported) Period Adjustments Allocation
Cash consideration $ 35,860,000 $ — $ 35,860,000
Total consideration $ 35,860,000 $ — $ 35,860,000
Prepaid inventory (@) $ 10,036,160 $ (3,012,626)) $ 7,023,534
Equipment 2,609,000 3,675,000 (@) 6,284,000
Construction in progress 1,238,000 — 1,238,000
Intangible assets (b) 20,900,000 (3,660,000)(d) 17,240,000
Goodwill (€) 4,608,041 (533,575)(d)e) 4,074,466
Assets acquired 39,391,201 (3,531,201) 35,860,000
Accrued expenses (3,5631,201) 3,531,201 (© —
Liabilities assumed (3,531,201) 3,531,201 —
Net assets acquired $ 35,860,000 $ — $ 35,860,000

(a) Prepaid inventory consists of primarily raw materials acquired by the Company but not in the Company’s physical
possession as of the acquisition date. The fair value of raw materials was estimated to equal the replacement cost.
The fair value of finished goods was determined based on the estimated selling price, net of selling costs and a margin
on the selling activities, which resulted in a step-up in the value of the finished goods.

(b) Intangible assets consist of license agreements related to the license rights to use certain Honeywell intellectual
property and customer relationships and are recorded at estimated fair values. The estimated fair value of the license
agreement is based on a variation of the income valuation approach and is determined using the relief from royalty
method. The estimated fair value of the customer relationships is based on a variation of the income valuation
approach known as the multi-period excess earnings method. Refer to Note 5, “Intangible assets” for further details.

(c) Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the preliminary fair value of the net assets
acquired. The goodwill recognized is primarily attributable to the expected synergies from the June 2023 Honeywell
Agreement. Goodwill resulting from the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement has been assigned to the Company’s one
reporting unit.

(d) In the third quarter of fiscal year 2024, the Company identified measurement period adjustments related to fair value

estimates. The measurement period adjustments were due to the refinement of inputs used to calculate the fair value
of the prepaid inventory, equipment, license agreement and customer relationships based on facts and circumstances
that existed as of the acquisition date. One of the refinements of inputs used was a change in classification of prepaid
inventory to equipment of $3.7 million. The adjustments resulted in an overall increase to goodwill of $3.0 million. As a
result of the measurement period adjustments to the estimated fair values of equipment and customer relationships,
during the third quarter of fiscal year 2024, the Company recognized $218,623 additional depreciation expense in Cost
of sales and $67,500 additional amortization expense in selling, general and administrative respectively, related to the
effects that would have been recognized in previous quarters if the measurement period adjustments were recognized
as of the acquisition date. For the remaining measurement period adjustments, the
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change to the preliminary fair value estimates did not have a material impact to the consolidated statement of
operations.

(e) During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2023, the Company identified measurement period adjustments related to the
fair value estimates for accrued expenses. While the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement indicated an amount of
liabilities related to open supplier purchase orders to be assumed by the Company as of the acquisition date, it was
determined that there were no actual liabilities outstanding related to these open supplier purchase orders as of the
acquisition date; therefore, the $3.5 million assumed liabilities preliminarily recorded were reversed. The adjustments
resulted in an overall decrease to goodwill of $3.5 million; the adjustments have no impact to the consolidated
statement of operations.

Transition services agreement

Concurrent with the June 2023 Honeywell Agreement, the Company entered into a transition services agreement (the “2023 TSA”) with
Honeywell, at no additional cost, to receive certain transitional services and technical support during the transition service period. The
Company accounted for the 2023 TSA separate from the business combination and has recognized $140,000 in prepaid expenses and
other current assets within the consolidated balance sheet as of the acquisition date for the services to be received in the future from
Honeywell. The prepaid expense related to the 2023 TSA was determined using the with and without method.

Acquisition and related costs

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Company incurred $ 589,000 of acquisition costs in connection with the June 2023
Honeywell Agreement. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the Company incurred acquisition costs of $408,961, which
were expensed as incurred and included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.
The debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan were not material.

Unaudited actual and pro forma information

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the Company recognized $ 5.8 million of revenues and $ 3.0 million of net income related
to the product lines in the consolidated statements of operations.

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents consolidated information of the Company, including the product lines, as if the
transaction had occurred on October 1, 2021:

Year Ended September 30,

2023 2022
Net sales $ 43,757,196 $ 49,218,764
Net income $ 8,542,330 $ 9,716,082

These pro forma results are for illustrative purposes and are not indicative of the actual results of operations that would have been
achieved, nor are they indicative of future results of operations. The unaudited pro forma information for all periods presented was
adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that are directly attributable to the transaction and are factually supportable. The adjustments
are based on information available to the Company at this time. Accordingly, the adjustments are subject to change, and the impact of
such changes may be material. The unaudited pro forma results do not include any incremental cost savings that may result from the
integration.

Other

On July 22, 2024, the Company completed the July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition of certain additional assets related to its
communication and navigation product lines, including a sale of certain inventory and customer-related documents; an assignment of
certain contracts; and a grant of exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to use certain Honeywell intellectual property related to its
communication and navigation product lines to manufacture, upgrade and repair certain additional products for consideration of $4.2
million in cash. The Company accounted for the transaction as an asset acquisition and allocated the cost of the acquisition, including
direct and incremental transaction costs, to the tangible and intangible assets based on their relative fair value as detailed under ASC
805 — Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). Definite lived assets were recorded to the relative fair value of $ 2,601,000 to property and
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equipment and $430,000 to customer relationships and backlog. Since license agreements are indefinite lived assets, they were
recorded at fair value in the amount of $1,240,000 in accordance with ASC 805.

5. Intangible assets

The Company'’s intangible assets other than goodwill are as follows:

As of September 30, 2024

Gross Carrying  Accumulated Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Impairment Amortization Value
License agreement (&) $ 9,140,000 $ — 3 — $ 9,140,000
Customer relationships @) 13,008,332 — (1,459,861) 11,548,471
Backlog (®) 6,310,000 — — 6,310,000
Licensing and certification rights (¢) 696,506 (44,400) (638,285) 13,821
Total $ 29,154,838 $ (44,400) $ (2,098,146) $ 27,012,292
As of September 30, 2023
Gross Carrying  Accumulated Accumulated Net Carrying
Value Impairment Amortization Value
License agreement (&) $ 5,700,000 $ — 3 — $ 5,700,000
Customer relationships @) 10,740,000 — (268,500) 10,471,500
Licensing and certification rights () 696,506 (44,400) (638,285) 13,821
Total $ 17,136,506 $ (44,400) $  (906,785) $ 16,185,321
(a) As part of the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement, the July 2024 Honeywell Asset Acquisition, and the June 2023
Honeywell Agreement transactions, the Company acquired intangible assets related to the license agreements for the
license rights to use certain Honeywell intellectual property, backlog and customer relationships. The license
agreements have an indefinite life and is not subject to amortization; the customer relationships have an estimated
weighted average life of ten years. The Company determined that the intangible assets were not impaired as of
September 30, 2024 and September 30, 2023, respectively. As such, no impairment charges have been recorded for
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.
(b) As part of the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement, the Company acquired intangible assets related to backlog with
a useful life between four to six years.
(c) The licensing, and certification rights are amortized over a defined number of units. An impairment charge of $44,400

was recorded during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023. No impairment charges were recorded during the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 or 2022.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, license agreement intangible assets included $ 3.5 million related to the July 2024
Honeywell Asset Acquisition and the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement as well as $0.1 million related to the June 2023 Honeywell
Agreement post acquisition adjustments.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, Customer relationships intangible assets included $ 1.4 million related to the July 2024
Honeywell Asset Acquisition and the September 2024 Honeywell Agreement as well as $0.9 million related to the June 2023 Honeywell
Agreement post acquisition adjustments.

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, Backlog intangible assets included $ 6.3 million related to the September 2024
Honeywell Agreement.

Intangible asset amortization expense was $1,191,361, $270,627 and $2,126 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively.
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The timing of future amortization expense is not determinable for the licensing and certification rights because they are amortized over
a defined number of units. As of fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the weighted average amortization period for amortized
intangibles is 5.8 years. The expected future amortization expense related to the customer relationships and backlog as of September
30, 2024 is as follows:

Year Amortization Expense
2025 $ 2,930,643
2026 2,930,643
2027 2,930,643
2028 2,930,643
2029 1,353,143
Thereafter 4,782,756
Total $ 17,858,471

6. Net Income Per Share

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022

Numerator:

Net income $ 6,998,380 $ 6,027,755 $ 5,523,778
Denominator:

Basic weighted average shares 17,459,823 17,411,684 17,256,750

Dilutive effect of share-based awards 20,424 7,501 1,121

Diluted weighted average shares 17,480,247 17,419,185 17,257,871
Net income per common share:

Basic $ 040 $ 035 $ 0.32

Diluted $ 040 $ 035 $ 0.32

Net income per share is calculated pursuant to ASC Topic 260, “ Earnings per Share” (“ASC Topic 260"). Basic earnings per share
(“EPS”) excludes potentially dilutive securities and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is computed assuming the conversion or exercise of all dilutive securities such as
employee stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”).

The number of incremental shares from the assumed exercise of stock options and RSUs is calculated by using the treasury stock
method. As of September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were 361,613, 224,374 and 57,584 options to purchase common stock
outstanding, respectively. As of September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, there were 242,080, 101,968 and 32,897 shares subject to
vesting of restricted stock units outstanding, respectively. The average outstanding diluted shares calculation excludes options with an
exercise price that exceeds the average market price of shares during the period. For fiscal years 2024 and 2023, 362,000 options and
203,000 options to purchase common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effect
would be anti-dilutive. For fiscal year 2022, 0 shares were excluded from the calculation of earnings per share as their effect would be
anti-dilutive.

7. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following:

September 30, September 30,
2024 2023
Prepaid insurance $ 54,197 $ 623,186
Honeywell TSA Agreement 140,000 56,000
Other 967,197 393,826
$ 1,161,394 $ 1,073,012
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8. Assets Held for Sale
The asset classified as held for sale, net consists of the following:

September 30,
2023
Corporate airplane 2,406,468
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (342,650)
$ 2063818

As of September 30, 2023, the Company classified $ 2.1 million of net property and equipment as “assets held for sale” on the
consolidated balance sheet. During the year ended September 30, 2023, management of the Company implemented a plan to sell a
Company-owned aircraft and commenced efforts to locate a buyer for the aircraft. On November 20, 2023 the Company-owned aircraft
was sold for $2.3 million and the Company recorded a gain on disposal of $ 160,577. As of September 30 2024, the Company had no
assets held for sale.

9. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consists of the following balances:

September 30, September 30,

2024 2023
Computer equipment $ 2,416,795 $ 2,343,996
Furniture and office equipment 984,205 970,230
Buildings and improvements 6,198,690 5,926,584
Equipment other 15,161,225 9,554,197
Land 1,021,245 1,021,245
25,782,160 19,816,252
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (12,409,862) (11,923,825)
$ 13,372,298 $ 7,892,427

Depreciation related to property and equipment was $ 906,581, $427,317 and $358,837 in fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, the Company sold its King Air aircraft and recorded a gain on the sale of
approximately $161 thousand. During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022, the Company sold its Pilatus PC-12 airplane and
recognized a gain on the sale of approximately $1.2 million.

Non-cash investing activities involving property, plant and equipment comprise the abandonment of fully depreciated assets with an
original cost and accumulated amortization of $420,544, $94,954 and $34,656 in fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Effective April 1, 2024, the Company changed its method of computing depreciation from accelerated methods to the straight-line
method for the Company’s property and equipment, except for the manufacturing facility which was already being depreciated using
the straight-line method. Based on ASC 250, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections”, the Company determined that the change in
depreciation method from an accelerated method to a straight-line method is a change in accounting estimate affected by a change in
accounting principle. Per the guidance, a change in accounting estimate affected by a change in accounting principle is to be applied
prospectively. The change is considered preferable because the straight-line method will more accurately reflect the pattern of usage
and the expected benefits of such assets and provide greater consistency with the depreciation methods used by other companies in
the Company’s industry. The net book value of assets acquired with useful lives remaining will be depreciated using the straight-line
method prospectively. As a result of the change to the straight-line method of depreciating the assets, accumulated depreciation and
depreciation expense decreased by $113,000 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024.
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10. Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following:

September 30, September 30,
2024 2023
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 2,100 $ 15,065
Other non-current assets 471,625 176,657
$ 473,725 $ 191,722

Other non-current assets as of fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 include a deposit for medical claims required under the
Company’s medical plan. Other non-current assets as of fiscal year ended September 30, 2023 include a security deposit for an
airplane hangar.

11. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

September 30, September 30,
2024 2023
Warranty $ 596,538 $ 562,645
Salary, benefits and payroll taxes 1,685,372 1,181,219
Professional fees 262,320 200,668
Operating lease 2,100 12,965
Income tax payable 1,194,185 —
Other 868,779 960,828
$ 4,609,294 $ 2,918,325

12. Warranty

The Company provides for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized. Warranty cost is recorded as
Cost of sales, and the reserve balance is recorded as an accrued expense in the financial statements. While the Company engages in
extensive product quality programs and processes, the Company’s warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates and by the
related material, labor and delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure. If actual product failure rates, material, or labor costs
differ from the Company’s estimates, further revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be recorded.

Warranty cost and accrual information for fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023
Warranty accrual as of October 1, $ 562,645 $ 607,001
Expense accrual for fiscal year 149,441 58,472
Warranty cost incurred for fiscal year (115,548) (102,828)
Warranty accrual as of September 30, $ 596,538 $ 562,645

13. Income Taxes

In August 2022, the U.S. government enacted the Inflation Reduction Act (the “IRA”). The IRA makes the following changes to the U.S
tax code: imposes a corporate alternative minimum tax of 15% on corporations with an average annual Adjusted Financial Statement
Income over a three year period in excess of $1 billion, increases the amount of R&D credit that qualified businesses can apply against
payroll taxes to $500,000 and imposes an excise tax equal to one percent of the fair market value of stock of a publicly traded U.S.
corporation that is repurchased by the company. These changes predominately apply to tax years beginning after December 31, 2022.
This legislation will not have a material impact on the Company’s tax position.
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The components of income taxes are as follows:

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022

Current provision (benefit):

Federal $ 2617951 $ 1,541,726 $ 522,473

State 371,701 56,288 277,991
Total current provision (benefit) 2,989,652 1,598,014 800,464
Deferred provision (benefit)

Federal (881,495) 28,994 998,585

State (254,977) (19,491) 18,782
Total deferred provision (benefit) (1,136,472) 9,503 1,017,367
Total current and deferred provision (benefit) $ 1853180 $ 1607517 $ 1,817,831

Following is a reconciliation of the statutory federal rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate:

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022

U.S. Federal statutory tax rate 21.0% 21.0% 21.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 1.1% 0.4 % 11.8%
Permanent items 0.1% — % 0.1%
Research and development tax credits (1.6)% (0.8)% 0.1)%
Valuation allowance 0.1)% (0.2)% (6.4)%
Change in unrecognized tax benefits 0.4 % 0.1% (1.5)%
123R cancellations and forfeitures 0.0 % 0.4 % 0.3 %
Other 0.0 % 0.1 % (0.5)%

Effective income tax rate 20.9 % 21.1 % 24.7 %

The deferred tax effect of temporary differences giving rise to the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities consists of the

components below:

As of September 30,

2024

2023

Non Current

Non Current

Deferred tax assets:

Reserves and accruals $ 1,233,261 $ 778,805
Research and development credit — —
NOL carryforwards -fed/state 971,825 980,755
Depreciation — —
Stock options 375,224 241,598
Amortization 1,302,165 520,445
3,882,475 2,521,603
Less: Valuation allowance (969,784) (977,747)
Total deferred tax assets 2,912,691 1,543,856
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (1,287,547) (1,087,653)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,287,547) (1,087,653)
Net deferred tax asset $ 1,625,144 $ 456,203

At September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had state NOL carryforwards of approximately $ 19.2 million and $19.5 million,
respectively, which begin to expire in varying amounts after the fiscal year ending September 30, 2026. The Company does not have

federal R&D Tax Credit carryforwards in fiscal year 2024 and 2023.
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Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation allowances if, based on the consideration of all available evidence, it is more likely than
not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Significant weight is given to evidence that can be verified
objectively, and significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax
assets. The Company evaluates deferred income taxes on a quarterly basis to determine if valuation allowances are required by
considering available evidence, including historical and projected taxable income and tax planning strategies which are both prudent
and feasible. ASC Topic 740 requires the consideration of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax
assets. Significant management judgment is required in determining any valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax assets.
As a result of positive evidence that the Company'’s deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized in future years, the
Company reduced its valuation allowance of deferred tax assets by $7,963, $4,069 and $467,388 for fiscal years ended September 30,
2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively reducing the Company’s provision for income taxes in each fiscal year. The Company will continue
to assess all available evidence during future periods to evaluate any changes to the realization of its deferred tax assets. If the
Company were to determine that it would be able to realize additional state deferred tax assets in the future, it would make an
adjustment to the valuation allowance which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

Following is a reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits:

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023
Balance at beginning of year $ 460,000 $ 452,000
Unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years 8,000 —
Unrecognized tax benefits related to current year 28,000 8,000
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits due to the lapse of applicable statute of
limitations (12,000) —
Balance at end of year $ 484,000 $ 460,000

It is anticipated that the balance of unrecognized tax benefits at September 30, 2024 will change significantly over the next twelve
months as the majority of the positions will have statue lapses in September 30, 2025 and 2026. The balance of unrecognized tax
benefits are recorded within the valuation allowance in the table above at fiscal years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

The Company'’s policy is to recognize interest accrued and, if applicable, penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax
expense for all periods presented. At September 30, 2024, the Company currently has no unrecognized tax benefits against which
interest has been accrued, and there is no accrual recorded for penalties.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not recognize any expense for interest (net of federal
impact) within income tax expense.

The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal and various state jurisdictions. Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are
subject to the interpretation of related tax laws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply. The Company'’s federal income
tax returns for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2021 and thereafter are open years subject to examination by the Internal

Revenue Service.The Company files income tax returns in various state jurisdictions, as appropriate, with varying statutes of limitation.
There are no state income tax examinations in process at this time.

14. Savings Plan

The Company sponsors a voluntary defined contribution savings plan covering all employees. The Company made contributions of
approximately $344,000, $242,000 and $126,000 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

15. Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based compensation under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 by using the fair value method for
expensing stock options and stock awards.

Total share-based compensation expense was approximately $ 1,003,292, $1,336,000, and $345,000 for the fiscal years ended

September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Compensation expense related to share-based awards is recorded as a component
of Cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses.
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2019 Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan

The 2019 Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2019 Plan”) was approved by the Company’s shareholders at the
Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 2, 2019. The 2019 Plan authorizes the grant of stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, options and other equity-based awards. Options granted under the 2019 Plan may be either “incentive stock options”
as defined in section 422 of the Code or nonqualified stock options, as determined by the Compensation Committee.

Subject to an adjustment necessary upon a stock dividend, recapitalization, forward split or reverse split, reorganization, merger,
consolidation, spin-off, combination, repurchase or share exchange, extraordinary or unusual cash distribution, or similar corporate
transaction or event, the maximum number of shares of common stock available for awards under the 2019 Plan is 750,000, plus
139,691 shares of common stock that were authorized but unissued under the 2009 Plan as of the effective date of the 2019 Plan (i.e.,
April 2, 2019), all of which may be issued pursuant to awards of incentive stock options.

If any award is forfeited, terminates or otherwise is settled for any reason without an actual distribution of shares to the participant, the
related shares of common stock subject to such award will again be available for future grant. Any shares tendered by a participant in
payment of the exercise price of an option or the tax liability with respect to an award (including, in any case, shares withheld from any
such award) will not be available for future grant under the 2019 Plan. If there is any change in the Company’s corporate capitalization,
the Compensation Committee must proportionately and equitably adjust the number and kind of shares of common stock which may be
issued in connection with future awards, the number and kind of shares of common stock covered by awards then outstanding under
the 2019 Plan, the aggregate number and kind of shares of common stock available under the 2019 Plan, any applicable individual
limits on the number of shares of common stock available for awards under the 2019 Plan, the exercise or grant price of any award, or
if deemed appropriate, make provision for a cash payment with respect to any outstanding award. In addition, the Compensation
Committee may make adjustments in the terms and conditions of any awards, including any performance goals, in recognition of
unusual or nonrecurring events affecting the Company or any subsidiary, or in response to changes in applicable laws, regulations, or
accounting principles.

Following is a summary of option activity under the 2019 Plan for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, and changes during the
periods then ended:

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Exercise Intrinsic
Options Price Value
Outstanding at September 30, 2022 57,584 % 710 $ 88,104
Granted 224,374 8.19 —
Exercised (57,584) 7.10 28,792
Cancelled — — —
Outstanding at September 30, 2023 224,374 % 819 $ —
Granted 161,613 7.70 —
Exercised — — —
Cancelled (24,374) 8.21 —
Outstanding at September 30, 2024 361,613 $ 797 $ —
Options exercisable at September 30, 2024 225,000 $ 8.18 $ =
The following table summarizes information about stock options under the 2019 Plan at September 30, 2024:
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Outstanding Weighted-
As of Average Weighted- As of Weighted-
Range of Exercise September 30, Remaining Average September 30, Average
Prices 2024 Contractual Life Exercise Price 2024 Exercise Price
$7.06 - $8.19 361,613 8.8 $ 7.97 225,000 $ 8.18

Fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Options are exercisable
over a maximum term of ten years from date of grant and vest typically over periods of three to five years from the grant date. The
expected term of options represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding and is based on historical
experience and the expected turnover rate of the employees receiving the options. Expected volatility is based on historical volatility
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of the Company’s stock. The risk free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasuries with maturities consistent with the expected life of the
options in effect at the time of grant. Compensation expense for employee stock options includes an estimate for forfeitures and is
recognized ratably over the vesting term.

Below are the fair value assumptions used to record stock option compensation expense, related to the 2019 Plan, for the following
periods identified:

Fiscal Year Ended September 30,

2024 2023 2022
Expected dividend rate — — —
Expected volatility 52.5 % 55.1 % — %
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 4.3 % 3.7% — %
Expected lives (years) 6.0 5.3 —

The Company granted 161,613, 224,374 and 0 options in fiscal years ended 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Total compensation expense associated with stock option awards to employees under the 2019 Plan was approximately $ 301,000,
$756,000 and $167,000 for fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

At September 30, 2024, unrecognized compensation expense of $ 495,797, net of forfeitures, related to non-vested stock options under
the 2019 Plan, will be recognized.

Restricted Stock Units

During fiscal year 2024, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved grants of RSUs to the non-employee directors on the
Board as compensation for their services from the beginning of calendar year 2024 to vest on the date of the Company’s 2024 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders. After the 2024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the Board approved grants of RSUs to the non-employee
directors on the Board as compensation for their services. Under the terms of the awards, the RSUs will vest on the first anniversary of
the grant date. At the time of vesting, the RSUs will be settled in shares of the Company’s common stock at a rate of one share of stock
for each unit, provided that, if a director resigns from the Board prior to the vesting date, such director shall only receive a pro rata
portion of such award for time served.

During fiscal year 2024, the Board approved grants of RSUs to both the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the former
Chief Financial Officer. Certain RSUs to the Chief Executive Officer vested immediately, and the remainder will vest quarterly over a
three-year period. The approved grants of the RSUs to the Chief Financial Officer will vest over a four-year period. The approved
grants of the RSUs to the former Chief Financial Officer would have vested over a four-year period. On November 8, 2023, Michael
Linacre, Chief Financial Officer of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc., notified the Company of his resignation from all of his
positions with the Company, effective immediately, which resulted in the forfeiture of 11,503 RSUs.

As of September 30, 2024, there were 242,080 restricted stock units outstanding under the 2019 Plan. As of September 30, 2023, and
September 30, 2022 there were 101,968 and 32,897 respectively, unvested restricted stock units outstanding under the 2019 Plan.

Non-vested Weighted Average
Stock Awards Share Price

Balance at September 30, 2022 32,897 $ 6.51
Granted 133,554 8.00
Issued (64,483) 7.51
Cancelled — —
Balance at September 30, 2023 101,968 $ 7.84
Granted 207,226 7.34
Issued (55,611) 7.63
Cancelled (11,503) 7.33
Balance at September 30, 2024 242,080 $ 7.49

Total share-based compensation expense associated with the annual grant of restricted stock awards under the 2019 Plan was
approximately $702,000, $694,000 and $173,000 for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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At September 30, 2024, unrecognized compensation expense of $ 1,384,896, net of forfeitures, related to non-vested stock awards
under the 2019 Plan, will be recognized.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

Purchase Obligations

A “purchase obligation” is defined as an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding on the
Company and that specifies all significant terms, including fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased, fixed, minimum or variable
price provisions, and the approximate timing of the transaction. These amounts primarily comprise open purchase order commitments
entered in the ordinary course of business with vendors and subcontractors pertaining to fulfillment of the Company’s current order
backlog. The purchase obligations on open purchase orders were $9.8 million, $2.4 million and $2.6 million as of September 30, 2024,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

Product Liability

The Company has product liability insurance of $50,000,000. The Company has not experienced any material product liability claims.
Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is at times subject to various legal proceedings and claims. The Company does not
believe any such matters that are currently pending will, individually or in the aggregate, have a material effect on the results of
operations or financial position.

17. Related Party Transactions

In recent years, the Company has had sales to AML Global Eclipse, LLC, (“Eclipse”), whose principal shareholder is also a principal
shareholder in the Company. Eclipse became a new related party for fiscal year 2023 due to their president acquiring more than 10% in

shares on the company. Prior balances are disclosed below for comparability.

Sales to Eclipse amounted to $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.6 million for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

A company in which Parizad Olver (Parchi), a former member of the Board of Directors, is the managing partner and has an ownership
interest, received a consulting fee of $72,990 in November 2023 for services provided in connection with the sale of the Company’s
2008 Super King Air B200GT SN BY-50.

18. Business Segments

The Company operates in one business segment as a systems integrator that designs, develops, manufactures, sells and services, air
data equipment, engine display systems, standby equipment, primary flight guidance, autothrottles and cockpit display systems to
OEMSs, the DoD, the Department of Interior, other government agencies, commercial air transport carriers and corporate/general
aviation markets.

Geographic Data

Most of the Company'’s sales, operating results and identifiable assets are generated in the United States. In fiscal years 2024, 2023
and 2022, net sales outside the United States amounted to $22.8 million, $15.5 million and $11.1 million, respectively.

19. Lease Recognition

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASU 2016-02 and records “right-of-use” assets and corresponding lease

liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases with an initial term of greater than one year. We recognize payments for leases with a
term of less than one year in the statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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We lease real estate and equipment under various operating leases. A lease exists when a contract or part of a contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. In determining whether a lease exists,
we consider whether a contract provides us with both: (a) the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of
the identified asset and (b) the right to direct the use of the identified asset.

Some of our leases include base rental periods coupled with options to renew or terminate the lease, generally at our discretion. In
evaluating the lease term, we consider whether we are reasonably certain to exercise such options. To the extent a significant
economic incentive exists to exercise an option, that option is included within the lease term. However, based on the nature of our
lease arrangements, options generally do not provide us with a significant economic incentive and are therefore excluded from the
lease term for the majority of our arrangements.

Our leases typically include a combination of fixed and variable payments. Fixed payments are generally included when measuring the
right-of-use asset and lease liability. Variable payments, which primarily represent payments based on usage of the underlying asset,
are generally excluded from such measurement and expensed as incurred. In addition, certain of our lease arrangements may contain
a lease coupled with an arrangement to provide other services, such as maintenance, or may require us to make other payments on
behalf of the lessor related to the leased asset, such as payments for taxes or insurance. As permitted by ASU 2016-02, we have
elected to account for these non-lease components together with the associated lease component if included in the lease payments.
This election has been made for each of our asset classes.

The measurement of “right-of-use” assets and lease liabilities requires us to estimate appropriate discount rates. To the extent the rate
implicit in the lease is readily determinable, such rate is utilized. However, based on information available at lease commencement for
our leases, the rate implicit in the lease is not known. In these instances, we utilize an incremental borrowing rate, which represents the
rate of interest that we would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term.

Related assets and liabilities resulting from lease obligations are deemed to be immaterial.

20. Loan Agreement

On June 28, 2023, the Company and one of its subsidiaries entered into an Amendment to Loan Documents (the “Loan Amendment”)
with PNC Bank, National Association (the “PNC"), which amends certain terms of that certain Loan Agreement entered into by the
parties on May 11, 2023 (the “Loan Agreement” and, as amended, the “Amended Loan Agreement”) and (ii) a corresponding Term
Note in favor of PNC (the “Term Note”), which together provide for a senior secured term loan in an aggregate principal amount of
$20.0 million, with a maturity date of June 28, 2028. Availability of funds under the Term Loan was conditioned upon the closing of the
transactions contemplated by the Amended Loan Agreement and was used to fund a portion of the 2023 Transaction. Under the
agreement, the Company has the right to prepay any amounts outstanding at any time and from time to time, whole or in part; subject
to payment of any break funding indemnification amounts.

The interest rate applicable to loans outstanding under the Term Loan is a floating interest rate equal to the sum of (A) the Term SOFR
Rate (as defined in the Term Note) plus (B) an unadjusted spread of the Applicable SOFR Margin plus (C) a SOFR adjustment of ten
basis points. The Applicable SOFR Margin ranges from 1.5% to 2.5% depending on the Company’s funded debt to EBITDA ratio.
Commencing on June 30, 2023, the Term Loan consists of sixty equal monthly principal installments, over a period of ten years, with
the balance payable on the maturity date of the Term Loan.

In addition to providing for the Term Loan, the Loan Agreement, together with a corresponding Revolving Line of Credit Note in favor of
PNC, executed May 11, 2023, provided for a senior secured revolving line of credit in an aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000,
with an expiration date of May 11, 2028 (the “Revolving Line of Credit”).

On December 19, 2023, the Company and PNC entered into an Amendment to the Loan (the “Restated Loan Amendment”) and a
corresponding Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit Note (“Restated Line of Credit Note”) and Amended and Restated Line
of Credit and Investment Sweep Rider (the “Restated Rider”), to increase the aggregate principal amount available under the
Company'’s senior secured revolving line of credit from $10,000,000 to $30,000,000 and extend the maturity date until December 19,
2028.

On September 30, 2024, the Company and one of its subsidiaries, Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC (“ISSL,” entered into an

Amendment to Loan Documents (the “Loan 2024 Amendment”) with PNC, which amends certain terms of the Loan Agreement to
increase the line of credit with PNC. Concurrently with the Loan 2024 Amendment, the Company entered into (i) an Amended and
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Restated Revolving Line of Credit in favor of PNC (the “A&R Revolving Line of Credit”), and (i) an Amended and Restated Line of
Credit and Investment Sweep Rider with PNC (the “A&R Rider”).

The A&R Revolving Line of Credit Note provides for a senior secured revolving line of credit in an aggregate principal amount of
$35,000,000, with an expiration date of December 19, 2028. The interest rate applicable to loans outstanding under the A&R Revolving
Line of Credit is a rate per annum equal to the sum of (A) Daily SOFR (as defined in the A&R Revolving Line of Credit Note) plus (B) an
unadjusted spread of the Applicable SOFR Margin plus (C) a SOFR adjustment of ten basis points. The applicable SOFR Margin
ranges from 1.5% to 2.5% depending on the Company’s funded debt to EBITDA ratio as defined in the A&R Revolving Line of Credit
Note. The A&R Rider provides for how PNC will make advances to the Company under the AR Revolving Line of Credit.

The Company was in compliance with all applicable covenants throughout and at September 30, 2024. As of fiscal year ended
September 30, 2024, The outstanding balance drawn on the A&R Revolving Line of Credit was $28,027,002 with an effective interest
rate of 6.4 percent. As of September 30, 2024, the Company had availability of $ 6,972,998 under the A&R Revolving Line of Credit.

21. Subsequent Events

None

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) We carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
such term is defined under Rule 13a 15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act of 1934. Based on that evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these controls and procedures were effective as of September 30,
2024 to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the
SEC and accumulated and communicated to our management including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

(b) Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting is set forth below on this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(c) There were no changes in the Company'’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation of
such controls that occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The
Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s principal executive
officer and principal financial officer and intended to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that are intended to (1) pertain to maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of Company assets that could have a material effect on financial statements.

Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements and, even when
determined to be effective, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
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presentation. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to risk that controls may become inadequate as
a result of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2024. This
assessment was based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in “Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (2013),” issued by the Committee on Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment,
management believes that, as of September 30, 2024, internal control over financial reporting was effective to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
None.
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

This information (other than information relating to executive officers included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K) will
be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed within 120 days after
the close of the Company'’s fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and is hereby incorporated by reference to such
Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics, known as the Company’s code of conduct, which applies to
all of its directors, officers, and employees, including its chief executive officer, its president, and its chief financial officer. The
Company’s code of conduct is available on its website, www.innovative-ss.com (under the “Investor Relations —Corporate
Governance” tab). The code of conduct may also be obtained by contacting investor relations at (610) 646 9800. Any amendments to
the Company’s code of conduct or waivers from provisions of the code for its directors and officers will be disclosed on the Company’s
website promptly following the date of such amendment or waiver.

We also have a disclosure and insider trading policy which governs the purchase, sale and/or other dispositions of our securities by our
directors, executive officers and employees that we believe is reasonably designed to promote compliance with insider trading laws,
rules and regulations, and the exchange listing standards applicable to us. A copy of our disclosure and insider trading policy is filed as
Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

This information will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed
within 120 days after close of the Company'’s fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and is hereby incorporated by
reference to such Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

This information will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed

within 120 days after close of the Company'’s fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby incorporated by
reference to such Proxy Statement.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

Related Party Transactions

This information will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed
within 120 days after close of the Company'’s fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and is hereby incorporated by
reference to such Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

This information will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement relating to its Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be filed

within 120 days after close of the Company'’s fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and is hereby incorporated by
reference to such Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
(@) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Financial Statements
See index to Financial Statements at Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the information required to be set
forth therein is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

2.1 Asset Purchase and License Agreement, dated June 30, 2023, by and between IS&S and Honeywell International Inc. (1)

2.2 Amendment No. 1, dated October 12, 2023, to Asset Purchase and License Agreement by and between Innovative
Solutions and Support, Inc. and Honeywell International Inc., dated June 30, 2023 (2

2.3 Amendment No. 2, dated March 23, 2024, to Asset Purchase and License Agreement by and between Innovative
Solutions and Support, Inc. and Honeywell International Inc., dated June 30, 2023 (2

2.4 Amendment No. 3, dated July 22, 2024, to Asset Purchase and License Agreement by and between Innovative Solutions
and Support, Inc. and Honeywell International Inc., dated June 30, 2023 (2

25 Asset Purchase and License Agreement, dated September 27, 2024, by and between Innovative Solutions and Support
Inc., and Honeywell International Inc. (3

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of IS&S. (4)

3.2 Articles of Amendment, filed April 17, 2023, to the Atrticles of Incorporation of IS&S (5)

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of IS&S (6)

4.1 Description of Capital Stock

4.2 Rights Agreement, dated September 12, 2022, between IS&S and Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. (7)

4.3 Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated September 1, 2023, between IS&S and Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions
Inc. (8)

4.4 Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated September 9, 2024, between IS&S and Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions
Inc. (9)

10.1 Employment Agreement, dated February 14, 2012, between IS&S and Shahram Askarpour (10)

10.2 First Amendment to Employment Agreement between 1S&S and Shahram Askarpour dated September 6, 2024 (11)

10.3 IS&S Amended and Restated 2019 Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan (2)

104 Offer Letter with Jeffrey DiGiovanni, dated March 18, 2024 (12)

10.5 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, dated June 19, 2024, by and between Jeffrey DiGiovanni and Innovative
Solutions and Support, Inc. (2)

10.6 Change in Control Agreement, June 20, 2024, by and between Jeffrey DiGiovanni and Innovative Solutions and Support,
Inc. (2)

10.7 Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement dated November 20, 2024. (13)

10.8 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (14)

10.9 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (14)

10.10 Amendment to Loan Documents, dated June 28, 2023, by and among Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc.. Innovative
Solutions and Support, LLC, and PNC Bank, National Association (1)

10.11 Term Note, executed June 28, 2023, by Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. and Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC
@

10.12 Revolving Line of Credit Note, executed May 11, 2023, by Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. and Innovative Solutions
and Support, LLC (1)

10.13 Amendment to Loan Documents, dated December 19, 2023, by and among Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc.
Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, and PNC Bank, National Association (17)

10.14 Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit, dated December 19, 2023, executed by Innovative Solutions and

Support, Inc. and Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC (17)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923079122/tm2320694d1_ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000155837024012215/issc-20240630xex2d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000155837024012215/issc-20240630xex2d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000155837024012215/issc-20240630xex2d4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924105936/tm2425517d1_ex2-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465907069927/a07-24132_1ex3d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923046322/tm2312632d1_ex3-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465918028858/a18-12529_1ex3d1.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex4d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465922099272/tm2225633d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923097744/tm2325393d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924098281/tm2423627d1_ex4-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465912023265/a12-8573_1ex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924099324/tm2423912d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000155837024012215/issc-20240630xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924037253/tm249362d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924073485/tm2417689d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924073485/tm2417689d1_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924122176/tm2429367d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000155837024008148/issc-20240331xex10d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000155837024008148/issc-20240331xex10d4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923079122/tm2320694d1_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923079122/tm2320694d1_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923079122/tm2320694d1_ex10-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923128891/tm2333602d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923128891/tm2333602d1_ex10-2.htm
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Amended and Restated Line of Credit and Investment Sweep Rider, dated December 19, 2023, by and among Innovative
Solutions and Support, Inc., Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, and PNC Bank, National Association (17
Amendment to Loan Documents, dated September 30, 2024, by and among Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc.,
Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, and PNC Bank, National Association (3

Amended and Restated Revolving Line of Credit Note, dated September 30, 2024, by and among Innovative Solutions
and Support, Inc., Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, and PNC Bank, National Association (3

Amended and Restated Line of Credit and Investment Sweep Rider, dated September 30, 2024, by and among Innovative
Solutions and Support, Inc., Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, and PNC Bank, National Association (3

Sales Agreement, dated September 22, 2023, by and between Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. and Stifel, Nicolaus
& Company, Incorporated (18

Insider Trading Policy

Subsidiaries of IS&S.

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)

Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Clawback Policy (filed herewith)

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document contained
in Exhibit 101

*Schedules and exhibits have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company will furnish supplementally a
copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

(1) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 7, 2023.

(2) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 14, 2024.

(3) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 03, 2024.

(4) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 19, 2007.

(5) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 18, 2023.

(6) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 1, 2018.

(7) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 12, 2022.

(8) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 1, 2023.

(9) Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 10, 2024.

(10)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 2, 2012.

(11)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 12, 2024.

(12)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024.

(13)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 22, 2024.

(14)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Quarterly Rerport on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 14, 2024.

(15)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on January 28, 2019.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924105936/tm2425517d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924105936/tm2425517d1_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465924105936/tm2425517d1_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/836690/000110465923103243/tm2326706d2_ex1-1.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex19d1.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex21.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex23d1.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex31d1.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex31d2.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex32d1.htm
file:///tmp/T3954/issc-20240930xex97.htm
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(16)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 14, 2023.
(17)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2023.
(18)Incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 22, 2023.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

By: /s/ Shahram Askarpour

Shahram Askarpour
Director & Chief Executive Officer

Dated: December 30, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Shahram Askarpour

Shahram Askarpour

/s/ Jeffrey DiGiovanni

Jeffrey DiGiovanni

/sl Glen R. Bressner

Glen R. Bressner

/s/ Stephen L. Belland

Stephen L. Belland

/sl Roger A. Carolin

Roger A. Carolin

/s/ Garry Dean

Garry Dean

Director & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Director & Chairman of the Board

Director

Director

Director
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Exhibit 4.1
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following summary description of the capital stock of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. (the “ Company”) is not meant to be a
complete description of each security. The description is qualified by reference to the Company’s Amended and Restated Atrticles of
Incorporation (the “Charter”) and Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “ Bylaws"), each of which is incorporated by reference as an
exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit is a part. For additional information, please read the Company’s Charter
and Bylaws and the applicable provisions of the Pennsylvania Business Corporation Law (the “PBCL").

General

The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of (1) 75,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $.001 par value and
(2) 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, $.001 par value, of which 200,000 shares are authorized as Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock. As of January 8, 2024, there were 17,453,733 issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock and no issued or outstanding
shares of Preferred Stock. However, the Company has issued rights to purchase shares of its Preferred Stock in connection with its
Rights Agreement (as defined below), which rights are described below in this exhibit under the caption "Securities Issuable Pursuant
to 2022 Rights Agreement.”
Voting

The Company does not have any other classes of voting stock outstanding other Common Stock. Each share of Common
Stock is entitled to one vote, and there are no cumulative voting rights when voting for directors.

Conversion Rights

Holders of the Company’s Common Stock do not have conversion rights. Shares of the Company’s Preferred Stock can be
converted, at the option of the holder, into fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock pursuant to and in accordance with
Art. IV, 8 B(4) of the Company’s Charter.
Preemptive and Redemption Rights

Shareholders do not have (1) preemptive rights to purchase additional shares of the Company’s capital stock or (2) redemption

of rights, in each case, except as may be expressly set forth in a separate agreement between the Company and one or more holders
of Preferred Stock or as provided for in the Rights Agreement.

Dividends

The declaration and payment of any dividends is within the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “ Board”).
Liquidation and Dissolution

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Company’s Common Stock are
entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities, subject to prior distribution rights of Preferred Stock, if any,
then outstanding.
Listing

The Company’s Common Stock is listed on The Nasdaqg Global Select Market under the symbol “ISSC”.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc.




Securities Issuable Pursuant to 2022 Rights Agreement

On September 27, 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company distributed a dividend of one preferred share
purchase right (a “Right”) for each share of Common Stock outstanding to the stockholders of record on that date. In
connection with the distribution of the Rights, the Company entered into a Rights Agreement (the “Rights Agreement”), dated
September 12, 2022, with Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc., as Rights Agent. Each Right entitles the registered
holder to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value
$0.001 per share (the “Series B Preferred Shares”), of the Company at a price of $41.57 per one one-thousandth of a Series B
Preferred Share represented by a Right, subject to adjustment. The Rights are in all respects subject to and governed by the
provisions of the Rights Agreement. For the complete terms of the Rights Agreement, as amended, please refer to the copies
of the same which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which the exhibit is a part.
On August 30, 2023, the Company entered into an amendment to the Rights Agreement to extend the Final Expiration Date, as
defined in the Rights Agreement, to the close of business on September 10, 2024.

Anti-Takeover Provisions of the Company’s Charter and Bylaws and Pennsylvania Law

Some sections of the Company’s Charter and Bylaws and provisions of Pennsylvania law may discourage certain transactions
involving a change in control of the Company. For example, the PBCL permits the Board to consider the interests of constituencies
other than the shareholders when deciding what will be in the best interests of the Company. In addition, under the Company’s
Charter, the Board has the power to alter, amend, and repeal the Company’s Bylaws without shareholder approval, except as to any
subjects that are expressly committed to the shareholders by the terms of the Company’s Bylaws, by Section 1504 of the PBCL or
otherwise.

Certain other provisions of the Company’s Charter and Bylaws could have the effect of preventing or delaying a change in
control of the Company, including (1) the advance notification procedures governing certain shareholder nominations of candidates for
the Board and for certain other shareholder business to be conducted at an annual meeting, (2) the absence of authority for
shareholders to call special shareholders meetings, except as may be required by law, and (3) the absence of authority for shareholder
action by written consent, except as may be required by law.

The Company’s Charter permits the Board to, without shareholder approval, establish and issue classes of Preferred Stock
with voting, conversion or other rights that could dilute the voting power or rights of the holders of the Company’s Common Stock. The
issuance of Preferred Stock, while potentially providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes,
could, among other things, have the effect of preventing or delaying a change in control of the Company and may adversely affect the
market price of the Company’s Common Stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of the Company’s Common Stock.




Exhibit 19.1

INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS AND SUPPORT, INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED
INSIDER TRADING POLICY

ADOPTED: November 12, 2020
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l. SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY POLICY CONCERNING INSIDER TRADING

This Statement of the Company Policy Concerning Insider Trading (this “Statement”) covers a
fundamental principle which each employee and director must follow: It is the Company’s policy that it will
without exception comply with the securities laws of the United States. Each employee and each director is
expected to abide by this policy. When carrying out Company business, employees and directors must avoid
any activity that violates applicable state and federal securities laws or regulations.

The foregoing principle is described in more detail below. A description of certain applicable
securities laws and related policies is set forth in Sections Il and Il of this Statement. This Statement does not
describe every securities law or regulation which will affect the Company and its business, but attempts to
familiarize employees and directors with the securities laws which they must pay particular attention to in an
effort to assure the Company’s compliance. Of course, employees and directors are expected to comply with
all applicable laws.

In meeting the standards set out in this Statement, it is essential that each employee and
director conduct the Company’s business with honesty and integrity. Each employee and each director
contributes to the Company’s overall reputation. Therefore, each employee and each director must accept
individual responsibility for ensuring that these standards are implemented. The consequences associated
with violating the securities laws or this Statement are detailed below in Section IL.A.

This Statement is dated as of November ___, 2020 and supersedes any previous policy of the
Company concerning insider trading, including the Insider Trading Policy adopted on February 21, 2008.

Il. THE USE OF INSIDE INFORMATION IN CONNECTION WITH TRADING IN
SECURITIES

A. General Rule.

The U.S. securities laws regulate the sale and purchase of securities in the interest of protecting
the investing public. U.S. securities laws give the Company, its officers and directors, and other employees
the responsibility to ensure that information about the Company is not used unlawfully in the purchase and
sale of securities.

All employees and directors should pay particularly close attention to the laws against trading on
“inside” information. These laws are based upon the belief that all persons trading in a company’s securities
should have equal access to all “material” information about that company. For example, if an employee or a
director of a company knows material nonpublic financial information, that employee or director is prohibited
from buying or selling stock in the company until the information has been disclosed to the public. This is
because the employee or director knows information that will probably cause the stock price to change, and it
would be unfair for the employee or director to have an advantage (knowledge that the stock price will
change) that the rest of the investing public does not have. In fact, it is more than




unfair. It is considered to be fraudulent and illegal. Civil and criminal penalties for this kind of activity are
severe.

The general rule can be stated as follows: It is a violation of the federal securities laws for any
person to buy or sell securities if he or she is in possession of material inside information. Information is
material if it could affect a person’s decision whether to buy, sell or hold the securities. It isnside information if
it has not been publicly disclosed. Furthermore, it is illegal for any person in possession of material inside
information to provide other people with such information (either directly or through anonymous posting over
the internet), or to recommend that they buy or sell the securities. (This is called “tipping”.) In that case, they
may both be held liable. While it is not possible to identify all information that would be deemed “material,” the
following types of information ordinarily would be considered material:

Financial performance, especially quarterly and year-end results of operations, and significant changes in
financial performance, conditions or liquidity.

Company projections and strategic

plans.

Potential mergers and acquisitions or the sale of Company assets or

subsidiaries.

New major contracts, collaborations, orders, suppliers, customers, or finance sources, or the loss
thereof.

Significant changes or developments in products or product

lines.

Significant changes or developments in supplies or inventory, including significant product defects, recalls
or product returns.

Significant pricing

changes.

Stock splits, public or private securities/debt offerings, or changes in Company dividend policies or
amounts.

Significant changes in senior

management.

Significant labor disputes or

negotiations.

Actual or threatened major litigation, or the resolution of such

litigation.

The rule applies to any and all transactions in the Company'’s securities, including its common
stock and options and warrants to purchase common stock (other than the exercise of employee stock
options or warrants, but including the sale of shares acquired upon the exercise of employee stock options or
warrants), and any other type of securities that the Company may issue, such as notes, preferred stock,
convertible debentures, warrants and exchange-traded options or other derivative securities.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the stock exchanges and plaintiffs’
lawyers focus on uncovering insider trading. A breach of the insider trading laws could expose the insider to
criminal fines up to $5,000,000 and imprisonment of up to twenty years, in addition to civil penalties (up to
three times the profit gained or loss avoided), and injunctive actions. In addition, punitive damages may be
imposed under applicable state laws. Securities laws also subject controlling persons to civil penalties for
illegal insider trading by employees, including employees located outside the United States. Controlling
persons may include directors, officers, and supervisors. These persons may be subject to fines up to the
greater of $1,000,000 or three times the profit realized or loss avoided by the insider trader. Inside information
does not belong to the individual directors, officers or other employees who




may handle it or otherwise become knowledgeable about it. It is an asset of the Company. For any person to
use such information for personal benefit or to disclose it to others outside the Company violates the
Company’s interests. More particularly, in connection with trading in the Company securities, it is a fraud
against members of the investing public and against the Company. However, trading may be permitted while
in possession of, but not on the basis of, material inside information, pursuant to a validly created and
approved 10b5-1 Plan (described at Section II.H.6 below) adopted in compliance with Rule 10b5-1 (“Rule
10b5-1") of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and this Statement.

Failure to comply with this Statement may also subject employees to company-imposed
disciplinary action up to and including dismissal for cause, whether or not the failure to comply with this
Statement results in a violation of law.

B. Who Does the Policy Apply To?

The prohibition against trading on inside information applies to directors, officers and all other
employees, and to other people who gain access to that information. In addition to the general prohibition
against trading on inside information, the Company directors, officers and all other employees and related
parties (the “Window Group” as defined below) are also subject to certain restrictions on trading in the
Company securities, as detailed in Section H.5 below. Directors and certain employees with inside knowledge
of material information may also be subject to ad hoc restrictions on trading from time to time.

Additionally, the Company has designated those persons listed onExhibit A attached hereto
(“Section 16 Individuals”) as the directors and officers who are subject to the reporting provisions and trading
restrictions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act. Except for those trades made pursuant to a validly created and
approved 10b5-1 Plan, Section 16 Individuals must obtain prior approval of all trades in Company securities
from the Compliance Officer in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section J below. The Company
will amend Exhibit A from time to time as necessary to reflect the addition, resignation or departure of Section
16 Individuals.

The Window Group consists of (i) the persons listed onExhibit A attached hereto, (ii) all other
employees of the Company, and (iii) such other persons as may be designated from time to time and
informed of such status by the Company’s Compliance Officer. All references to members of the Window
Group or “related parties” of a person in this Statement apply also to such persons’ spouses, members of their
immediate families sharing the same household and any trust, partnership or other entity the investments of
which any of the foregoing have direct or indirect power to control.

C. Other Companies’ Stocks.

The same rules against insider trading, and the requirement to clear trades with the Compliance
Officer, apply to other companies’ stocks. Employees, directors and related parties who learn material
information about suppliers, customers, or competitors through their work at the Company should keep it
confidential and not buy or sell stock in such companies




until the information becomes public. Employees, directors and related parties should not give tips about such
stocks.

D. Post-Termination Transactions

This Statement continues to apply to transactions in Company securities made by employees
who have terminated employment with the Company. Former employees in possession of material nonpublic
information may not trade in Company securities until that information has become public or is no longer
material.

E. Margin Accounts and Pledging Company Securities.

Securities held in a margin account may be sold by the broker without the customer’s consent if
the customer fails to meet a margin call. Likewise, securities pledged to a bank or financial institution may be
sold without the customer’s consent if the customer fails to repay the obligation secured by the pledge.
Because such sales may occur at a time when an employee or a director had material inside information or is
otherwise not permitted to trade in Company securities, the Company prohibits employees, directors and
related parties from purchasing Company securities on margin, holding Company securities in a margin
account or pledging Company securities.

F. Publicly Traded Options

A transaction in options is, in effect, a bet on the short-term movement of the Company’s stock
and therefore creates the appearance that the employee, director or related party is trading based on inside
information. Transactions in options may also focus the employee, director or related party’s attention on
short-term performance at the expense of the Company’s long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in
puts, calls or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by
this Statement. (Option positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by Section
G below.)

G. Hedging Transactions

Certain forms of hedging or monetization transactions, such as zero-cost collars and forward
sale contracts, allow an employee to lock in much of the value of his or her stock holdings, often in exchange
for all or part of the potential for upside appreciation in the stock. These transactions allow the employee,
director or related party to continue to own the covered securities, but without the full risks and rewards of
ownership. When that occurs, the employee, director or related party may no longer have the same objectives
as the Company’s other shareholders. Therefore the Company prohibits employees, directors and related
parties from engaging in such transactions absent prior approval from the Compliance Officer. Any person
wishing to enter into such an arrangement must first pre-clear the proposed transaction with the Compliance
Officer. Any request for pre-clearance of a hedging or similar arrangement must be submitted to the
Compliance Officer at least two weeks prior to the proposed execution of documents evidencing the proposed
transaction and must set forth a justification for the proposed transaction. The Compliance Officer can reject
any request for pre-clearance in his or her sole discretion.




H. Guidelines.

The following guidelines should be followed in order to ensure compliance with applicable
antifraud laws and with the Company’s policies:

1. Nondisclosure. Material inside information must not be disclosed to anyone, except to
persons within the Company whose positions require them to know it. Care should be taken so that material,
nonpublic information is kept secure. No one may “tip” or disclose material nonpublic information concerning
the Company to any outside person (including, but not limited to family members, analysts, individual
investors, and members of the investment community and news media), unless required as part of that
person’s regular duties for the Company and authorized by the Compliance Officer and/or the Board of
Directors. In any instance in which such information is disclosed to outsiders, the Company will take such
steps as are necessary to preserve the confidentiality of the information, including requiring the outsider to
agree in writing to comply with the terms of this policy and/or to sign a confidentiality agreement. All inquiries
from outsiders regarding material nonpublic information about the Company must be forwarded to the
Compliance Officer.

No one may give trading advice of any kind about the Company to anyone while possessing
material nonpublic information about the Company, except to advise others not to trade if doing so might
violate the law or this policy. The Company strongly discourages all directors, officers and related parties from
giving trading advice concerning the Company to third parties even when the director or officer does not
possess material nonpublic information about the Company.

2. Trading in the Company’s Securities. No employee, director or related party should place
a purchase or sale order, or recommend that another person place a purchase or sale order in the Company’s
securities, when he or she has knowledge of material, non-public information concerning the Company. This
includes orders for purchases and sales of stock and convertible securities, such as options, puts and calls.
The exercise of employee and non-employee director stock options and warrants is not subject to this policy,
whether the exercise price is paid in cash, or, pursuant to a contractual right, by either the surrender of
securities by the holder of the option or warrant or the withholding by the Company of a portion of the
underlying securities. However, stock that was acquired upon exercise of a stock option or warrant will be
treated like any other stock, and may not be sold by an employee, director or related party who is in
possession of material inside information. Employees, directors or related parties who possess material inside
information should wait until after the close of the second trading day after the information has been publicly
released before trading. In addition, the Company prohibits directors, employees and related parties from
effecting “short sales” of the Company’s equity securities (see “Prohibition of Short Sales,” below). Directors
and executive officers of the Company are also prohibited by Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring the Company’s equity securities during any
blackout period under any individual account plan maintained by the Company, including the Company’s
401(k) plan. However, trading may be permitted while in possession of, but not on the basis of, material inside
information, pursuant to a validly created and approved 10b5-1 Plan adopted in compliance with Rule 10b5-1
and this Statement.




3. Avoid Speculation. Investing in the Company’s Common Stock provides an opportunity to
share in the future growth of the Company. But investment in the Company and sharing in the growth of the
Company does not mean short range speculation based on fluctuations in the market. Such activities put the
personal gain of the employee or director in conflict with the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. Although this policy does not mean that employees or directors may never sell shares, the
Company encourages employees, directors and related parties to avoid frequent trading in Company stock.
Speculating in Company stock is not part of the Company culture.

4, Trading in Other Securities. No employee, director or related party should place a
purchase or sale order, or recommend that another person place a purchase or sale order, in the securities of
another corporation, if the employee or director learns in the course of his or her employment confidential
information about the other corporation that is likely to affect the value of those securities. For example, it
would be a violation of the securities laws if an employee or director learned through Company sources that
the Company intended to purchase assets from a company, and then bought or sold stock in that other
company because of the likely increase or decrease in the value of its securities.

5. Restrictions on the Window Group. Except for trades made pursuant to a validly created
and approved 10b5-1 Plan, the Window Group is subject to the following additional restrictions on trading in
Company securities:

trading is permitted from the close of the second trading day following an earnings release with respect to
the preceding fiscal period until the close of trading on the fourteenth calendar day before the end of the
third month of the current fiscal quarter (each, a “Window”), subject to the restrictions below;

all trades are subject to prior

review;

clearance for all trades must be obtained from the Company’s Compliance

Officer;

no trading in Company securities even during a Window while in the possession of material inside
information. Persons possessing such information may trade during a Window only after the close of
trading on the second trading day following the Company’s widespread public release of such material
inside information;

no trading in Company securities outside of a Window or during any special blackout periods that the
Compliance Officer may designate. No one may disclose to any other party that a special blackout period
has been designated; and

the Compliance Officer may, on a case-by-case basis, authorize trading in Company securities outside of
a Window (but not during special blackout periods) due to financial hardship or other hardships.

6. Trading pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan. Rule 10b5-1 provides an affirmative defense from
insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5 for transactions made pursuant to a previously established contract,
plan or instruction (a “10b5-1 Plan”). A valid 10b5-1 Plan presents an opportunity for insiders to establish
arrangements to sell Company stock without regard to a Window or when the insider has material inside
information. In order to be a valid 10b5-1 Plan, the arrangement must satisfy the requirements of Rule 10b5-1,
including documenting a previously established (at a time when the insider did not possess material inside
information), bona fide plan that specifies the price, amount and date of trades, or provides a




formula or mechanism to determine such information. The Company requires 10b5-1 Plans and any
amendments thereto to be approved in advance by the Compliance Officer, and for members of the Window
Group, a 10b5-1 Plan and any amendments thereto may be adopted and approved only during a Window.
Prior to such approval, the person establishing or amending such 10b5-1 Plan must certify to the Compliance
Officer that (i) he or she is not in possession of material nonpublic information concerning the Company, and
(i) he or she has received and read this Statement and had the opportunity to ask the Compliance Officer
questions regarding this Statement. The Compliance Officer may exercise his or her absolute discretion in
approving or disapproving a 10b5-1 Plan or any amendments thereto. Even with a validly created and
approved 10b5-1 Plan, however, an insider is subject to the liability that may arise under Section 16 and must
comply with Rule 144.

7. Trading within the 401(k) Plan. In the event that the Company has a Company stock
account in its 401(K) plan, the following provisions will be applicable. Most transactions under the 401(k) Plan
(the “Plan”) are not subject to the Section 16(b) short-swing profits rule (described at Section IIl.E. below) or
the Section 16(a) reporting requirements (described at Section I1l.G below). An example of an exempt, non-
reportable transaction would be a contribution to the Plan, such as, any employee pre-tax or after-tax
contributions and any Company match or profit sharing contributions, even if the participant for whose benefit
the contributions are made has the right to direct that some or all of the contributions will be invested in the
Plan’s Company stock fund. Similarly, cash distributions from the Plan’s Company stock fund to a participant
by reason of the participant’s retirement or other termination of employment would be an exempt, non-
reportable transaction.

In contrast, discretionary transactions by a participant in the Plan who is a Section 16 Individual
are subject to the Section 16(a) reporting requirements. Discretionary transactions include (1) a participant’'s
election to transfer part or all of the participant’s Plan balance into (or out of) the Company stock fund (after
such monies are originally contributed to the Plan and invested, when contributed, in the Company stock
fund) and (2) any voluntary request by a participant for a cash withdrawal from the Company’s stock fund on
an occasion other than the participant’s retirement or other termination of employment (e.g., a hardship
withdrawal request).

Discretionary transactions by a Plan participant who is a Section 16 Individual will be exempt
from the Section 16(b) short-swing profits rule only if the participant’s election to effect the transaction (e.g.,
the election to move out of the Company stock fund or the request for a hardship withdrawal) occurs at least
six months after the participant’s most recent discretionary “opposite-way” purchase or sale election under the
Plan. The election by a Plan participant who is a Section 16 Individual to effect a discretionary transaction
under the Plan less than six months before or after an opposite-way discretionary transaction under the Plan
will be subject to Section 16(b). For instance, if a participant elected to move some of his Plan account
balance into the Company stock fund in October after he had elected to move some of his Plan account out of
the Company stock fund in August, the transaction would be subject to the Section 16(b) short-swing profits
rule as well as to the Section 16(a) reporting requirements. Plan participants who are Section 16 Individuals
are urged to consult with the Company’s Compliance Officer prior to engaging in any Plan transaction that
would be treated as a discretionary transaction.




The general prohibition against trading based on inside information (described at Section 11.H.2.
above) is equally applicable to Plan transactions. Therefore, discretionary transactions, including changes by
a participant in the amount invested in the Company stock fund, while the participant is in possession of
material inside information are prohibited. Additionally, Window Group members are prohibited from making
changes in Plan designations outside of a Window or during any other blackout period, even if the participant
is not in possession of material inside information. Plan participants who are Window Group members are
urged to consult with the Company’s Compliance Officer prior to making any changes in Plan designations
outside of a Window.

I Insider Trading Compliance Officer.

The Company has designated Relland M. Winand as its insider trading Compliance Officer (the
“Compliance Officer”). The Compliance Officer will review and either approve or prohibit all proposed trades
by Section 16 Individuals and Window Group members in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section
J below.

In addition to the trading approval duties described in Section J below, the duties of the
Compliance Officer will include the following:

1. Administering this policy and monitoring and enforcing compliance with all policy
provisions and procedures.

2. Responding to all inquiries relating to this policy and its procedures.

3. Designating and announcing special trading blackout periods during which no Window
Group members may trade in Company securities, except for those trades made pursuant to a validly created
and approved 10b5-1 Plan.

4. Providing copies of this policy and other appropriate materials to all current and new
directors, officers and employees, and such other persons who the Compliance Officer determines have
access to material nonpublic information concerning the Company.

5. Administering, monitoring and enforcing compliance with all federal and state insider
trading laws and regulations, including without limitation Sections 10(b), 16, 20A and 21A of the Exchange
Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”); and assisting in the preparation and filing of all required SEC reports relating
to insider trading in Company securities, including without limitation Forms 3, 4, 5 and 144 and Schedules
13D and 13G.

6. Revising the policy as necessary to reflect changes in federal or state insider trading laws
and regulations.

7. Maintaining as Company records originals or copies of all documents required by the
provisions of this policy or the procedures set forth herein, and copies of all required SEC reports relating to
insider trading, including without limitation Forms 3, 4, 5 and 144 and Schedules 13D and 13G.




8. Maintaining the accuracy of the list of Section 16 Individuals as attached onExhibit A by
updating it periodically as necessary to reflect additions to or deletions from the list.

9. Reviewing and approving 10b5-1 Plans and any amendments thereto that are established
by insiders.

The Compliance Officer may designate one or more individuals, which may include outside
counsel, who may perform the Compliance Officer’s duties.

J. Procedures for Approving Trades by Section 16 Individuals, Window Group Members and
Hardship Cases.

1. Section 16 Individual/Window Group Trades. Except for trades made pursuant to a validly
created and approved 10b5-1 Plan, no Section 16 Individual or Window Group member may trade in
Company securities until

Q) the person trading has notified the Compliance Officer in writing of the
amount and nature of the proposed trade(s),

(2 the person trading has certified to the Compliance Officer that (i) he or she
is not in possession of material nonpublic information concerning the Company, and (ii) he or she has
received and read this Statement and had the opportunity to ask the Compliance Officer questions regarding
this Statement, and

3 the Compliance Officer has approved the trade(s), and has certified the
approval in writing. Written approval can be by mail, facsimile transmission or email.

2. Hardship Trades. The Compliance Officer may, on a case-by-case basis, authorize
trading in Company securities outside of a Window due to financial hardship or other hardships only after

Q) the person trading has notified the Compliance Officer in writing of the
circumstances of the hardship and the amount and nature of the proposed trade(s),

(2) in addition to any applicable requirements set forth in Section J.1. above,
the person trading has certified to the Compliance Officer in writing no earlier than two business days prior to
the proposed trades(s) that he or she is not in possession of material nonpublic information concerning the
Company, and

3) the Compliance Officer has approved the trade(s) and has certified the
approval in writing.

3. No Obligation to Approve Trades. The existence of the foregoing approval procedures
does not in any way obligate the Compliance Officer to approve any trades requested by Section 16
Individuals, Window Group members or hardship applicants. The Compliance Officer may reject any trading
requests at his/her sole discretion.




4, Trades pursuant to a 10b5-1 Plan. The Compliance Officer must review and approve an
insider's 10b5-1 Plan. Once the Plan has received all necessary approvals and has become effective, trades
made pursuant to the Plan do not need the Compliance Officer's approval before taking place. The
Compliance Officer does, however, need notice of trades made pursuant to the Plan to ensure compliance
with Section 16 and Rule 144.

5. Underwritten Offerings. The prohibitions on trading outside of a Window and procedures
for approving trades of Section 16 Individuals and Window Group members are not applicable to sales
pursuant to an underwritten offering registered with the SEC.

Il OTHER LIMITATIONS ON SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

A. Public Resales — Rule 144.

The Securities Act requires every person who offers or sells a security to register such
transaction with the SEC unless an exemption from registration is available. Rule 144 under the Securities Act
is the exemption typically relied upon (i) for public resales by any person of “restricted securities” (i.e.,
securities acquired in a private offering) and (ii) for public resales by officers, directors and other control
persons of a company (known as “affiliates”) of any of the Company’s securities, whether restricted or
unrestricted.

Rule 144 contains five conditions, although the applicability of some of these conditions will
depend on the circumstances of the sale. The following conditions (other than the current public information
condition) do not have to be complied with by holders of restricted securities who have held (and fully paid for
in cash) their restricted shares for at least six months and who were not affiliates during the three months
preceding the sale under the rule:

Q) Current Public Information. Current information about the Company must be
publicly available at the time of sale. The Company’s periodic reports filed with the SEC ordinarily satisfy this
requirement.

(2) Holding Period. Restricted securities must be held and fully paid for by the
seller for a period of six months prior to the sale. The holding period requirement, however, does not apply to
securities held by affiliates that were acquired either in the open market or in a public offering of securities
registered under the Securities Act. If the seller acquired the securities from someone other than the
Company or an affiliate of the Company, the holding period of the person from whom the seller acquired such
securities can be “tacked” to the seller’s holding period.

3) Volume Limitations. The amount of equity securities which can be sold
during any three month period cannot exceed the greater of (i) one percent of the outstanding shares of the
class or (ii) the average weekly reported trading volume for shares of the class on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of the notice of sale referred to below.

4) Manner of Sale. Equity securities must be sold in unsolicited brokers’
transactions, riskless principal transactions or directly to a market-maker.
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(5) Notice of Sale. The seller must file a notice of the proposed sale with the
SEC at the time the order to sell is placed with the broker, unless the amount to be sold neither exceeds
5,000 shares nor involves sale proceeds greater than $50,000. See “Filing Requirements.”

Bona fide gifts are not deemed to involve sales of stock for purposes of Rule 144, so they can
be made at any time without limitation on the amount of the gift. Donors who receive restricted securities from
an affiliate generally will be subject to the same restrictions under Rule 144 that would have applied to the
donor for a period of up to one year following the gift, depending on the circumstances.

B. Private Resales.

Directors and officers also may sell securities in a private transaction without registration.
Although there is no statutory provision or SEC rule expressly dealing with private sales, the general view is
that such sales can safely be made by affiliates if the party acquiring the securities understands he is
acquiring restricted securities that must be held for at least one year before the securities will be eligible for
resale to the public under Rule 144. Private resales raise certain documentation and other issues and must be
reviewed in advance by the Company’s Compliance Officer.

C. Underwriter Lock-Up Agreements.

Some holders of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to any future
underwritten public offering of the Company may be asked to agree not to offer, sell, contract to sell or
otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or
exchangeable for Common Stock for an agreed upon period of time from the date of the public offering
without the prior written consent of the underwriters of the offering. The terms of any such lock-up agreements
vary, and anyone who signs a lock-up agreement will be responsible for complying with its terms.

D. Restrictions on Purchases of Company Securities.

In order to prevent market manipulation, the SEC has adopted Regulation M and Rule 10b-18
under the Exchange Act. Regulation M generally prohibits the Company or any of its affiliates from buying
Company stock in the open market during certain periods while a public offering is taking place. Rule 10b-18
sets forth guidelines for purchases of Company stock by the Company or its affiliates while a stock buyback
program is occurring. While the guidelines are optional, compliance with them provides immunity from a stock
manipulation charge. You should consult with the Company’s Compliance Officer if you desire to make
purchases of Company stock during any period that the Company is making a public offering or buying stock
from the public.

E. Disgorgement of Profits on Short-Swing Transactions — Section 16(b).

Section 16 of the Exchange Act applies to directors and officers of the Company and to any
person owning more than ten percent of any registered class of the Company’s equity securities. The section
is intended to deter such persons (collectively referred to below as

11




“insiders”) from misusing confidential information about their companies for personal trading gain. Section
16(a) requires insiders to publicly disclose any changes in their beneficial ownership of the Company’s equity
securities (see “Filing Requirements,” below). Section 16(b) requires insiders to disgorge to the Company any
“profit” resulting from “short-swing” trades, as discussed more fully below. Section 16(c) effectively prohibits
insiders from engaging in short sales (see “Prohibition of Short Sales,” below).

Under Section 16(b), any profit realized by an insider on a “short-swing” transaction (e., a
purchase and sale, or sale and purchase, of the Company’s equity securities within a period of less than six
months) must be disgorged to the Company upon demand by the Company or a shareholder acting on its
behalf. By law, the Company cannot waive or release any claim it may have under Section 16(b), or enter into
an enforceable agreement to provide indemnification for amounts recovered under the section.

Liability under Section 16(b) is imposed in a mechanical fashion without regard to whether the
insider intended to violate the section. Good faith, therefore, is not a defense. All that is necessary for a
successful claim is to show that the insider realized “profits” on a short-swing transaction; however, profit, for
this purpose, is calculated as the difference between the sale price and the purchase price in the matching
transactions, and may be unrelated to the actual gain on the shares sold. When computing recoverable profits
on multiple purchases and sales within a six month period, the courts maximize the recovery by matching the
lowest purchase price with the highest sale price, the next lowest purchase price with the next highest sale
price, and so on. The use of this method makes it possible for an insider to sustain a net loss on a series of
transactions while having recoverable profits. The terms “purchase” and “sale” are construed under Section
16(b) to cover a broad range of transactions, including acquisitions and dispositions in tender offers and
certain corporate reorganizations. Moreover, purchases and sales by an insider may be matched with
transactions by any person (such as certain family members) whose securities are deemed to be beneficially
owned by the insider.

The Section 16 rules are complicated and present ample opportunity for inadvertent error. To
avoid unnecessary costs and potential embarrassment for insiders and the Company, officers and directors
are strongly urged to consult with the Company’s Compliance Officer prior to engaging in any transaction or
other transfer of Company equity securities regarding the potential applicability of Section 16(b).

F. Prohibition of Short Sales.

Under Section 16(c), insiders are prohibited from effecting “short sales” of the Company’s equity
securities. A “short sale” is one involving securities which the seller does not own at the time of sale, or, if
owned, are not delivered within 20 days after the sale or deposited in the mail or other usual channels of
transportation within five days after the sale. No Section 16 Individuals should engage in any short sales of
the Company’s equity securities. Wholly apart from Section 16(c), the Company prohibits directors, employees
and related parties from selling the Company’s stock short. This type of activity is inherently speculative in
nature and it will arouse suspicion in the eyes of the SEC that the person was trading on the basis of inside
information, particularly when the trading occurs before a major Company announcement or event.
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G. Filing Requirements.

1. Forms 3, 4 and 5. Under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, insiders must file with the
SEC and the New York Stock Exchange public reports disclosing their holdings of and transactions involving
the Company’s equity securities. Copies of these reports must also be submitted to the Company. An initial
report on Form 3 must be filed by every insider within 10 days after election or appointment disclosing all
equity securities of the Company beneficially owned by the reporting person on the date he became an
insider. Even if no securities were owned on that date, the insider must file a report. Any subsequent change
in the nature or amount of beneficial ownership by the insider (including changes due to sales under 10b5-1
plans) must be reported on Form 4 and filed before the end of the second business day following the day on
which the transaction causing such change is executed, as such date of execution is determined by Rule 16a-
3 under the Exchange Act. Certain exempt transactions may be reported on Form 5 within 45 days after the
end of the fiscal year. The fact that no securities were owned after the transactions were completed does not
provide a basis for failing to report. All changes in the amount or the form (i.e., direct or indirect) of beneficial
ownership (not just purchases and sales) must be reported. Thus, such transactions as gifts and stock
dividends ordinarily are reportable. Moreover, an officer or director who has ceased to be an officer or director
must report any transactions after termination which occurred within six months of a transaction that occurred
while the person was an insider. The Compliance Officer will retain on file copies of each of Forms 3, 4 and 5,
respectively.

The reports under Section 16(a) are intended to cover all securities beneficially owned either
directly by the insider or indirectly through others. An insider is considered the direct owner of all Company
equity securities held in his or her own name or held jointly with others. An insider is considered the indirect
owner of any securities from which he obtains benefits substantially equivalent to those of ownership. Thus,
equity securities of the Company beneficially owned through partnerships, corporations, trusts, estates, and
by family members generally are subject to reporting. Absent countervailing facts, an insider is presumed to
be the beneficial owner of securities held by his or her spouse and other family members sharing the same
home. But an insider is free to disclaim beneficial ownership of these or any other securities being reported if
the insider believes there is a reasonable basis for doing so.

It is important that reports under Section 16(a) be prepared properly and filed on a timely basis.
The reports must be received at the SEC by the filing deadline. There is no provision for an extension of the
filing deadlines, and the SEC can take enforcement action against insiders who do not comply fully with the
filing requirements. In addition, the Company is required to disclose in its annual proxy statement the names
of insiders who failed to file Section 16(a) reports properly during the fiscal year, along with the particulars of
such instances of noncompliance. Accordingly, the Company strongly urges all directors and officers to notify
the Company’s Compliance Officer prior to any transactions or changes in their or their family members’
beneficial ownership involving Company stock, and to avail themselves of the assistance available from
Dechert LLP, the Company’s outside counsel, or their own counsel in satisfying the reporting requirements.

2. Schedule 13D and 13G. Sections 13(d) and 13(g) of the Exchange Act require the filing
of a statement on Schedule 13D or 13G by any person or group which acquires
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beneficial ownership of more than five percent of a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange
Act. The threshold for reporting is met if the stock owned, when coupled with the amount of stock subject to
options exercisable within 60 days, exceeds the five percent limit.

Reports on Schedule 13D and 13G are required to be filed with the SEC and submitted to the
Company within ten days after the reporting threshold is reached. If a material change occurs in the facts set
forth in the Schedule 13D or 13G, such as an increase or decrease of one percent or more in the percentage
of stock beneficially owned, an amendment disclosing the change must be filed promptly.

A person is deemed the beneficial owner of securities for purposes of Section 13(d) if such
person has or shares voting power (i.e., the power to vote or direct the voting of the securities) or dispositive
power (i.e., the power to sell or direct the sale of the securities). As is true under Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act, a person filing a Schedule 13D or 13G may disclaim beneficial ownership of any securities
attributed to him or her if he or she believes there is a reasonable basis for doing so. The Compliance Officer
will retain on file copies of each of Schedule 13D and Schedule 13G, respectively.

3. Form 144. As described above under the discussion of Rule 144, a seller relying on Rule
144 must file a notice of proposed sale with the SEC at the time the order to sell is placed with the broker
unless (x) the amount to be sold neither exceeds 5,000 shares nor involves sale proceeds greater than
$50,000 or (y) the seller is not at the time of the sale, and has not been for the three months preceding such
date, an affiliate of the Company. The Compliance Officer will retain on file copies of the form of notice of
proposed sale under Rule 144,
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EXHIBIT A

Individuals subject to reporting provisions and trading restrictions of Section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Directors

Shahram Askarpour
Stephen L. Belland
Glen R. Bressner
Roger A. Carolin
Garry Dean

Officers

Shahram Askarpour
Jeffrey DiGiovanni




SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Innovative Solutions and Support, LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company
IS&S Delaware, Inc., a Delaware corporation

IS&S Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

IS&S Aviation, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Exhibit 21




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We have issued our report dated December 30, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements included in the Annual
Report of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2024. We consent to the
incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statements of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. on Form S-3 (File No.
333-267595) and Forms S-8 (File No. 333-163712 and File No. 333-235689).
/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
December 30, 2024




Exhibit 31.1

I, Shahram Askarpour, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions);

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

December 30, 2024

/s/ Shahram Askarpour

Shahram Askarpour
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

1, Jeffrey DiGiovanni, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions);

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

December 30, 2024

/sl Jeffrey DiGiovanni

Jeffrey DiGiovanni
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Innovative Solutions and Support, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending
September 30, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned
officers of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of
the Company.

/s/ Shahram Askarpour

Shahram Askarpour

Director & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
December 30, 2024

/sl Jeffrey DiGiovanni

Jeffrey DiGiovanni

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
December 30, 2024




Exhibit 97
Innovative Solutions & Support, Inc.
Policy Regarding the Mandatory Recovery of Compensation
Effective November 7, 2023

Applicability. This Policy Regarding the Mandatory Recovery of Compensation (the
“Policy”) applies to any Incentive Compensation paid to the Executive Officers of
Innovative Solutions & Support, Inc. (the “Company”). The Policy is intended to comply
with and be interpreted in accordance with the requirements of Listing Rule 5608
(“Listing Rule 5608") of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (‘Nasdaq”). The provisions of
Listing Rule 5608 shall prevail in the event of any conflict between the text of this Policy
and such listing rule. Certain capitalized terms are defined in Section IV hereof.

Recovery.
a. Triggering Event.

Except as provided herein and subject to Section ll(b) below, in the event that
the Company is required to prepare a Financial Restatement, the Company
shall recover any Recoverable Amount of any Incentive Compensation
received by a current or former Executive Officer during the Look-Back
Period. The Recoverable Amount shall be repaid to the Company within a
reasonably prompt time after the current or former Executive Officer is notified
in writing of the Recoverable Amount as set forth in Section 1I(c) below,
accompanied by a reasonably detailed computation thereof. For the sake of
clarity, the recovery rule in this Section ll(a) shall apply regardless of any
misconduct, fault, or illegal activity of the Company, any Executive Officer, the
Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) or any committee thereof.

b. Compensation Subject to Recovery.

i. Incentive Compensation subject to mandatory recovery under Section li(a)
includes any Incentive Compensation received by an Executive Officer:

a. After beginning service as an Executive Officer;

b. Who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the
performance period for that Incentive Compensation;

c. While the Company has a class of securities listed on a national
securities exchange or a national securities association; and

d. During the Look-Back Period.

ii. As used in this Section ll(b), Incentive Compensation is deemed “received”
in the fiscal period that the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the
applicable Incentive Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or
grant of the Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of that period. This
Section II(b) will only apply to Incentive Compensation received in any fiscal
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period ending on or after the effective date ofListing Rule 5608.

c. Recoupment.

The Compensation Committee of the Board (the ‘Compensation
Committee”) shall determine, at its sole discretion, the method for
recouping Incentive Compensation, which may include (A) requiring
reimbursement of Incentive Compensation previously paid; (B) seeking
recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale,
transfer, or other disposition of any equity-based awards; (C) deducting the
amount to be recouped from any compensation otherwise owed by the
Company to the Executive Officer; and/or (D) taking any other remedial and
recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Compensation
Committee.

d. Recoverable Amount.

The Recoverable Amount is equal to the amount of Incentive Compensation
received in excess of the amount of Incentive Compensation that would
have been received had it been determined based on the restated amounts
in the Financial Restatement, without regard to taxes paid by the Company
or the Executive Officer.

In the event the Incentive Compensation is based on a measurement that is
not subject to mathematical recalculation, the Recoverable Amount shall be
based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Financial Restatement,
as determined by the Compensation Committee, which shall be set forth in
writing. For example, in the case of Incentive Compensation based on stock
price or total shareholder return, the Recoverable Amount shall be based on
a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Financial Restatement on the
stock price or total shareholder return.

e. Exceptions to Applicability.

The Company must recover the Recoverable Amount of Incentive Compensation
as stated above in Section li(a), unless the Compensation Committee, or in the
absence of such committee, a majority of the independent directors serving on
the Board makes a determination that recovery would be impracticable, and at
least one of the following applies:

The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing recovery would
exceed the Recoverable Amount, and a reasonable attempt to recover the
Recoverable Amount has already been made and documented;

Recovery of the Recoverable Amount would violate home country law
(provided such law was adopted prior to November 28, 2022 and that an
opinion of counsel in such country is obtained stating that recoupment would
result in such violation); or




ii. Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan,
under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13)
or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

Ill. Miscellaneous.

a. The Board or Compensation Committee may require that any incentive plan,
employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement entered into
on or after the date hereof shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder,
require an Executive Officer to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy, including
the repayment of the Recoverable Amount of erroneously awarded Incentive
Compensation.

b. The Company shall not indemnify any Executive Officer or other individual against
the loss of any incorrectly awarded or otherwise recouped Incentive Compensation.

c. The Company shall comply with applicable compensation recovery policy disclosure
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”).

IV. Definitions.

a. Incentive Compensation. “Incentive Compensation’ means any compensation that
is granted, earned, or vests based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a
Financial Reporting Measure, but does not include awards that are earned or vest
based solely on the continued provision of services for a period of time.

b. Financial Reporting Measure. “Financial Reporting Measure’ means any reporting
measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the accounting
principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures
that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total
shareholder return are considered to be Financial Reporting Measures for purposes
of this Policy. A financial reporting measure need not be presented within the
financial statements or included in a filing with the Commission.

c. Financial Restatement. A “Financial Restatement’ means any accounting
restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial
reporting requirement under applicable securities laws, including any required
accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements
that (i) is material to the previously issued financial statements (commonly referred to
as a “Big R” restatement), or (ii) is not material to previously issued financial
statements, but would result in a material misstatement if the error were left
uncorrected in the current period or the error correction were recognized in the
current period (commonly referred to as a “little r” restatement). For purposes of this
Policy, the date of a Financial Restatement will be deemed to be the earlier of (i) the
date the Board, a committee of the Board, or officers authorized to take such action if
Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that
the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement, and (ii) the date a
court, regulator, or other legally




authorized body directs the Company to prepare an accounting restatement.

. Executive Officer. “Executive Officer’ shall mean the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, President, Chief Financial Officer, or principal accounting officer (or, if there
is no such accounting officer, the Controller), any vice-president of the Company in
charge of a principal business unit, division or function (such as sales, administration
or finance), and any other officer or person who performs a significant policy-making
function for the Company, whether such person is employed by the Company or a
subsidiary thereof For the sake of clarity, "Executive Officer” includes at a minimum
executive officers identified by the Board pursuant to 17 CFR 229.401(b).

. Look-Back Period. The “Look-Back Period” means the three completed fiscal years
immediately preceding the date of a Financial Restatement and any transition period
as set forth in Listing Rule 5608.




